Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

David Francis Pinelli

Date

Immunomodulation in Transplantation: Promoting Tolerance and Preserving Protective Immunity

By

David Francis Pinelli

Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

Mandy L. Ford, Ph.D. Advisor Koichi Araki, Ph.D. Committee Member

Brian D. Evavold, Ph.D. Committee Member Jacob E. Kohlmeier, Ph.D. Committee Member

Edward S. Mocarski, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Immunomodulation in Transplantation: Promoting Tolerance and Preserving Protective Immunity

By

David Francis Pinelli

B.A., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 2007

B.S., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 2009

Advisor: Mandy L. Ford, Ph.D.

An abstract of

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science

Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

2016

Abstract

Immunomodulation in Transplantation: Promoting Tolerance and Preserving Protective Immunity

By: David Francis Pinelli

Transplantation is a widely accepted treatment for many end-stage organ diseases. However, current post-transplant immunomodulatory regimens are extremely toxic and nonspecific, which limits long-term graft survival and leaves patients susceptible to opportunistic infections. Costimulation blockade (CoB) with monoclonal antibodies is a novel treatment modality aimed at preventing the activation and proliferation of alloreactive T lymphocytes. While CoB better targets graft-reactive immune responses and offers a reduced toxicity profile compared to current standard of care drugs, several barriers remain that limit the widespread adoption of CoB in transplantation. Our studies aimed to refine the balancing act of immunomodulation following transplantation, in order to promote the tolerance of a foreign organ while simultaneously maintaining protective, pathogen-specific immune responses and limiting off-target side effects.

Patients receiving belatacept, a novel CTLA4-Ig fusion protein that blocks CD28mediated costimulation, often experience lymphoproliferative complications following primary infection with Epstein-Barr Virus. Rapamycin, an anti-fungal macrolide used for decades in transplantation to inhibit graft-specific T cell proliferation, has recently been shown to paradoxically enhance CD8⁺ T cell responses to pathogen infection. We utilized a clinicallyrelevant murine model to demonstrate that rapamycin was able to enhance the quantity and quality of CD8⁺ T cell responses to gammaherpesvirus infection in the presence of CTLA4-Ig. This augmented immune response reduced viral burden in infected animals, suggesting that this treatment may be able to improve patient outcomes and limit infectious complications.

We also investigated the use of CoB targeting the CD40-CD154 costimulatory pathway, which is involved in many highly immunogenic processes. While anti-CD154 antibodies showed great promise in preclinical studies, thromboembolic complications during clinical trials, due to interactions of the Fc portion of antibody molecules with platelet-expressed Fc receptors, stymied the translation of this therapy. We tested a novel Fc-silent anti-CD154 domain antibody, and found that this modified reagent was equally efficacious at prolonging graft survival and limiting alloreactive T cell responses compared to Fc-intact therapy.

These findings provide proof-of-concept that safe, efficacious CoB therapeutic regimens may be developed to aid in the promotion of tolerance in graft recipients and reduce morbidity and mortality in this vulnerable population. Immunomodulation in Transplantation: Promoting Tolerance and Preserving Protective Immunity

By

David Francis Pinelli

B.A., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 2007

B.S., University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 2009

Advisor: Mandy L. Ford, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science

Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

2016

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank everyone that contributed to the scientific work described in this dissertation. My mentor, Mandy, has been a constant source of inspiration and encouragement since my first days in the lab. Through the many meetings and informal discussions, Mandy has helped me grow both as a scientist and a person, and I will always be grateful for the opportunity to work in such a stimulating environment. I would also like to thank past and current members of the Ford group – Dr. Ivana Ferrer, whose hard work during her time in the Ford lab laid the foundation for my projects; Dr. Scott Krummey, for invaluable contributions during lab meetings and discussion; Danya Liu and Maylene Wagener, whose technical assistance made impossibly large experiments manageable; Sonia Laurie, Maggie Diller, and Ching-wen Chen for their moral support and reminding me that I would actually graduate some day; and all of the other students, residents, fellows and staff at the Emory Transplant Center who made it such a fun and rewarding place to work. I would also like to extend a special thanks to our collaborators at Bristol-Myers Squibb, including Drs. Steven Nadler and Suzanne Suchard, whose reagents and contributions were instrumental in our preclinical studies of CD40-CD154 blockade.

On a personal note, I would like to thank the many friends who supported me throughout my graduate career. To my fellow graduate students Martin, Dan, Zach, Erica, and Maria – you all know how long and challenging the road to a Ph.D. can be, and your support, scientific and otherwise, has been an integral part of my grad school experience. To Andrew, John, Jay, Jim, and all of my other friends that I've reconnected with since I've been back in Atlanta – these friendships have been such an amazing part of the last few years, and helped keep me grounded during all of the hard work required to finish my degree.

To my fiancée Debby, I cannot begin to tell you how important your support has been through this entire process. From choosing a lab, helping me study for qualifying exams, to the countless presentation practices you've sat through, you have always been there with undying encouragement. You and our family have been my number one cheerleaders throughout this entire process, and I am so excited to embark on the next chapter of our life together this May.

Finally, I would like to thank my family. To my sister Jenna and her husband Jacob, thank you for the many hours of companionship, especially during the last two years – I am truly lucky that I can count my sibling as one of my best friends, and I will always be thankful for that. And finally, to my parents, Betty Anne and Ed – thank you so much for all of the opportunities that you have given me. The sacrifices that you both have made to ensure that I am in a position to succeed in my endeavors has allowed me to pursue my passion, and I can never thank you enough for all of your love and support.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction

History of Clinical Transplantation	2
The Origins of Immunosuppressive Therapy	4
Costimulation Blockade	6
The CD40 Costimulatory Pathway	9
The Inhibitory Fc Receptor FcyRIIB	13
The Importance of Treg for Transplant Tolerance	14
Heterologous Immunity and Alloantigen-Specific Memory T Cells	19
Post-Transplant Opportunistic Infection and Morbidity	21
mTOR Inhibition in Transplantation	24
Rapamycin-Induced Augmented T Cell Immunity	25
CD8 ⁺ T Cell Metabolism and Cell Fate	28
Conclusions	29
References	30

Chapter 2. An Anti-CD154 Domain Antibody Prolongs Graft Survival and Induces FoxP3⁺ iTreg in the Absence and Presence of CTLA-4 Ig

Abstract	58
Introduction	59
Materials and Methods	61
Results	64
Discussion	69
Figures and Figure Legends	71
References	

Chapter 3. The Inhibitory FcγRIIB Functionally Inhibits Donor-Reactive Memory CD8⁺ T Cell Responses Following Transplantation

Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	100
Figures and Figure Legends	
References	

Chapter 4. Rapamycin Ameliorates the CTLA4-Ig-Mediated Defect in the CD8⁺ T Cell Response to Gammaherpesvirus Infection

Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	123
Results	
Discussion	
Figures and Figure Legends	
References	
Kelelences	

Chapter 5. Discussion

Discussion	155
Figures and Figure Legends	168
References	

Chapter 1

Introduction

History of Clinical Transplantation

Since the first successful human tissue transplant in 1905, clinical transplantation has rapidly become the primary treatment modality for end-stage tissue and organ failure. Despite the relatively short history of transplantation, the idea of exchanging organs from one human has existed for thousands of years. The Chinese historian Lieh Tzu reported that Pien Ch'iao, a legendary physician who practiced medicine in the 5th century BC, had exchanged the hearts of two men, who both later recovered to live healthy lives (1). Other legends describe a miracle operation performed by saints Cosmas and Damian in the fourth century AD, in which a cadaveric leg was successfully transplanted to a living recipient (2). The veracity of these legends is doubtful, but they serve to illustrate the point that the idea of using a functioning organ from another body to replace a defective one has existed for quite some time.

However, the first major technical breakthroughs that paved the way for organ transplantation as it exists today did not occur until the early 20th century, when aseptic technique allowed for the first successful corneal transplantations (3). Fully vascularized transplants also became a possibility when Austrian physician Alexis Carrel described his technique for vascular anastomoses (4). This report, which described the process of suturing blood vessels together in order to transplant a feline kidney, would help Carrel earn the Nobel Prize for Physiology and Medicine in 1912. Interestingly, while Carrel noted that none of the organs that he had placed in experimental animals functioned for more than a few days, he never pursued the mechanisms underlying this graft failure, and thus the immunologic basis for organ rejection would remain a mystery until decades later (5).

While Carrel's surgical breakthrough overcame the major physical hurdle to clinical transplantation, when investigators began applying these techniques in animal models of transplantation during the 1930s, 40s, and 50s, the immunologic barriers to vascularized graft acceptance became apparent. It was during this time that two related findings began to shape the nascent field of transplant immunology. First, Ray Owen, a veterinary researcher at the

University of Wisconsin, described the phenomenon of hematologic chimerism in dizygotic cattle twins (6). It had previously been reported that female cattle with male twins would be sterile upon maturation, due to the exposure to male hormones through a shared circulatory system in utero. However, Owen also noted that blood antigens from the male twin would persist in these female "freemartins" to adulthood, and later studies would show that freemartins could surprisingly tolerate skin grafts from their male twin. Eight years later, Peter Medawar and colleagues Peter Billingham and Leslie Brent expanded upon this idea by performing a similar experiment in mice. Their seminal paper in Nature demonstrated that mice that received injections of splenocytes from a genetically distinct strain in utero could tolerate allogeneic skin grafts of that same strain as adults, whereas mice that did not receive such injections would all rapidly reject grafts of this type (7). Taken together, these two findings indicated that early exposure to certain antigens could "tolerize" animals and allow them to receive transplanted tissues that would otherwise be impossible. While this sort of protocol could obviously not be performed in humans, the principle of "actively acquired tolerance" had a profound impact on the direction of the field, and, most importantly, the realization that transplant rejection was an immunologic phenomenon would instruct much of the research of the next few decades.

Given that transplantation studies at this time were still quite experimental in nature, it came as quite a surprise that the first successful clinical transplantation took place only one year later. The operation involved two identical twin brothers, one of whom needed a new kidney due to chronic nephritis, and was performed by Joseph Murray on December 23rd, 1954 (8). The long-term success of this operation was predicated on the fact that the recipient was genetically identical to the donor, and thus no immunologic barrier existed to prevent the graft from being accepted. Nonetheless, this remarkable technical achievement was the first demonstration that a human kidney could be physically transplanted and continue to function in a new host – the recipient, Richard Herrick, survived for 8 years following the operation. Following this milestone, several other groups were also able to exchange organs between pairs of twins, but

transplantation remained a very risky and experimental procedure at this time. Certain groups reported varying degrees of success in unrelated organ transplantation using simultaneous bone marrow ablation and total body irradiation in order to prevent rejection (5), but the true watershed moment in transplantation would come following the discovery of several key immunosuppressive drugs.

The Origins of Immunosuppressive Therapy

The discovery of 6-mercaptopurine by Gertrude Elion and George Hitchings in 1951 represented a landmark in the field of transplantation, even though the first clinical transplant had yet to be performed. This drug was originally intended as a therapy for acute childhood leukemia, but the finding that this metabolite could inhibit cellular proliferation was soon applied to transplantation (9). A derivative of 6-MP, azathioprine, was then formulated and used successfully to prevent immune responses in both rabbits (10) and dogs (11). These early attempts at impairing the immune system achieved moderate success in both animal and human models, but still were not powerful enough to make transplantation a reliable procedure with long-lasting benefits for humans. The next breakthrough came in 1963, when a report from Thomas Starzl's group at the University of Colorado described the reversal of a case of allograft rejection by the addition of high dose prednisone to the immunosuppressive regimen (12). This strategy was remarkably successful, leading to eventual graft tolerance in some cases, and steroids remain a part of most immunosuppressive protocols today to help control perioperative inflammation. However, the considerable side effects of prolonged steroid use precluded their use as maintenance immunosuppression, and they were also unable to reliably promote long term graft survival; thus, the search continued for more effective immunosuppressive agents.

Throughout the 1960s and early 1970s, only a handful of novel agents were introduced for clinical use in transplantation. Work in animal models by Gowans and colleagues had identified lymphocytes as the cells primarily responsible for graft rejection (13, 14), and thus new

therapeutics sought to target these cells. Antilymphocyte globulin (ALG), antisera derived by the immunization of horses with human lymphoid tissue, was designed to deplete the recipient of all lymphocytes and allow for engraftment of the organ (15, 16). However, variability of ALG preparations in terms of strength and purity prevented its widespread clinical use. It was not until the landmark discovery of monoclonal antibody production by Kohler and Milstein that the true potential of antibody therapy in transplantation began to be realized (17). Monoclonal antibodies generated by hybridomas allowed for a much finer degree of specificity in targeting alloreactive lymphocytes, but were also purer and less immunogenic, and thus safer to mass-produce and use clinically. The application of this technology to clinical transplantation began with the development of OKT3, a monoclonal antibody against the CD3 portion of the T cell receptor complex, which showed efficacy in reversing kidney allograft rejection (18), and many transplant induction protocols using monoclonal antibodies are still in use. However, a truly groundbreaking discovery in transplant immunosuppression came in 1976, when Borel and colleagues first described the calcineurin inhibitor (CNI) cyclosporine A (19-21). These fungal metabolites are able to bind to calcineurin, a critical component in lymphocyte signaling downstream of the T cell receptor, and prevent it from acting on its downstream targets (22). Thus, alloreactive T cells never receive an activating signal and remain naïve and unable to mediate graft rejection. While CNIs showed a remarkable ability to prevent T cell activation and subsequent rejection in humans, and remain the main agent used in most immunosuppressive protocols, these drugs also have extremely toxic side effects, including nephrotoxicity and cardiotoxicity (23, 24). Recent reports have shown that while CNI therapy has been able to dramatically reduce the occurrence of acute rejection (within the first 12 months post-transplant) since their introduction in the late 1970s, over that same period of time, the overall half-life of grafted organs have remained relatively unchanged (25). In addition to the toxicity of these therapies, CNIs are non-specific in that they inhibit all T cell responses, and thus recipients become vulnerable to infectious disease owing to this global suppression of the adaptive immune system. Therefore, there is still an urgent need in

the field of transplantation for the discovery and implementation of new treatment modalities that are able to specifically target alloreactive responses in order to limit their toxicity as well as their negative impact on protective immunity in transplant patients.

Costimulation Blockade

In order for a T cell to become fully activated and mediate its effector functions, it must receive two signals. The first signal is the most specific, and comes in the form of a complex of a peptide and self-MHC molecule, which is recognized by the T cell receptor. The second signal that must be received in order for a T cell to be fully activated is costimulation. Costimulatory molecules are often inducibly expressed on antigen presenting cells during infection or other states of inflammation, and requiring this second, inducible signal is a way a safeguarding T cells from improper activation, since randomly generated T cell receptors may be reactive to self antigen (26). Indeed, many groups have shown that T cells that receive an activating signal thru the TCR without receiving the second costimulatory signal become anergic, or unable to respond when they see their antigen again, even if the second stimulation takes place in the presence of costimulation (27-29).

While T cells can receive costimulation thru a number of different receptor-ligand pairs, by far the best studied and perhaps most important costimulatory molecule interaction is that of T cell-expressed CD28 and antigen-presenting cell (APC)-expressed B7 molecules (CD80/CD86) (30). The ligation of CD28 on T cells by B7 leads to the transcription and stabilization of interleukin-2 mRNA, which is a vital growth factor for T cells undergoing clonal expansion (28, 31-33). In addition, CD28 costimulation lowers the activation threshold of T cells, allowing them to be more responsive to smaller amounts of antigen (34). Given that T cells receiving antigen stimulation in the absence of costimulation become anergic, it was thought that blocking CD28 signals following transplantation would anergize alloreactive cells specifically, allowing for

organ engraftment and long-term survival, and reducing the need for long-term maintenance immunosuppression.

One of the first successful costimulatory blockade agents developed was the fusion protein CTLA4-Ig. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA4) is an Ig superfamily member, which was identified in T cells by screening of cytotoxic T cell cDNA libraries, and it shares a large degree of homology with CD28 (35). Early in vitro studies showed that, while not present on resting T cells, CTLA4 is upregulated following activation, and, most importantly, binds B7 molecules CD80 and CD86 with a higher affinity than CD28 (36). While multiple mechanisms by which CTLA4 regulates active immune responses have been proposed, which will be discussed later, the higher affinity of CTLA4 for B7 allows it to outcompete CD28 molecules for ligation. Therefore, by attaching an immunoglobulin tail to this molecule, Linsley and colleagues were able to create a soluble reagent that could prevent CD28-mediated costimulation and limit T cell responses in vitro and in vivo (36, 37). In rodent models of transplantation, CTLA4-Ig dramatically reduced rates of acute and chronic rejection in both rats and mice (36, 38-41). However, despite these successes in rodent models, CTLA4-Ig showed only moderate efficacy in non-human primates (42, 43). While disappointing, these results led to the discovery that CTLA4-Ig was not able to fully block B7 costimulatory molecules when administered in vivo, and thus a mutagenic approach was taken to alter the CTLA4-Ig molecule and increase its affinity for CD80 and CD86. The resulting compound, known as LEA29Y or belatacept, was able to bind with higher affinity to its targets, and it significantly prolonged kidney allograft survival in rhesus macaques (44). Clinical trials of belatacept began in the early 2000s, and early results suggested that belatacept was better able to preserve kidney function compared to the relative nephrotoxicity of calcineurin inhibitors (45). However, as the trials progressed over the next few years, it became apparent that while belatacept did offer a significant advantage in renal function compared to CNIs, patients receiving this therapy experienced markedly higher rates of acute cellular rejection (ACR), especially those receiving a more intense regimen (46). In addition to

these higher rates of ACR, there were also some safety concerns with this new therapy. Treatment with belatacept led to an increased risk of developing Epstein-Barr Virus-related post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder, a malignant complication thought to be due to an ineffective T cell response to primary EBV infection (47, 48). This led the FDA to recommend that belatacept only be used in recipients that are already EBV-seropositive pre-transplant. Thus, while the approval of belatacept marked a great advance in the era of targeted immunosuppression, the balancing act of preventing rejection while preserving protective immunity remains a significant challenge for the field.

The exact mechanism of the increase in acute rejection seen following belatacept treatment is still somewhat unclear, but several hypotheses have been put forward. First, heterologous immunity, or the recognition of alloantigen by T cells generated by a previous pathogen infection, may be responsible for costimulation blockade resistant rejection, since memory T cells are overall less reliant on costimulation for activation than naïve T cells (49). Other groups have suggested that by binding to B7 molecules, CTLA4-Ig blocks not only CD28mediated costimulation but also CTLA4 coinhibitory signals, which leads to ineffective blunting of the alloreactive response (50). There have been a few attempts to generate CD28-specific costimulation blockade, and various degrees of success have been achieved using CD28 Fab fragments to block costimulation in animal models (51-53). However, the dramatic failure of a clinical trial using a superagonist anti-CD28 antibody should serve as a cautionary tale when targeting this particularly potent costimulatory molecule (54). Finally, results in both mice and humans have suggested that belatacept may have a deleterious effect on regulatory T cells, since CD28 and CTLA4 signals may be important for the generation, homeostasis and function of this population (55-57). Negative impacts on the Treg population may be one mechanism underlying these early rejection events.

In conclusion, while the introduction of belatacept represents a step forward in limiting the toxicity of post-transplant immunomodulatory therapy, there is still a need for reagents that can be used in combination with belatacept to safely and specifically target the alloreactive responses while helping to control early acute rejection.

The CD40 Costimulatory Pathway

The CD40 pathway is one of the most important costimulatory pathways involved in the generation of alloreactive responses, and represents an extremely attractive target for therapeutic intervention in transplantation. This pathway requires the interaction of CD40 molecules with its ligand, CD40L (also known as CD154). These TNF superfamily molecules are expressed on a wide range of tissues and cell types, with CD40 being constitutively expressed on APCs, including B cells, macrophages and dendritic cells, and CD154 expressed mainly on CD4⁺ T cells following activation (58). The first descriptions of this pathway by Noelle and colleagues focused on the importance of CD40-CD154 interactions in promoting thymus-dependent humoral responses (59). However, it quickly became apparent that these interactions were also essential for generating cell-mediated immunity as well. Several studies showed that the crosslinking of CD40 on dendritic cells by CD154 on activated CD4⁺ helper T cells led to the "licensing" of antigen presenting cells, by which these cells upregulate MHC class II molecules, adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1, and other costimulatory markers such as CD80 and CD86, and also produce proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-12 (60, 61).

The potent immunostimulatory effects of CD40-CD154 interactions make it one of the most attractive targets for immunomodulatory therapy. In 1995, the first studies demonstrating the dramatic effect of CD40-CD154 blockade showed that administration of donor lymphocytes and anti-CD154 blocking antibodies led to the long term survival of allogeneic islets (62). These findings were corroborated a year later, when Larsen and colleagues described the prolongation of mouse cardiac allografts with the use of anti-CD154 antibodies (63), and an additional report a year later detailed the remarkable synergy of combined blockade of CD28- and CD40-mediated costimulation in a mouse skin graft model (64). These findings were then extended to non-human

primates (42), and five years worth of intense research on this pathway culminated in a seminal report demonstrating the efficacy of a humanized anti-CD154 antibody in promoting long-term renal allograft survival in rhesus macaques (65). In addition to the long-term potency of these therapies, it is notable that in all of these studies, monoclonal antibodies against CD154 were used as short-term induction therapy as opposed to maintenance regimens, allowing for the inhibition of acute rejection without the long-term side effects of prolonged immunosuppression.

Given the remarkable efficacy seen in these studies, a number of clinical trials were initiated to attempt to translate this therapy to clinical use in transplantation, as well as autoimmune disease, such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Three anti-CD154 therapeutics were developed in the late 1990s and early 2000s. The first antibody developed for human use, ruplizumab, was a humanized version of the 5c8 clone used in the preclinical nonhuman primate studies (65). Trials in both renal transplantation and SLE were initiated, but both were halted in phase II due to thromboembolic complications, as well as episodes of acute rejection in five of the seven transplant recipients (66-70). Two other anti-CD154 therapeutics, toralizumab and ABI793, were developed and tested in clinical trials, and despite varying levels of therapeutic efficacy, thromboembolism continued to be a problem (67, 68, 71-73). Despite these setbacks, many groups remained optimistic regarding anti-CD154 therapy and saw little to no evidence of thromboembolic events in their studies (74). In addition, one group which had noted clotting events in certain monkey models demonstrated that a regimen of PGE, heparin and ketorolac, a non-selective COX inhibitor, was shown to be effective prophylaxis against these adverse events, indicating that thromboembolism could be avoided while maintaining anti-CD154 drug efficacy (75, 76). Other investigators attempted to target the CD40 molecule, rather than CD154, in order to avoid these CD154-associated complications. While some non-human primate studies showed efficacy of anti-CD40 in models of solid organ and islet transplantation (77-80), these drugs were not as effective as anti-CD154 when used as a monotherapy. In addition, concerns about B cell depletion and CMV infection tempered enthusiasm for this strategy, but development of anti-CD40 therapeutics has continued, with clinical trials currently underway (81). However, given that targeting CD154 has been more effective, many groups sought to determine the mechanism by which anti-CD154 therapy was leading to thromboembolic events, with the hopes of designing alternative strategies to safely target this molecule during transplantation.

CD40 and CD154 are expressed on endothelial cells and activated platelets, respectively, and while CD40-CD154 interactions have been shown to play a role in thrombus formation and platelet activation, the exact nature of the required interactions is still somewhat unclear. One report describe the upregulation of CD154 following platelet activation, which can bind to CD40 expressed by endothelial cells and help activate the endothelium and initiate a proinflammatory immune response (82). Further studies showed that platelets shed soluble CD154 following activation. This soluble form then binds to platelet-associated β 3 integrin molecules and induces platelet spreading and thrombus stabilization (83). Another report indicated that this soluble CD154 could bind CD40 expressed on platelets and activate them directly (84). However, clear evidence for the mechanism linking anti-CD154 therapy-related thromboembolisms to expression of CD154 on platelets was still lacking. Several in vitro studies suggested that the low affinity activating FcyRIIa was involved in antibody-mediated platelet activation (85-87). These studies argue that immune complexes of soluble CD154, which can also be shed following $CD4^+$ T cell activation, and anti-CD154 antibodies were crosslinking FcyRIIa on human platelets, leading to further platelet activation and thromboembolism. Furthermore, this Fc receptor is not expressed on murine platelets, which would explain the lack of evidence for thromboembolism in mouse studies. In fact, in a study using a humanized mouse model in which the human FcyRIIa was expressed on mouse platelets, Robles-Carrillo and colleagues demonstrated platelet activation and thrombus formation in mice following administration of immune complexes of sCD154 and anti-CD154 antibodies (88). Therefore, if anti-CD154 antibodies could be designed to avoid this Fc receptor interaction, that may prevent these clotting events from occurring, thus providing a safer alternative to the pro-thrombotic anti-CD154 therapeutics.

However, in addition to the thromboembolic complications seen in the early clinical trials, the exact mechanism by which anti-CD154 antibodies modulate donor-reactive T cell responses in animal models remains somewhat controversial. Several studies have proposed that Fcmediated effects are actually required for the efficacy of anti-CD154 drugs. A report by Monk et al suggested that the tolerogenic effects of anti-CD154 antibodies were Fc- and complementdependent, as anti-CD154 therapy was ineffective in $Fc\gamma R$ and complement knockout animals (89). However, Daley and colleagues demonstrated that an aglycosylated form of anti-CD154, which exhibits reduced ability to bind Fc receptors and activate complement, was able to prolong graft survival as effectively as the glycosylated form (90). Other reports suggested that the nature of the immune challenge determine the relative requirements of Fc-mediated effector function, as aglycosylated antibodies were effective in preventing a non-human primate model of SLE, but lacked efficacy in islet and renal transplantation (91). Despite these myriad challenges, there is still hope for the translation of CD40-CD154 antagonism to clinical use, particularly in combination regimens that include other forms of costimulation blockade or immunosuppression. A recent report by our group identified a novel Fc-silent anti-CD154 antibody that showed remarkable efficacy in a murine model of transplantation (55). This antibody carried a mutation in the Fc portion that abrogated Fc binding and complement activation (92-94), yet showed the same mechanism of action as Fc-intact antibodies in preventing alloreactive responses. Furthermore, this therapy was able to synergize with CTLA4-Ig, indicating that translation of this drug for use with belatacept, a CTLA4-Ig derivative, may be possible to prolong graft survival following clinical transplantation.

The Inhibitory Fc receptors FcyRIIB

Fc receptors play a major role in both the innate and adaptive immune system, serving as a crucial link between antibody-antigen specificity and effector function. While mice and humans differ slightly in the Fc receptor genes expressed and their affinity for the constant portions of antibody isotypes, both species have multiple activating and inhibitory Fc receptors on immune cells, allowing for both positive and negative signals to be propagated by antibody ligation (95). Activating Fc receptors are expressed by a number of innate immune cells, including granulocytes, NK cells, dendritic cells and macrophages, and ligation of these receptors by immune complexes formed by antigen and their corresponding antibody or antibody-coated cells can lead to a variety of consequences, including phagocytosis, inflammatory cytokine and chemoattractant production, oxidative burst, or modulation of antigen processing (96). The inhibitory Fc receptor, $Fc\gamma$ RIIB, also has a widespread expression pattern and serves as a negative regulator of antibody-mediated effector functions, as the intracellular portion of this molecule contains an ITIM motif capable of recruiting phosphatases to inhibit signaling events (97).

To date, much of the literature investigating the function of Fc γ RIIB has focused on its critical role in B cell development, homeostasis, and germinal center control (95). Fc γ RIIB is the only Fc receptor expressed by B cells, and this receptor regulates only of the most important processes in humoral immune responses, affinity maturation in germinal centers. As B cells undergo somatic hypermutation in secondary lymphoid organs, simultaneous ligation of the B cell receptor and Fc γ RIIB lead to B cell survival, while those B cells that mutate and lose affinity for antigen and receive only Fc γ RIIB undergo apoptosis through a c-Abl-dependent mechanism (98). Fc γ RIIB can also control B cell autoimmunity at this stage as well, as conditional knockouts of Fc γ RIIB on class-switched B cells show increased levels of autoantibody production (99). In addition, plasma cell homeostasis also relies on Fc γ RIIB. Plasma cells do not express the B cell receptor, but maintain expression of Fc γ RIIB. Thus, the balance of pro-apoptotic Fc γ RIIB signaling and survival signals within the bone marrow niche combine to regulate the size and makeup of the plasma cell pool (100).

While T cells have long been thought to not express Fc receptors, a recent study investigating the consequences of repeated T cell stimulation on transcription profiles discovered that OVA-specific OT-I CD8⁺T cells upregulated the gene encoding FcyRIIB following repeated

infection with *Listeria monocytogenes* engineered to express the OVA protein (101). A follow-up report from the same group demonstrated that expression of this receptor on infection-generated memory $CD8^+$ T cells controlled their expansion to secondary rechallenge, and that blocking this receptor with monoclonal antibody therapy led to increased recall proliferation of these cells (102). The authors postulated that the expression of FcγRIIB on memory $CD8^+$ T cells may have evolved as a mechanism to prevent unnecessary T cell recall expansion and subsequent exhaustion when circulating IgG antibodies are able to effectively control a pathogenic challenge. While effects on FcγRIIB on B cells and APCs must be considered, if it is able to be specifically targeted, T cell-expressed FcγRIIB may represent a potential target for immunotherapy in transplantation, especially given that many transplant recipients have large populations of donor-reactive memory T cells.

The Importance of Treg for Transplant Tolerance

The goal of tolerizing transplant recipients to alloantigen in order to achieve long-term graft survival without maintenance immunosuppression has been the holy grail of transplantation immunology since Billingham, Brent and Medawar's first murine experiments (7). However, the effect seen in these studies could only be achieved in a short, prenatal window, rendering these findings inapplicable to humans. However, investigators have still attempted to apply the lessons learned from the past five decades to turn transplant tolerance from a laboratory pipe dream into a clinical reality (103).

The first attempts at inducing transplant tolerance focused on conditioning recipients to donor antigen in a non-inflammatory setting, with a similar idea to that of costimulation blockade. The principle behind this strategy is to engage the alloreactive T cell population within the recipient with antigen (i.e. transfused donor lymphocytes bearing the allogeneic MHC molecules) in a less immunologically insulting environment than a transplant, in order to attempt to anergize alloreactive T cells prior to the transplant. This strategy gained traction in the 1960s and 70s, with

the first successful donor "conditioning" reported in a model of canine kidney transplant, followed by more mechanistic descriptions of this strategy in rats (104, 105). These strategies were eventually translated to human with some success (106), and further studies combined this "conditioning" with concomitant administration of coreceptor or costimulation blockade, in order to more effectively anergize the alloreactive population (107, 108). The introduction of calcineurin inhibitors in the 1980s and their remarkable efficacy may have led donor preconditioning to fall out of favor, but this strategy, as well as mixed chimerism strategies to partly reconstitute the recipient immune system with donor T cells, is still being pursued by a number of groups and holds promise as one of the more feasible strategies for inducing transplant tolerance in adults (109, 110).

Regulatory T cells, or Treg, are a subset of $CD4^+$ T cells that are able to mediate suppressive immune functions, rather than the proinflammatory effector functions of other CD4⁺ subsets, and recent reports have suggested that Treg may play an important role in the induction and maintenance of transplantation tolerance (111, 112). The idea of a T cell type that could suppress rather than enhance immune responses first arose in the 1970s, with several groups describing a phenomenon of infectious tolerance, whereby transferring populations of lymphocytes from tolerized mice to new hosts would make these hosts tolerant to the same immunizing antigen (113, 114). However, enthusiasm for these discoveries was tempered in the late 1980s when a report challenged the existence of the I-J MHC locus, which was purported to encode the soluble factors by which the suppressor cells mediated their function (115). The subsequent fallout from studies challenging the idea of suppressor cells stymied progress in this field until the mid-1990s, when Sakaguchi and colleagues published a seminal paper attributing the properties of dominant tolerance to a group of splenocytes that expressed high amounts of the IL-2 receptor alpha chain, or CD25 (116). This finding renewed interest in regulatory T cells, and ultimately the discovery of Foxp3 as the master regulator transcription factor for this lineage led to widespread acceptance of Treg as a bona fide T cell subset (117).

While initial work on suppressor T cells in the 1970s focused solely on secreted immunoregulatory factors, studies over the past decade have proposed a number of both secreted and contact-dependent mechanisms by which Treg can mediate their effects. The first proposed mechanisms stemmed from the finding that Treg express high amounts of CD25, which, along with CD122 and CD132, is one of three components of the high-affinity receptor for IL-2 (118). One study suggested that expression of CD25 acts as a "sink" for IL-2, which consumes the cytokine and leads to cytokine deprivation-induced apoptosis in effector T cell subsets (119). There are several other surface molecules implicated in Treg function, but most of these molecules are thought to act in direct contact with target cells, either APCs or effector T cells. The first, and perhaps most important, is CTLA4, which is expressed constitutively on Treg, rather than the inducible expression seen in effector subsets following activation. As mentioned before, there are several cell-extrinsic and cell-intrinsic mechanisms that have been proposed to explain the importance of CTLA4 in regulating effector T cell responses, but early reports suggested that Treg-expressed CTLA4 could be involved in the suppressive function of these cells, as the blockade of this molecule with anti-CTLA4 antibodies prevented CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells from suppressing $CD4^+CD25^-$ cell proliferation in vitro (120). Further support has come in the past decade, with studies showing that genetically ablating CTLA4 specifically on Treg populations prevented their function and led to spontaneous autoimmunity in vivo (121). CTLA4mediated function may include both the removal of B7 costimulatory molecules from APCs (a process known as trans-endocytosis) (122) and perhaps the induction of indoleamine-2deoxygenase (IDO) production in B7-expressing cells (123). In addition to CTLA4, other molecules suggested to play a role in Treg function are the cell-surface ectoenzymes CD39 and CD73, which can suppress effector T cells responses by generating extracellular adenosine (124, 125). In addition, other surface molecules such as Lag-3, Nrp-1, TIGIT and GITR have also been implicated in Treg function, although their roles are less clear (126-129).

While these surface molecules undoubtedly play a large role in the suppressive function of Treg, secreted molecules have also been shown to be important for modulating immune responses. Perhaps most associated with Treg function is the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. Neutralization of IL-10 was shown to prevent Treg from establishing alloantigen-specific tolerance (130), and Treg-specific ablation of the IL-10 gene led to inflammation in the lungs and colon (131). The role of TGF- β , another cytokine that has been closely associated with Treg function, is less clear. While some reports showed that this factor is required to prevent autoimmune immunopathology (132), others have argued that Treg are able to mediate their suppressive function in the absence of this protein (133). There may be some redundant role of TGF- β in Treg-mediated immunosuppression, but further research is required to determine its exact function. IL-35, a recently discovered interleukin heterodimer consisting of Epstein-Barrvirus-induced gene 3 (Ebi3) and IL-12 alpha subunit, has also been shown to be a mechanism of suppression, as Tregs deficient in either subunit are functionally impaired in a model of T celldependent colitis (134). Finally, Granzyme A and B, cytokines most often associated with cytotoxic potential in CD8⁺ T cells, can also be expressed by human Treg and lead to perforindependent killing of effector T cells (135).

These results demonstrate Treg mediate their suppressive functions through various mechanisms, there is experimental evidence that these cells play an important role in preventing both acute and chronic allograft rejection. In many animal studies, alloantigen-specific Treg that had been generated in vitro and then transferred to transplanted mice showed that these cells could promote long-term tolerance, through both CTLA4- and IL-10-dependent mechanisms (130, 136-140). Another study demonstrated the ability of human Treg to prevent transplant arteriosclerosis, a chronic condition that leads to hardening and thickening of arteries within the organ and eventual graft failure, in a humanized murine model (141). While these studies showed that Treg are able to prevent rejection when present in great enough numbers, the numbers of Treg present in unmanipulated hosts is usually insufficient to allow for graft tolerance. Therefore,

current work in regulatory T cell therapy in transplantation is focused on either expanding existing Treg or adoptive immunotherapy of ex vivo generated Treg in order to curb alloreactivity.

However, while the absolute numbers of Treg certainly matter in determining the outcome of an alloreactive response, it is currently unclear if Treg derived from natural, or thymically-derived Treg (nTreg), or Treg induced in the periphery (iTreg) are better for curbing alloreactivity. One study determined that the pool of allospecific Treg that arise following a tolerance induction protocol came from both the pre-existing nTreg pool as well as the conversion of naïve non-Foxp3⁺ CD4⁺ cells into Foxp3⁺ iTreg (142). However, other models have suggested that in some settings the conversion of naïve Treg into antigen-specific iTreg is critical for the establishment of long-term graft tolerance. These studies, which were performed in the presence of a tolerizing regimen of donor-specific transfusion and anti-CD154 antibodies, demonstrated that naïve CD4⁺ T cells are converted to antigen-specific iTreg that then migrate to the graft to mediate their suppressive effects (143, 144).

Finally, as mentioned above, one of the major drawbacks of treatment with the costimulation blockade agent belatacept is its deleterious effect on Treg. Given that CD28 signaling has long been associated with Treg homeostasis and function (145, 146), it was not surprising that an agent designed to block this signals may have off target effects on the Treg population. Indeed, in a MHC Class II mismatch mouse model of transplantation, where graft survival is dependent on Treg, CTLA4-Ig treatment actually led to accelerated rejection due to a loss of Treg populations in the periphery (57). However, recent data from our group has shown that while treatment with CTLA4-Ig led to a decrease in endogenous Treg populations, alloantigen-specific Treg induced by anti-CD154 treatment were maintained during combined treatment with CTLA4-Ig (55). Interestingly, previous studies had indicated that a fraction of Treg populations are constantly turning over in steady-state conditions, and that while this maintenance proliferation was associated with an increase in expression of CTLA4, blocking the CD28 pathway could prevent this proliferation (147). These results would indicate that the cell-

intrinsic properties of antigen-specific iTreg and endogenous nTreg are different, and that perhaps some other signal, either through the iTreg TCR or cytokine receptors, may allow these cells to preferentially survive in the face of CTLA4-Ig treatment.

Regulatory T cells are an integral part of the adaptive immune system's ability to control inflammatory responses (148), and by harnessing the potential of this population, transplant immunologists may be able to more effectively and naturally prevent alloreactivity while limiting the use of toxic immunosuppressant therapy.

Heterologous Immunity and Alloantigen-Specific Memory T Cells

Most of the experimental animal studies investigating the immunologic mechanisms underlying alloreactive responses and transplant tolerance have been performed in relatively pathogen-free environments. However, throughout their lifetimes, humans are constantly exposed to infectious agents that lead to the generation of immunologic memory in the form of memory CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and long-lived antibody responses. While these responses are often able to protect an individual against re-infection, they may be a barrier to the induction of transplant tolerance through a phenomenon known as heterologous immunity (149). The T cell receptor recognizes short peptide sequences in the context of an MHC molecule, and thus is able to crossreact with distinct peptide epitopes that do not share complete sequence homology (150). Studies of human cells have shown that virus-specific T cells clones are capable of cross-reacting with peptide-MHC complexes expressed by allogeneic cells (151). In fact, the dual recognition of alloepitopes by pathogen-induced cells is quite common in human T cell populations. One study measured the HLA reactivity of a number of virus-specific clones from healthy individuals, with 45% of isolated T cell clones reacting against at least one allogeneic HLA molecule (152). In addition, EBV-specific T cells from HLA-B*07 healthy controls were shown to proliferate in a mixed lymphocyte reaction when exposed to a common alloantigen, HLA-B*44 (153). Therefore, memory T cells generated by a viral infection that crossreact with alloantigen may be able to

mediate graft rejection. Several experimental models in mice have implicate these cells in graft rejection (154-156), and human studies have shown that pathogen-generated allospecific memory cells are present in the circulation of organ recipients at the time of transplantation (157, 158).

These potentially alloreactive memory cells are significant in transplantation immunotherapy, since memory cells possess a much lower activation threshold than naïve cells and are able to more rapidly proliferate and mediate their effector functions (159, 160). In addition, memory cells are less reliant on costimulation in order to achieve full activation (161). This independence from costimulation of memory cells means that these cells may not be as sensitive to many of the tolerance-inducing costimulation blockade regimens that work so well in animal models (162, 163). In addition, the generation of memory cells crossreactive to alloantigen can increases the precursor frequency of graft-specific cells. Tolerance induction protocols in non-human primates were shown to be ineffective when animals harbored a larger number of donor-reactive memory cells (164), and specifically targeting memory cells with an anti-CD2 antibody promoted graft survival in another NHP model (165). Furthermore, a study of human kidney recipients showed that higher numbers of donor-reactive, IFN- γ -producing lymphocytes pre-transplant correlated with a risk of acute rejection episodes (166). Therefore, memory T cells generated by environmental exposure to pathogens that crossreact with donor antigens may present a barrier to the induction of transplant tolerance.

Post-Transplant Opportunistic Infections and Morbidity

While the primary goal of transplant immunosuppression is the inhibition of alloreactive responses, global immunosuppression can leave patients vulnerable to a wide range of infectious complications resulting from opportunistic bacterial, fungal and viral infections. Immediately following transplantation, patients are the most susceptible to complications due not only to the surgical wounds and subsequent inflammation, but also due to the fact that the immediate post-operative stage is when patients are subjected to the highest doses of immunosuppressants to

avoid acute rejection. Bacterial infections, including nosocomial-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus* and vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus* species, are of particular concern at this stage (167). Several experimental models have investigated the effect of infection at the time of transplantation, and shown that bacterial or viral infections can actually prevent the induction of tolerance (168, 169). However, as detailed below, the most common post-transplant infections tend to occur between 1 and 12 months post-transplantation, with viral complications being particular ly problematic for transplant patients.

Some of the most common infections include de novo infection with and reactivation of latent and persistent viruses, which are a major source of morbidity and mortality post-transplant (170). Cytomegalovirus, a beta herpesvirus, is the most common infection following kidney transplantation (167). In addition to the risk that this virus poses to an immunosuppressed individual, CMV infection can also invade the allograft and lead to chronic nephropathy and allograft rejection (171). For this reason, most transplant patients are either treated prophylactically or preemptively (once CMV replication is detected) to avoid CMV complications, and anti-viral agents such as valgancyclovir are commonly used to treat this disease (172). Other viral infections common to kidney recipients and major causes of graft failure are polyoma viruses, include BK and JC virus. These viruses are extremely common, as BK seroprevalence is over 85% in the general population. Polyoma-virus associated nephropathy (PVAN) is the major complication arising post-transplant, which can result in graft failure in up to 50% of cases (173). The main mode of treatment is reduction of immunosuppression, with several anti-viral therapies undergoing clinical evaluation for use to control this disease (174). Finally, Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) is another common pathogen that can lead to severe pathology following transplantation, and, as described below, these complications are strongly associated with the use of CD28-directed costimulation blockade.

Epstein-Barr Virus is a double-stranded DNA virus of the γ herpesvirus family. Approximately 90-95% of adults in the developed world are seropositive for this virus, but pathology is normally effectively controlled by adaptive T cell responses, and the virus persists mostly in a latent state in its reservoir, memory B cells (175). However, many transplant recipients, especially pediatric patients, are still EBV seronegative at the time of transplantation, and exposure to EBV while subject to immunosuppressive regimen can lead to the development of EBV-associated post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD) (176, 177). PTLD is a term that denotes a spectrum of disorders that all share the feature of uncontrolled lymphocyte proliferation. This disease state had a range of severity, and several known risk factors include the age of the recipient, the type of organ transplanted, the intensity and makeup of the immunosuppression regimen, and EBV serostatus prior to transplant (178). Since T cell responses are a major factor in controlling the lytic phase of primary gamma herpesvirus infections (175, 179), impairment of T cell responses due to immunosuppression can lead to development of PTLD. As evidence of this, the magnitude of virus-specific $CD8^+$ T cell responses have been shown to be a correlate of protection against PTLD development (180), and numerous animal models of gammaherpesvirus infections also rely on cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells for viral control (181). Of particular interest to our group, the initial clinical trials of belatacept showed that patients treated with this drug were at an increased risk of developing EBV-associated PTLD (47). The FDA accordingly issued a black-box warning, indicating that belatacept should not be used in EBV seronegative transplant recipients. However, since many pediatric patients stand to benefit the most from the long-term functional benefits of belatacept over calcineurin inhibitors, strategies to improve EBV-specific responses are of particular interest to this population.

Current treatments for PTLD take two general approaches, targeting the virus itself or attempting to boost the adaptive immune response either by reducing the level of immunosuppression or selectively enhancing virus-specific responses. One case study claimed that antiviral treatment with acyclovir was effective in treating PTLD (182), but this treatment has not been formally evaluated in a large-scale trial. Interferon treatment has also shown a limited amounts of success (183), but a lack of mechanistic data and concerns about off-target effects on

transplanted organs has limited its widespread acceptance as a viable treatment. Currently, secondary to the reduction of immunosuppression, the use of rituximab, a chimeric antibody against the B cell antigen CD20, has also shown promise in the treatment of PTLD by directly targeting and depleting the proliferating B cells, with response rates as high as 50% in some studies (184, 185). However, the most effective treatment for PTLD remains the reduction of immunosuppression, with the goal of allowing the endogenous T cell response to recover and respond to the proliferating B cells. In addition, other treatments that have focused on enhancing EBV-specific immune responses have shown some promise in preventing and treating PTLD. While adoptive cellular therapy with T cells expanded and primed to EBV antigens ex vivo has been effective in small studies in hematopoietic (186) as well as solid organ transplantation (187), this is a time-consuming and expensive process, and unlikely to become common clinical practice. Another potential strategy may be the administration of therapeutic agents that can adjuvant EBV-specific T cell responses. Surprisingly, one candidate therapy that may be able to achieve this goal is rapamycin, a drug that has been used for decades in the context of transplantation and has recently been shown in a number of studies to not only inhibit viral replication, but may, as detailed below, paradoxically enhance pathogen-specific immune responses.

mTOR Inhibition in Transplantation

Rapamycin is a macrolide produced by the bacteria Streptomyces hygroscopicus, and was discovered in soil samples from Easter Island in the 1970s (188). Intracellularly, rapamycin acts by binding to FK506/rapamycin-binding protein 12 (FKBP12), and then binding and inhibiting the kinase activity of the mechanistic target of rapamycin, or mTOR (189, 190). The mTOR kinase is responsible for integrating signals from the extracellular environment, including the growth factors, amino acids, glucose, and stress (191). mTOR is actually a subunit of two distinct protein complexes known as mTORC1 and mTORC2. These complexes differ in both their downstream signaling targets as well as their sensitivity to inhibition with rapamycin. mTORC1

signals through S6K1 and 4E-BP1, which are intimately involved in the control of mRNA translation and protein synthesis (192), is sensitive to inhibition with rapamycin. mTORC2 acts on a different set of substrates, including Akt, PKC, and SGK, and is critical in controlling actin reorganization and cell polarization (193). While some data suggest that prolonged treatment with rapamycin may lead to inhibition of mTORC2 (194), this complex is thought to be generally insensitive to inhibition with this therapy, due to a lack of binding partner for the rapamycin/FKBP12 complex.

Due to its ubiquity in mammalian cells, it is not surprising that mTOR signaling plays an extremely important role in both innate and adaptive immune responses. Rapamycin has a variety of effects on both the maturation of dendritic cells and their ability to uptake and present antigen to the adaptive immune system. Studies have shown that treatment with rapamycin can limit the maturation and function of DCs, specifically the upregulation of costimulatory molecules to stimulate T cell responses (195). In addition, human dendritic cells differentiated in the presence of rapamycin were defective in their ability to endocytose extracellular antigen (196). These findings, along with a larger body of data, suggest that rapamycin has an overall tolerogenic effect on dendritic cell biology. In addition to the effects on antigen presenting cells, rapamycin has dramatic effects on both $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells. Costimulatory signals through CD28 are required for full T cell activation, and mTOR is a key component of this intracellular signaling cascade (197). In addition, recent $CD4^+ T$ cells integrate a number of environmental signals, such as cytokines and growth factors, to differentiate into a variety of lineages with distinct effector functions, including Th1, Th2, Th17, Tfh, and Treg subsets (198). Extensive work by Powell and colleagues have demonstrated that either genetic disruption of mTORC1 or mTORC2, as well as treatment with rapamycin, can influence $CD4^+$ T cell differentiation and alter cell fate (199, 200). As a result, several studies have used rapamycin to promote Treg expansion following transplantation in both murine and non-human primate models (201-203).

While originally intended as an anti-fungal therapy, it was noted that rapamycin possessed potent anti-proliferative properties and thus was considered an ideal candidate for use following transplantation, in order to limit the proliferation of alloreactive lymphocytes (204). A number of animal models of transplantation provided evidence that rapamycin could prevent allograft rejection at therapeutic levels ranging from 5-30ng/mL, including rodent, rabbit, dog, pig and baboon (205). In 1999, the FDA approved rapamycin for use in human renal transplantation, and over the last 15 years rapamycin has become widely used clinically. However, in the last few years, one of the most surprising properties of rapamycin was identified – the paradoxical enhancement of CD8⁺ T cell responses to certain pathogen infections.

Rapamycin-Induced Augmented T Cell Immunity

While immunosuppression following transplantation can lead to serious infectious complications due to impaired immune responses, one interesting finding during the early clinical experience with rapamycin was that patients treated with this drug paradoxically experienced fewer infectious and malignant complications, specifically in terms of CMV infection and reactivation (206-208). Given that the mechanism of action of rapamycin is the inhibition of the intracellular kinase mTOR, whose downstream signaling targets include molecules intimately involved in mRNA translation including S6K1 and 4E-BP1 (193), the direct anti-viral effects of rapamycin were thought to be largely responsible for the improvement in infection-related outcomes in treated patients. Indeed, several studies have shown that rapamycin is able to inhibit viral replication in a number of models, including CMV, EBV, and HIV (209-212).

However, a seminal study in 2009 demonstrated that mTOR inhibition with rapamycin could paradoxically enhance cytotoxic $CD8^+$ T cell memory generation in a model of acute infection (213). These findings were then extended to non-human primates in a study in which sirolimus treatment during prime-boost vaccination with modified Vaccinia Ankara (MVA) led to an increased number of virus-specific IFN- γ producing CD8⁺ T cells (214). In addition to the

immunostimulatory effects of rapamycin on CD8⁺ T cell responses to pathogen infection, rapamycin is also able to enhance tumor-specific responses. Rapamycin treatment enhanced tumor protection in a homeostatic-proliferation induced memory model (215), and also enhanced protection following vaccination with tumor antigen (216). Given that rapamycin had historically been utilized as an immunosuppressant and anti-proliferative, these results came as a surprise to the transplant community. A study by Ferrer and colleagues used a transgenic mouse system to compare the effects of rapamycin in the setting of a pathogen infection to its effects following transplantation, using a modified *Listeria monocytogenes* modified to express chicken ovalbumin (OVA), as well as transgenic mOVA mice that constitutively express OVA under the B-actin promoter. This allowed the investigators to compare the effects of rapamycin on a target population of OT-I T cells engineered to express a TCR specific for OVA. By directly comparison of the effects of rapamycin in these different inflammatory settings while controlling for differences in antigen or TCR affinity, this study demonstrated that while rapamycin enhanced the quantity and quality of CD8⁺ T cell responses to pathogen infection, it failed to do so in the setting of a graft (217), indicating that the context in which rapamycin is administered can determine its effects on T cell responses.

The mechanism by which mTOR inhibition is able to augment pathogen- and tumorspecific responses can be explained through the lens of CD8⁺ T cell differentiation. mTOR signaling affects various aspects of CD8⁺ T cell biology, especially the expression of homing receptors such as CD62L and CCR7, as well as transcription factors Tbet and Eomesodermin. Hypotheses of exactly how CD8⁺ T cells differentiate from naïve cells to effector to memory differ, but most models suggest that this process occurs on a gradient and is dependent on cumulative signals received from TCR, costimulation, and cytokines, especially IL-2, and that increasing strength or duration of these signals leads cells to lose memory potential and adopt a more "terminal effector" phenotype with a limited ability to survive long-term (218, 219). Rapamycin may function to reduce the overall amount of differentiation signaling that occurs within these cells, allowing them to maintain a more memory-like phenotype, with increased proliferative and survival capacity (220, 221), and the transcription factors Tbet and Eomesodermin play a critical role in this process. These molecules cooperate during early T cell activation to induce key gene expression for T cell migration and effector function, including CXCR3, CXCR4, granzyme B, and perforin (222, 223). Eomesodermin in particular has been shown to be directly responsible for transcription of CD122, responsible for responsiveness to IL-15, a key cytokine in CD8⁺ T cell memory (224). Studies investigating the effect of rapamycin on the expression of these markers have shown that treatment with rapamycin enhances the ratio of Eomesodermin to Tbet, which enhances the generation of memory rather than effector lineages (225). In terms of migratory ability, naïve $CD8^+$ T cells express high amounts of CD62L and CCR7, which allows them to home to secondary lymphoid organs, where their ligands are highly expressed and increases the likelihood of encountering cognate antigen presenting by dendritic cells (226). mTOR signaling following activation, through costimulatory molecules and other receptors, induces a downregulation of these markers, which allows these activated effectors to migrate out of lymphoid organs to peripheral sites. Rapamycin treatment allows CD8⁺ T cells to retain expression of CD62L and CCR7 and home to these secondary lymphoid organs, which may help in generating high quality central memory-like T cells (227). It is hypothesized that antigen persistence or differences in inflammatory milieu are responsible for the differential effect of rapamycin on pathogen versus graft specific responses; however, further studies are needed to fully delineate this dichotomous phenomenon.

CD8⁺ T Cell Metabolism and Cell Fate

Another finding to emerge from studies of the pro-memory effects of mTOR inhibition on CD8⁺ T cell responses to pathogen infection was the integral role of T cell metabolism on these responses. Naïve CD8⁺ T cells are a metabolically quiescent population, relying mainly on oxidative phosphorylation to generate ATP. However, when activated, T cells must rapidly adjust
their metabolism to meet the bioenergetic demands required by the extensive proliferation the takes place during the expansion phase of the immune response. This switch to mainly glycolytic ATP production, also known as the Warburg effect (228), is not as efficient as oxidative phosphorylation, but is necessary to produce biochemical intermediates necessary for growing and dividing cells. Following the peak of an infection, T cells undergo a massive contraction phase, wherein 90-95% of the expanded effector T cell population undergoes apoptosis, and a small fraction of this population survives this phase and forms a stable, long-lived memory population (218). However, in order to maintain itself, this memory population must again adjust metabolically back to predominantly oxidative phosphorylation, as the glycolytic phenotype is not sustainable (229).

One of the first studies to address the link between metabolism and T cell memory demonstrated that by promoting fatty acid oxidation, either through the use of rapamycin or metformin, could potentiate memory formation (230). Follow up studies further delineated the metabolic differences in various steps in T cell differentiation. While naïve and memory T cells were generally more oxidative and effector T cells were more glycolytic, the most notable difference was the enhanced spare respiratory capacity (SRC) of memory T cells compared to both naïve and effector cells (231). SRC in this setting is defined as the difference between baseline oxygen consumption and this same measure following uncoupling of ATP production from electron transport chain with FCCP. An increase in SRC indicates that memory cells have a greater mitochondrial potential, which allows cells to cope with situations of environmental stress and may be important for long-term survival of this cell population (232). While one of the mechanisms by which rapamycin may enhance memory generation is through increasing the spare respiratory capacity of CD8⁺ T cells, this has yet to be demonstrated experimentally. However, several reports have demonstrated that rapamycin does dramatically affect metabolism by mimicking signals similar to amino acid deprivation and promoting fatty acid oxidation (233-235), and thus these effects may be partly responsible for rapamycin's immunostimulatory effects.

Conclusions

Immunomodulation strategies have advanced significantly since the dawn of clinical transplantation, and graft and patient survival are at all time highs. However, significant challenges remain in extending the long-term survival of allografts and balancing immunosuppression to preserve protective immunity. Mechanistic study of the underlying immunologic processes involved will allow for more targeted immunotherapy and better patient outcomes following organ transplantation.

References

- 1. Kahan BD. Pien Ch'iao, the legendary exchange of hearts, traditional Chinese medicine, and the modern era of cyclosporine. *Transplant Proc.* 1988;20(2 Suppl 2):2-12.
- Kahan BD. Cosmas and Damian revisited. *Transplant Proc.* 1983;15(4 Suppl 1-2):2211 6.
- 3. Crawford AZ, Patel DV, and McGhee C. A brief history of corneal transplantation: From ancient to modern. *Oman J Ophthalmol.* 2013;6(Suppl 1):S12-7.
- Carrel D. [Operative Technic of Vascular Anastomoses and Visceral Transplantation].
 Lyon Med. 1964;212(1561-8.
- 5. Starzl TE. History of clinical transplantation. *World J Surg.* 2000;24(7):759-82.
- Owen RD. Immunogenetic Consequences of Vascular Anastomoses between Bovine Twins. *Science*. 1945;102(2651):400-1.
- Billingham RE, Brent L, and Medawar PB. Actively acquired tolerance of foreign cells. *Nature*. 1953;172(4379):603-6.
- 8. Merrill JP, Murray JE, Harrison JH, and Guild WR. Successful homotransplantation of the human kidney between identical twins. *J Am Med Assoc.* 1956;160(4):277-82.
- 9. Elion GB. The George Hitchings and Gertrude Elion Lecture. The pharmacology of azathioprine. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1993;685(400-7.
- Nathan HC, Bieber S, Elion GB, and Hitchings GH. Detection of agents which interfere with the immune response. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med.* 1961;107(796-9.
- 11. Calne RY, Alexandre GP, and Murray JE. A study of the effects of drugs in prolonging survival of homologous renal transplants in dogs. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1962;99(743-61.
- Starzl TE, Marchioro TL, and Waddell WR. The Reversal of Rejection in Human Renal Homografts with Subsequent Development of Homograft Tolerance. *Surg Gynecol Obstet.* 1963;117(385-95.

- McGregor DD, and Gowans JL. The Antibody Response of Rats Depleted of Lymphocytes by Chronic Drainage from the Thoracic Duct. *J Exp Med.* 1963;117(2):303-20.
- McGregor DD, and Gowans JL. Survival of Homografts of Skin in Rats Depleted of Lymphocytes by Chronic Drainage from the Thoracic Duct. *Lancet.* 1964;1(7334):629-32.
- 15. Iwasaki Y, Porter KA, Amend JR, Marchioro TL, Zuhlke V, and Starzl TE. The preparation and testing of horse antidog and antihuman antilymphoid plasma or serum and its protein fractions. *Surg Gynecol Obstet*. 1967;124(1):1-24.
- Starzl TE, Marchioro TL, Porter KA, Iwasaki Y, and Cerilli GJ. The use of heterologous antilymphoid agents in canine renal and liver homotransplantation and in human renal homotransplantation. *Surg Gynecol Obstet.* 1967;124(2):301-8.
- Kohler G, and Milstein C. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. *Nature*. 1975;256(5517):495-7.
- Norman DJ. Mechanisms of action and overview of OKT3. *Ther Drug Monit*. 1995;17(6):615-20.
- Borel JF. Comparative study of in vitro and in vivo drug effects on cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Immunology*. 1976;31(4):631-41.
- 20. Borel JF, Feurer C, Magnee C, and Stahelin H. Effects of the new anti-lymphocytic peptide cyclosporin A in animals. *Immunology*. 1977;32(6):1017-25.
- 21. Borel JF, Feurer C, Gubler HU, and Stahelin H. Biological effects of cyclosporin A: a new antilymphocytic agent. *Agents Actions*. 1976;6(4):468-75.
- Walsh CT, Zydowsky LD, and McKeon FD. Cyclosporin A, the cyclophilin class of peptidylprolyl isomerases, and blockade of T cell signal transduction. *J Biol Chem*. 1992;267(19):13115-8.

- Calne RY, White DJ, Thiru S, Evans DB, McMaster P, Dunn DC, Craddock GN, Pentlow BD, and Rolles K. Cyclosporin A in patients receiving renal allografts from cadaver donors. *Lancet.* 1978;2(8104-5):1323-7.
- Calne RY, Rolles K, White DJ, Thiru S, Evans DB, McMaster P, Dunn DC, Craddock GN, Henderson RG, Aziz S, et al. Cyclosporin A initially as the only immunosuppressant in 34 recipients of cadaveric organs: 32 kidneys, 2 pancreases, and 2 livers. *Lancet*. 1979;2(8151):1033-6.
- 25. Lamb KE, Lodhi S, and Meier-Kriesche HU. Long-term renal allograft survival in the United States: a critical reappraisal. *Am J Transplant*. 2011;11(3):450-62.
- Johnson JG, and Jenkins MK. Accessory cell-derived signals required for T cell activation. *Immunol Res.* 1993;12(1):48-64.
- Jenkins MK, and Schwartz RH. Antigen presentation by chemically modified splenocytes induces antigen-specific T cell unresponsiveness in vitro and in vivo. *J Exp Med.* 1987;165(2):302-19.
- Jenkins MK, Taylor PS, Norton SD, and Urdahl KB. CD28 delivers a costimulatory signal involved in antigen-specific IL-2 production by human T cells. *J Immunol*. 1991;147(8):2461-6.
- Harding FA, McArthur JG, Gross JA, Raulet DH, and Allison JP. CD28-mediated signalling co-stimulates murine T cells and prevents induction of anergy in T-cell clones. *Nature*. 1992;356(6370):607-9.
- 30. Salomon B, and Bluestone JA. Complexities of CD28/B7: CTLA-4 costimulatory pathways in autoimmunity and transplantation. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2001;19(225-52.
- Norton SD, Zuckerman L, Urdahl KB, Shefner R, Miller J, and Jenkins MK. The CD28 ligand, B7, enhances IL-2 production by providing a costimulatory signal to T cells. *J Immunol.* 1992;149(5):1556-61.

- Fraser JD, Irving BA, Crabtree GR, and Weiss A. Regulation of interleukin-2 gene enhancer activity by the T cell accessory molecule CD28. *Science*. 1991;251(4991):3136.
- Lindstein T, June CH, Ledbetter JA, Stella G, and Thompson CB. Regulation of lymphokine messenger RNA stability by a surface-mediated T cell activation pathway. *Science*. 1989;244(4902):339-43.
- Viola A, Schroeder S, Sakakibara Y, and Lanzavecchia A. T lymphocyte costimulation mediated by reorganization of membrane microdomains. *Science*. 1999;283(5402):680-2.
- Brunet JF, Denizot F, Luciani MF, Roux-Dosseto M, Suzan M, Mattei MG, and Golstein
 P. A new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily--CTLA-4. *Nature*.
 1987;328(6127):267-70.
- Linsley PS, Brady W, Urnes M, Grosmaire LS, Damle NK, and Ledbetter JA. CTLA-4 is a second receptor for the B cell activation antigen B7. *J Exp Med.* 1991;174(3):561-9.
- 37. Linsley PS, Wallace PM, Johnson J, Gibson MG, Greene JL, Ledbetter JA, Singh C, and Tepper MA. Immunosuppression in vivo by a soluble form of the CTLA-4 T cell activation molecule. *Science*. 1992;257(5071):792-5.
- 38. Turka LA, Linsley PS, Lin H, Brady W, Leiden JM, Wei RQ, Gibson ML, Zheng XG, Myrdal S, Gordon D, et al. T-cell activation by the CD28 ligand B7 is required for cardiac allograft rejection in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1992;89(22):11102-5.
- Sayegh MH, and Turka LA. The role of T-cell costimulatory activation pathways in transplant rejection. *N Engl J Med.* 1998;338(25):1813-21.
- 40. Russell ME, Hancock WW, Akalin E, Wallace AF, Glysing-Jensen T, Willett TA, and Sayegh MH. Chronic cardiac rejection in the LEW to F344 rat model. Blockade of CD28-B7 costimulation by CTLA4Ig modulates T cell and macrophage activation and attenuates arteriosclerosis. *J Clin Invest*. 1996;97(3):833-8.

- Azuma H, Chandraker A, Nadeau K, Hancock WW, Carpenter CB, Tilney NL, and Sayegh MH. Blockade of T-cell costimulation prevents development of experimental chronic renal allograft rejection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 1996;93(22):12439-44.
- 42. Kirk AD, Harlan DM, Armstrong NN, Davis TA, Dong Y, Gray GS, Hong X, Thomas D, Fechner JH, Jr., and Knechtle SJ. CTLA4-Ig and anti-CD40 ligand prevent renal allograft rejection in primates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1997;94(16):8789-94.
- 43. Levisetti MG, Padrid PA, Szot GL, Mittal N, Meehan SM, Wardrip CL, Gray GS, Bruce DS, Thistlethwaite JR, Jr., and Bluestone JA. Immunosuppressive effects of human CTLA4Ig in a non-human primate model of allogeneic pancreatic islet transplantation. *J Immunol.* 1997;159(11):5187-91.
- Larsen CP, Pearson TC, Adams AB, Tso P, Shirasugi N, Strobert E, Anderson D, Cowan S, Price K, Naemura J, et al. Rational development of LEA29Y (belatacept), a high-affinity variant of CTLA4-Ig with potent immunosuppressive properties. *Am J Transplant.* 2005;5(3):443-53.
- 45. Vincenti F, Larsen C, Durrbach A, Wekerle T, Nashan B, Blancho G, Lang P, Grinyo J,
 Halloran PF, Solez K, et al. Costimulation blockade with belatacept in renal
 transplantation. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;353(8):770-81.
- Vincenti F, Charpentier B, Vanrenterghem Y, Rostaing L, Bresnahan B, Darji P, Massari P, Mondragon-Ramirez GA, Agarwal M, Di Russo G, et al. A phase III study of belatacept-based immunosuppression regimens versus cyclosporine in renal transplant recipients (BENEFIT study). *Am J Transplant.* 2010;10(3):535-46.
- 47. Grinyo J, Charpentier B, Pestana JM, Vanrenterghem Y, Vincenti F, Reyes-Acevedo R, Apanovitch AM, Gujrathi S, Agarwal M, Thomas D, et al. An integrated safety profile analysis of belatacept in kidney transplant recipients. *Transplantation*. 2010;90(12):1521-7.

- Nourse JP, Jones K, and Gandhi MK. Epstein-Barr Virus-related post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders: pathogenetic insights for targeted therapy. *Am J Transplant.* 2011;11(5):888-95.
- Adams AB, Pearson TC, and Larsen CP. Heterologous immunity: an overlooked barrier to tolerance. *Immunol Rev.* 2003;196(147-60.
- 50. Wojciechowski D, and Vincenti F. Belatacept in kidney transplantation. *Curr Opin Organ Transplant.* 2012;17(6):640-7.
- 51. Zhang T, Fresnay S, Welty E, Sangrampurkar N, Rybak E, Zhou H, Cheng XF, Feng Q,
 Avon C, Laaris A, et al. Selective CD28 blockade attenuates acute and chronic rejection of murine cardiac allografts in a CTLA-4-dependent manner. *Am J Transplant*. 2011;11(8):1599-609.
- 52. Poirier N, Azimzadeh AM, Zhang T, Dilek N, Mary C, Nguyen B, Tillou X, Wu G, Reneaudin K, Hervouet J, et al. Inducing CTLA-4-dependent immune regulation by selective CD28 blockade promotes regulatory T cells in organ transplantation. *Sci Transl Med.* 2010;2(17):17ra0.
- Poirier N, Mary C, Dilek N, Hervouet J, Minault D, Blancho G, and Vanhove B.
 Preclinical efficacy and immunological safety of FR104, an antagonist anti-CD28 monovalent Fab' antibody. *Am J Transplant.* 2012;12(10):2630-40.
- 54. Suntharalingam G, Perry MR, Ward S, Brett SJ, Castello-Cortes A, Brunner MD, and Panoskaltsis N. Cytokine storm in a phase 1 trial of the anti-CD28 monoclonal antibody TGN1412. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(10):1018-28.
- 55. Pinelli DF, Wagener ME, Liu D, Yamniuk A, Tamura J, Grant S, Larsen CP, Suri A, Nadler SG, and Ford ML. An Anti-CD154 Domain Antibody Prolongs Graft Survival and Induces Foxp3 iTreg in the Absence and Presence of CTLA-4 Ig. *Am J Transplant*. 2013.

- Bluestone JA, Liu W, Yabu JM, Laszik ZG, Putnam A, Belingheri M, Gross DM, Townsend RM, and Vincenti F. The effect of costimulatory and interleukin 2 receptor blockade on regulatory T cells in renal transplantation. *Am J Transplant*. 2008;8(10):2086-96.
- 57. Riella LV, Liu T, Yang J, Chock S, Shimizu T, Mfarrej B, Batal I, Xiao X, Sayegh MH, and Chandraker A. Deleterious effect of CTLA4-Ig on a Treg-dependent transplant model. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(4):846-55.
- Grewal IS, and Flavell RA. CD40 and CD154 in cell-mediated immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 1998;16(111-35.
- 59. Noelle RJ, Roy M, Shepherd DM, Stamenkovic I, Ledbetter JA, and Aruffo A. A 39-kDa protein on activated helper T cells binds CD40 and transduces the signal for cognate activation of B cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1992;89(14):6550-4.
- Caux C, Massacrier C, Vanbervliet B, Dubois B, Van Kooten C, Durand I, and Banchereau J. Activation of human dendritic cells through CD40 cross-linking. *J Exp Med.* 1994;180(4):1263-72.
- Cella M, Scheidegger D, Palmer-Lehmann K, Lane P, Lanzavecchia A, and Alber G. Ligation of CD40 on dendritic cells triggers production of high levels of interleukin-12 and enhances T cell stimulatory capacity: T-T help via APC activation. *J Exp Med.* 1996;184(2):747-52.
- Parker DC, Greiner DL, Phillips NE, Appel MC, Steele AW, Durie FH, Noelle RJ,
 Mordes JP, and Rossini AA. Survival of mouse pancreatic islet allografts in recipients treated with allogeneic small lymphocytes and antibody to CD40 ligand. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1995;92(21):9560-4.
- 63. Larsen CP, Alexander DZ, Hollenbaugh D, Elwood ET, Ritchie SC, Aruffo A, HendrixR, and Pearson TC. CD40-gp39 interactions play a critical role during allograft rejection.

Suppression of allograft rejection by blockade of the CD40-gp39 pathway. *Transplantation*. 1996;61(1):4-9.

- 64. Larsen CP, Elwood ET, Alexander DZ, Ritchie SC, Hendrix R, Tucker-Burden C, Cho HR, Aruffo A, Hollenbaugh D, Linsley PS, et al. Long-term acceptance of skin and cardiac allografts after blocking CD40 and CD28 pathways. *Nature*. 1996;381(6581):434-8.
- 65. Kirk AD, Burkly LC, Batty DS, Baumgartner RE, Berning JD, Buchanan K, Fechner JH, Jr., Germond RL, Kampen RL, Patterson NB, et al. Treatment with humanized monoclonal antibody against CD154 prevents acute renal allograft rejection in nonhuman primates. *Nat Med.* 1999;5(6):686-93.
- Kawai T, Andrews D, Colvin RB, Sachs DH, and Cosimi AB. Thromboembolic
 complications after treatment with monoclonal antibody against CD40 ligand. *Nat Med.* 2000;6(2):114.
- 67. Law CL, and Grewal IS. Therapeutic interventions targeting CD40L (CD154) and CD40: the opportunities and challenges. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2009;647(8-36.
- 68. Sidiropoulos PI, and Boumpas DT. Lessons learned from anti-CD40L treatment in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Lupus*. 2004;13(5):391-7.
- Vincenti F. What's in the pipeline? New immunosuppressive drugs in transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2002;2(10):898-903.
- 70. Boumpas DT, Furie R, Manzi S, Illei GG, Wallace DJ, Balow JE, Vaishnaw A, and Group BGLNT. A short course of BG9588 (anti-CD40 ligand antibody) improves serologic activity and decreases hematuria in patients with proliferative lupus glomerulonephritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2003;48(3):719-27.
- Schuler W, Bigaud M, Brinkmann V, Di Padova F, Geisse S, Gram H, Hungerford V,
 Kleuser B, Kristofic C, Menninger K, et al. Efficacy and safety of ABI793, a novel

human anti-human CD154 monoclonal antibody, in cynomolgus monkey renal allotransplantation. *Transplantation*. 2004;77(5):717-26.

- 72. Knosalla C, Ryan DJ, Moran K, Gollackner B, Schuler W, Sachs DH, Awwad M, Schuurman HJ, and Cooper DK. Initial experience with the human anti-human CD154 monoclonal antibody, ABI793, in pig-to-baboon xenotransplantation. *Xenotransplantation*. 2004;11(4):353-60.
- Kanmaz T, Fechner JJ, Jr., Torrealba J, Kim HT, Dong Y, Oberley TD, Schultz JM,
 Bloom DD, Katayama M, Dar W, et al. Monotherapy with the novel human anti-CD154
 monoclonal antibody ABI793 in rhesus monkey renal transplantation model.
 Transplantation. 2004;77(6):914-20.
- 74. Buhler L, Alwayn IP, Appel JZ, 3rd, Robson SC, and Cooper DK. Anti-CD154 monoclonal antibody and thromboembolism. *Transplantation*. 2001;71(3):491.
- 75. Koyama I, Kawai T, Andrews D, Boskovic S, Nadazdin O, Wee SL, Sogawa H, Wu DL, Smith RN, Colvin RB, et al. Thrombophilia associated with anti-CD154 monoclonal antibody treatment and its prophylaxis in nonhuman primates. *Transplantation*. 2004;77(3):460-2.
- 76. Roth GA, Zuckermann A, Klepetko W, Wolner E, Ankersmit HJ, Moser B, and Volf I. Thrombophilia associated with anti-CD154 monoclonal antibody treatment and its prophylaxis in nonhuman primates. *Transplantation*. 2004;78(8):1238-9; author reply 9.
- Haanstra KG, Ringers J, Sick EA, Ramdien-Murli S, Kuhn EM, Boon L, and Jonker M.
 Prevention of kidney allograft rejection using anti-CD40 and anti-CD86 in primates.
 Transplantation. 2003;75(5):637-43.
- 78. Lowe M, Badell IR, Thompson P, Martin B, Leopardi F, Strobert E, Price AA, Abdulkerim HS, Wang R, Iwakoshi NN, et al. A novel monoclonal antibody to CD40 prolongs islet allograft survival. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(8):2079-87.

- 79. Badell IR, Thompson PW, Turner AP, Russell MC, Avila JG, Cano JA, Robertson JM, Leopardi FV, Strobert EA, Iwakoshi NN, et al. Nondepleting anti-CD40-based therapy prolongs allograft survival in nonhuman primates. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(1):126-35.
- Pearson TC, Trambley J, Odom K, Anderson DC, Cowan S, Bray R, Lin A, Hollenbaugh D, Aruffo A, Siadak AW, et al. Anti-CD40 therapy extends renal allograft survival in rhesus macaques. *Transplantation*. 2002;74(7):933-40.
- Goldwater R, Keirns J, Blahunka P, First R, Sawamoto T, Zhang W, Kowalski D, Kaibara A, and Holman J. A phase 1, randomized ascending single-dose study of antagonist anti-human CD40 ASKP1240 in healthy subjects. *Am J Transplant*. 2013;13(4):1040-6.
- Henn V, Slupsky JR, Grafe M, Anagnostopoulos I, Forster R, Muller-Berghaus G, and Kroczek RA. CD40 ligand on activated platelets triggers an inflammatory reaction of endothelial cells. *Nature*. 1998;391(6667):591-4.
- Andre P, Prasad KS, Denis CV, He M, Papalia JM, Hynes RO, Phillips DR, and Wagner DD. CD40L stabilizes arterial thrombi by a beta3 integrin--dependent mechanism. *Nat Med.* 2002;8(3):247-52.
- Inwald DP, McDowall A, Peters MJ, Callard RE, and Klein NJ. CD40 is constitutively expressed on platelets and provides a novel mechanism for platelet activation. *Circ Res.* 2003;92(9):1041-8.
- 85. Ankersmit HJ, Roth GA, Moser B, Zuckermann A, Brunner M, Rosin C, Buchta C,
 Bielek E, Schmid W, Jensen-Jarolim E, et al. CD32-mediated platelet aggregation in vitro
 by anti-thymocyte globulin: implication of therapy-induced in vivo thrombocytopenia. *Am J Transplant*. 2003;3(6):754-9.
- 86. Newman PM, and Chong BH. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: new evidence for the dynamic binding of purified anti-PF4-heparin antibodies to platelets and the resultant platelet activation. *Blood.* 2000;96(1):182-7.

- 87. Langer F, Ingersoll SB, Amirkhosravi A, Meyer T, Siddiqui FA, Ahmad S, Walker JM, Amaya M, Desai H, and Francis JL. The role of CD40 in CD40L- and antibody-mediated platelet activation. *Thromb Haemost.* 2005;93(6):1137-46.
- Robles-Carrillo L, Meyer T, Hatfield M, Desai H, Davila M, Langer F, Amaya M, Garber E, Francis JL, Hsu YM, et al. Anti-CD40L immune complexes potently activate platelets in vitro and cause thrombosis in FCGR2A transgenic mice. *J Immunol.* 2010;185(3):1577-83.
- Monk NJ, Hargreaves RE, Marsh JE, Farrar CA, Sacks SH, Millrain M, Simpson E,
 Dyson J, and Jurcevic S. Fc-dependent depletion of activated T cells occurs through
 CD40L-specific antibody rather than costimulation blockade. *Nat Med.* 2003;9(10):1275-80.
- 90. Daley SR, Cobbold SP, and Waldmann H. Fc-disabled anti-mouse CD40L antibodies retain efficacy in promoting transplantation tolerance. *Am J Transplant*.
 2008;8(11):2265-71.
- 91. Ferrant JL, Benjamin CD, Cutler AH, Kalled SL, Hsu YM, Garber EA, Hess DM, Shapiro RI, Kenyon NS, Harlan DM, et al. The contribution of Fc effector mechanisms in the efficacy of anti-CD154 immunotherapy depends on the nature of the immune challenge. *Int Immunol.* 2004;16(11):1583-94.
- 92. Nimmerjahn F, Bruhns P, Horiuchi K, and Ravetch JV. FcgammaRIV: a novel FcR with distinct IgG subclass specificity. *Immunity*. 2005;23(1):41-51.
- 93. Baudino L, Shinohara Y, Nimmerjahn F, Furukawa J, Nakata M, Martinez-Soria E, Petry F, Ravetch JV, Nishimura S, and Izui S. Crucial role of aspartic acid at position 265 in the CH2 domain for murine IgG2a and IgG2b Fc-associated effector functions. *J Immunol.* 2008;181(9):6664-9.
- 94. Clynes RA, Towers TL, Presta LG, and Ravetch JV. Inhibitory Fc receptors modulate in vivo cytotoxicity against tumor targets. *Nat Med.* 2000;6(4):443-6.

- Nimmerjahn F, and Ravetch JV. Fcgamma receptors as regulators of immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2008;8(1):34-47.
- 96. Takai T. Roles of Fc receptors in autoimmunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2002;2(8):580-92.
- Nimmerjahn F, and Ravetch JV. Antibody-mediated modulation of immune responses. *Immunol Rev.* 2010;236(265-75.
- 98. Tzeng SJ, Bolland S, Inabe K, Kurosaki T, and Pierce SK. The B cell inhibitory Fc receptor triggers apoptosis by a novel c-Abl family kinase-dependent pathway. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280(42):35247-54.
- 99. Li F, Smith P, and Ravetch JV. Inhibitory Fcgamma receptor is required for the maintenance of tolerance through distinct mechanisms. *J Immunol.* 2014;192(7):3021-8.
- 100. Xiang Z, Cutler AJ, Brownlie RJ, Fairfax K, Lawlor KE, Severinson E, Walker EU, Manz RA, Tarlinton DM, and Smith KG. FcgammaRIIb controls bone marrow plasma cell persistence and apoptosis. *Nat Immunol.* 2007;8(4):419-29.
- 101. Wirth TC, Xue HH, Rai D, Sabel JT, Bair T, Harty JT, and Badovinac VP. Repetitive antigen stimulation induces stepwise transcriptome diversification but preserves a core signature of memory CD8(+) T cell differentiation. *Immunity*. 2010;33(1):128-40.
- Starbeck-Miller GR, Badovinac VP, Barber DL, and Harty JT. Cutting edge: Expression of FcgammaRIIB tempers memory CD8 T cell function in vivo. *J Immunol.* 2014;192(1):35-9.
- 103. Wood KJ, Bushell AR, and Jones ND. The discovery of immunological tolerance: now more than just a laboratory solution. *J Immunol.* 2010;184(1):3-4.
- Halasz NA, Orloff MJ, and Hirose F. Increased Survival of Renal Homografts in Dogs after Injection of Graft Donor Blood. *Transplantation*. 1964;2(453-8.
- 105. Fabre JW, and Morris PJ. The effect of donor strain blood pretreatment on renal allograft rejection in rats. *Transplantation*. 1972;14(5):608-17.

- 106. Glass NR, Miller DT, Sollinger HW, and Belzer FO. A four-year experience with donor blood transfusion protocols for living-donor renal transplantation. *Transplantation*. 1985;39(6):615-9.
- 107. Pearson TC, Madsen JC, Larsen CP, Morris PJ, and Wood KJ. Induction of transplantation tolerance in adults using donor antigen and anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody. *Transplantation*. 1992;54(3):475-83.
- Qin SX, Cobbold S, Benjamin R, and Waldmann H. Induction of classical transplantation tolerance in the adult. *J Exp Med.* 1989;169(3):779-94.
- 109. Benichou G, Nadazdin O, Cosimi AB, and Kawai T. Successful tolerance to fully MHC disparate renal allografts via donor hematopoietic mixed chimerism in non-human primates. *Am J Transplant*. 2013;13(9):2500.
- Marti HP, Henschkowski J, Laux G, Vogt B, Seiler C, Opelz G, and Frey FJ. Effect of donor-specific transfusions on the outcome of renal allografts in the cyclosporine era. *Transpl Int.* 2006;19(1):19-26.
- 111. Wood KJ, Bushell A, and Jones ND. Immunologic unresponsiveness to alloantigen in vivo: a role for regulatory T cells. *Immunol Rev.* 2011;241(1):119-32.
- Wood KJ, Bushell A, and Hester J. Regulatory immune cells in transplantation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2012;12(6):417-30.
- Gershon RK, and Kondo K. Cell interactions in the induction of tolerance: the role of thymic lymphocytes. *Immunology*. 1970;18(5):723-37.
- 114. Gershon RK, and Kondo K. Infectious immunological tolerance. *Immunology*. 1971;21(6):903-14.
- 115. Kronenberg M, Steinmetz M, Kobori J, Kraig E, Kapp JA, Pierce CW, Sorensen CM, Suzuki G, Tada T, and Hood L. RNA transcripts for I-J polypeptides are apparently not encoded between the I-A and I-E subregions of the murine major histocompatibility complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1983;80(18):5704-8.

- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, and Toda M. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25).
 Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. *J Immunol.* 1995;155(3):1151-64.
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, and Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol.* 2003;4(4):330-6.
- 118. Minami Y, Kono T, Miyazaki T, and Taniguchi T. The IL-2 receptor complex: its structure, function, and target genes. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 1993;11(245-68.
- 119. Pandiyan P, Zheng L, Ishihara S, Reed J, and Lenardo MJ. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4+ T cells. *Nat Immunol.* 2007;8(12):1353-62.
- 120. Takahashi T, Tagami T, Yamazaki S, Uede T, Shimizu J, Sakaguchi N, Mak TW, and Sakaguchi S. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells constitutively expressing cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4. *J Exp Med*. 2000;192(2):303-10.
- Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, Yamaguchi T, Miyara M, Fehervari Z, Nomura T, and Sakaguchi S. CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function. *Science*. 2008;322(5899):271-5.
- 122. Qureshi OS, Zheng Y, Nakamura K, Attridge K, Manzotti C, Schmidt EM, Baker J, Jeffery LE, Kaur S, Briggs Z, et al. Trans-endocytosis of CD80 and CD86: a molecular basis for the cell-extrinsic function of CTLA-4. *Science*. 2011;332(6029):600-3.
- 123. Grohmann U, Orabona C, Fallarino F, Vacca C, Calcinaro F, Falorni A, Candeloro P, Belladonna ML, Bianchi R, Fioretti MC, et al. CTLA-4-Ig regulates tryptophan catabolism in vivo. *Nat Immunol.* 2002;3(11):1097-101.
- 124. Kobie JJ, Shah PR, Yang L, Rebhahn JA, Fowell DJ, and Mosmann TR. T regulatory and primed uncommitted CD4 T cells express CD73, which suppresses effector CD4 T cells

by converting 5'-adenosine monophosphate to adenosine. *J Immunol.* 2006;177(10):6780-6.

- 125. Deaglio S, Dwyer KM, Gao W, Friedman D, Usheva A, Erat A, Chen JF, Enjyoji K, Linden J, Oukka M, et al. Adenosine generation catalyzed by CD39 and CD73 expressed on regulatory T cells mediates immune suppression. *J Exp Med.* 2007;204(6):1257-65.
- Huang CT, Workman CJ, Flies D, Pan X, Marson AL, Zhou G, Hipkiss EL, Ravi S, Kowalski J, Levitsky HI, et al. Role of LAG-3 in regulatory T cells. *Immunity*. 2004;21(4):503-13.
- 127. Sarris M, Andersen KG, Randow F, Mayr L, and Betz AG. Neuropilin-1 expression on regulatory T cells enhances their interactions with dendritic cells during antigen recognition. *Immunity*. 2008;28(3):402-13.
- McHugh RS, Whitters MJ, Piccirillo CA, Young DA, Shevach EM, Collins M, and Byrne MC. CD4(+)CD25(+) immunoregulatory T cells: gene expression analysis reveals a functional role for the glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor. *Immunity*. 2002;16(2):311-23.
- Yu X, Harden K, Gonzalez LC, Francesco M, Chiang E, Irving B, Tom I, Ivelja S, Refino CJ, Clark H, et al. The surface protein TIGIT suppresses T cell activation by promoting the generation of mature immunoregulatory dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol.* 2009;10(1):48-57.
- 130. Hara M, Kingsley CI, Niimi M, Read S, Turvey SE, Bushell AR, Morris PJ, Powrie F, and Wood KJ. IL-10 is required for regulatory T cells to mediate tolerance to alloantigens in vivo. *J Immunol.* 2001;166(6):3789-96.
- 131. Rubtsov YP, Rasmussen JP, Chi EY, Fontenot J, Castelli L, Ye X, Treuting P, Siewe L, Roers A, Henderson WR, Jr., et al. Regulatory T cell-derived interleukin-10 limits inflammation at environmental interfaces. *Immunity*. 2008;28(4):546-58.

- Li MO, Wan YY, and Flavell RA. T cell-produced transforming growth factor-beta1 controls T cell tolerance and regulates Th1- and Th17-cell differentiation. *Immunity*. 2007;26(5):579-91.
- 133. Piccirillo CA, Letterio JJ, Thornton AM, McHugh RS, Mamura M, Mizuhara H, and Shevach EM. CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells can mediate suppressor function in the absence of transforming growth factor beta1 production and responsiveness. *J Exp Med.* 2002;196(2):237-46.
- 134. Collison LW, Workman CJ, Kuo TT, Boyd K, Wang Y, Vignali KM, Cross R, Sehy D, Blumberg RS, and Vignali DA. The inhibitory cytokine IL-35 contributes to regulatory T-cell function. *Nature*. 2007;450(7169):566-9.
- 135. Grossman WJ, Verbsky JW, Barchet W, Colonna M, Atkinson JP, and Ley TJ. Human T regulatory cells can use the perforin pathway to cause autologous target cell death. *Immunity*. 2004;21(4):589-601.
- Joffre O, Santolaria T, Calise D, Al Saati T, Hudrisier D, Romagnoli P, and van Meerwijk JP. Prevention of acute and chronic allograft rejection with CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T lymphocytes. *Nat Med.* 2008;14(1):88-92.
- 137. Bushell A, Morris PJ, and Wood KJ. Transplantation tolerance induced by antigen pretreatment and depleting anti-CD4 antibody depends on CD4+ T cell regulation during the induction phase of the response. *Eur J Immunol.* 1995;25(9):2643-9.
- Kingsley CI, Karim M, Bushell AR, and Wood KJ. CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells prevent graft rejection: CTLA-4- and IL-10-dependent immunoregulation of alloresponses. *J Immunol.* 2002;168(3):1080-6.
- Bushell A, and Wood K. GITR ligation blocks allograft protection by induced
 CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells without enhancing effector T-cell function. *Am J Transplant*. 2007;7(4):759-68.

- 140. Feng G, Wood KJ, and Bushell A. Interferon-gamma conditioning ex vivo generates CD25+CD62L+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells that prevent allograft rejection: potential avenues for cellular therapy. *Transplantation*. 2008;86(4):578-89.
- 141. Nadig SN, Wieckiewicz J, Wu DC, Warnecke G, Zhang W, Luo S, Schiopu A, Taggart DP, and Wood KJ. In vivo prevention of transplant arteriosclerosis by ex vivo-expanded human regulatory T cells. *Nat Med.* 2010;16(7):809-13.
- 142. Francis RS, Feng G, Tha-In T, Lyons IS, Wood KJ, and Bushell A. Induction of transplantation tolerance converts potential effector T cells into graft-protective regulatory T cells. *Eur J Immunol.* 2011;41(3):726-38.
- 143. Ochando JC, Homma C, Yang Y, Hidalgo A, Garin A, Tacke F, Angeli V, Li Y, Boros P, Ding Y, et al. Alloantigen-presenting plasmacytoid dendritic cells mediate tolerance to vascularized grafts. *Nat Immunol.* 2006;7(6):652-62.
- 144. Ferrer IR, Wagener ME, Song M, Kirk AD, Larsen CP, and Ford ML. Antigen-specific induced Foxp3+ regulatory T cells are generated following CD40/CD154 blockade. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2011;108(51):20701-6.
- 145. Tang Q, Henriksen KJ, Boden EK, Tooley AJ, Ye J, Subudhi SK, Zheng XX, Strom TB, and Bluestone JA. Cutting edge: CD28 controls peripheral homeostasis of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol.* 2003;171(7):3348-52.
- 146. Zhang R, Huynh A, Whitcher G, Chang J, Maltzman JS, and Turka LA. An obligate cellintrinsic function for CD28 in Tregs. *J Clin Invest.* 2013;123(2):580-93.
- 147. Tang AL, Teijaro JR, Njau MN, Chandran SS, Azimzadeh A, Nadler SG, Rothstein DM, and Farber DL. CTLA4 expression is an indicator and regulator of steady-state CD4+ FoxP3+ T cell homeostasis. *J Immunol.* 2008;181(3):1806-13.
- Josefowicz SZ, Lu LF, and Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells: mechanisms of differentiation and function. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2012;30(531-64.

- Welsh RM, and Selin LK. No one is naive: the significance of heterologous T-cell immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2002;2(6):417-26.
- Felix NJ, and Allen PM. Specificity of T-cell alloreactivity. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2007;7(12):942-53.
- 151. Macdonald WA, Chen Z, Gras S, Archbold JK, Tynan FE, Clements CS, Bharadwaj M, Kjer-Nielsen L, Saunders PM, Wilce MC, et al. T cell allorecognition via molecular mimicry. *Immunity*. 2009;31(6):897-908.
- 152. Amir AL, D'Orsogna LJ, Roelen DL, van Loenen MM, Hagedoorn RS, de Boer R, van der Hoorn MA, Kester MG, Doxiadis, II, Falkenburg JH, et al. Allo-HLA reactivity of virus-specific memory T cells is common. *Blood.* 2010;115(15):3146-57.
- Macedo C, Orkis EA, Popescu I, Elinoff BD, Zeevi A, Shapiro R, Lakkis FG, and Metes
 D. Contribution of naive and memory T-cell populations to the human alloimmune
 response. *Am J Transplant.* 2009;9(9):2057-66.
- 154. Adams AB, Williams MA, Jones TR, Shirasugi N, Durham MM, Kaech SM, Wherry EJ, Onami T, Lanier JG, Kokko KE, et al. Heterologous immunity provides a potent barrier to transplantation tolerance. *J Clin Invest.* 2003;111(12):1887-95.
- 155. Pantenburg B, Heinzel F, Das L, Heeger PS, and Valujskikh A. T cells primed by Leishmania major infection cross-react with alloantigens and alter the course of allograft rejection. *J Immunol.* 2002;169(7):3686-93.
- 156. Yang H, and Welsh RM. Induction of alloreactive cytotoxic T cells by acute virus infection of mice. *J Immunol*. 1986;136(4):1186-93.
- 157. Heutinck KM, Yong S, Tonneijck L, van den Heuvel H, van der Weerd NC, van der Pant KA, Bemelman FJ, Claas FH, and Ten Berge IJ. Virus-specific CD8 T-cells cross-reactive to donor-alloantigen are transiently present in the circulation of kidney transplant recipients infected with CMV and/or EBV. *Am J Transplant*. 2015.

- 158. Mifsud NA, Nguyen TH, Tait BD, and Kotsimbos TC. Quantitative and functional diversity of cross-reactive EBV-specific CD8+ T cells in a longitudinal study cohort of lung transplant recipients. *Transplantation*. 2010;90(12):1439-49.
- 159. Lanzavecchia A, and Sallusto F. Dynamics of T lymphocyte responses: intermediates, effectors, and memory cells. *Science*. 2000;290(5489):92-7.
- 160. Masopust D, Ha SJ, Vezys V, and Ahmed R. Stimulation history dictates memory CD8 T cell phenotype: implications for prime-boost vaccination. *J Immunol.* 2006;177(2):831-9.
- London CA, Lodge MP, and Abbas AK. Functional responses and costimulator dependence of memory CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol.* 2000;164(1):265-72.
- 162. Valujskikh A, Pantenburg B, and Heeger PS. Primed allospecific T cells prevent the effects of costimulatory blockade on prolonged cardiac allograft survival in mice. *Am J Transplant*. 2002;2(6):501-9.
- 163. Zhai Y, Meng L, Gao F, Busuttil RW, and Kupiec-Weglinski JW. Allograft rejection by primed/memory CD8+ T cells is CD154 blockade resistant: therapeutic implications for sensitized transplant recipients. *J Immunol.* 2002;169(8):4667-73.
- 164. Nadazdin O, Boskovic S, Murakami T, Tocco G, Smith RN, Colvin RB, Sachs DH, Allan J, Madsen JC, Kawai T, et al. Host alloreactive memory T cells influence tolerance to kidney allografts in nonhuman primates. *Sci Transl Med.* 2011;3(86):86ra51.
- 165. Weaver TA, Charafeddine AH, Agarwal A, Turner AP, Russell M, Leopardi FV, Kampen RL, Stempora L, Song M, Larsen CP, et al. Alefacept promotes co-stimulation blockade based allograft survival in nonhuman primates. *Nat Med.* 2009;15(7):746-9.
- 166. Heeger PS, Greenspan NS, Kuhlenschmidt S, Dejelo C, Hricik DE, Schulak JA, and Tary-Lehmann M. Pretransplant frequency of donor-specific, IFN-gamma-producing lymphocytes is a manifestation of immunologic memory and correlates with the risk of posttransplant rejection episodes. *J Immunol.* 1999;163(4):2267-75.

- 167. Karuthu S, and Blumberg EA. Common infections in kidney transplant recipients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2012;7(12):2058-70.
- 168. Ahmed EB, Wang T, Daniels M, Alegre ML, and Chong AS. IL-6 induced by Staphylococcus aureus infection prevents the induction of skin allograft acceptance in mice. *Am J Transplant*. 2011;11(5):936-46.
- 169. Welsh RM, Markees TG, Woda BA, Daniels KA, Brehm MA, Mordes JP, Greiner DL, and Rossini AA. Virus-induced abrogation of transplantation tolerance induced by donorspecific transfusion and anti-CD154 antibody. *J Virol.* 2000;74(5):2210-8.
- 170. Patel R, and Paya CV. Infections in solid-organ transplant recipients. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 1997;10(1):86-124.
- 171. Brennan DC. Cytomegalovirus in renal transplantation. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2001;12(4):848-55.
- 172. Beam E, and Razonable RR. Cytomegalovirus in solid organ transplantation: epidemiology, prevention, and treatment. *Curr Infect Dis Rep.* 2012;14(6):633-41.
- 173. Kuypers DR. Management of polyomavirus-associated nephropathy in renal transplant recipients. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2012;8(7):390-402.
- 174. Hirsch HH, Randhawa P, and Practice ASTIDCo. BK polyomavirus in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13 Suppl 4(179-88.
- 175. Cohen JI. Epstein-Barr virus infection. *N Engl J Med.* 2000;343(7):481-92.
- 176. Hanto DW. Classification of Epstein-Barr virus-associated posttransplant lymphoproliferative diseases: implications for understanding their pathogenesis and developing rational treatment strategies. *Annu Rev Med.* 1995;46(381-94.
- 177. Ho M, Jaffe R, Miller G, Breinig MK, Dummer JS, Makowka L, Atchison RW, Karrer F, Nalesnik MA, and Starzl TE. The frequency of Epstein-Barr virus infection and associated lymphoproliferative syndrome after transplantation and its manifestations in children. *Transplantation*. 1988;45(4):719-27.

- Allen U, Preiksaitis J, and Practice ASTIDCo. Epstein-barr virus and posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder in solid organ transplant recipients. *Am J Transplant*. 2009;9 Suppl 4(S87-96.
- Rickinson AB, and Moss DJ. Human cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses to Epstein-Barr virus infection. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 1997;15(405-31.
- 180. Smets F, Latinne D, Bazin H, Reding R, Otte JB, Buts JP, and Sokal EM. Ratio between Epstein-Barr viral load and anti-Epstein-Barr virus specific T-cell response as a predictive marker of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease. *Transplantation*. 2002;73(10):1603-10.
- Barton E, Mandal P, and Speck SH. Pathogenesis and host control of gammaherpesviruses: lessons from the mouse. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2011;29(351-97.
- 182. Hanto DW, Frizzera G, Gajl-Peczalska KJ, Sakamoto K, Purtilo DT, Balfour HH, Jr., Simmons RL, and Najarian JS. Epstein-Barr virus-induced B-cell lymphoma after renal transplantation: acyclovir therapy and transition from polyclonal to monoclonal B-cell proliferation. *N Engl J Med.* 1982;306(15):913-8.
- 183. Shapiro RS, Chauvenet A, McGuire W, Pearson A, Craft AW, McGlave P, and Filipovich A. Treatment of B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders with interferon alfa and intravenous gamma globulin. *N Engl J Med.* 1988;318(20):1334.
- 184. Choquet S, Leblond V, Herbrecht R, Socie G, Stoppa AM, Vandenberghe P, Fischer A, Morschhauser F, Salles G, Feremans W, et al. Efficacy and safety of rituximab in B-cell post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorders: results of a prospective multicenter phase 2 study. *Blood.* 2006;107(8):3053-7.
- 185. Oertel SH, Verschuuren E, Reinke P, Zeidler K, Papp-Vary M, Babel N, Trappe RU, Jonas S, Hummel M, Anagnostopoulos I, et al. Effect of anti-CD 20 antibody rituximab in patients with post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD). *Am J Transplant*. 2005;5(12):2901-6.

- 186. Savoldo B, Goss JA, Hammer MM, Zhang L, Lopez T, Gee AP, Lin YF, Quiros-Tejeira RE, Reinke P, Schubert S, et al. Treatment of solid organ transplant recipients with autologous Epstein Barr virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs). *Blood.* 2006;108(9):2942-9.
- 187. Haque T, Wilkie GM, Jones MM, Higgins CD, Urquhart G, Wingate P, Burns D, McAulay K, Turner M, Bellamy C, et al. Allogeneic cytotoxic T-cell therapy for EBVpositive posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disease: results of a phase 2 multicenter clinical trial. *Blood.* 2007;110(4):1123-31.
- 188. Vezina C, Kudelski A, and Sehgal SN. Rapamycin (AY-22,989), a new antifungal antibiotic. I. Taxonomy of the producing streptomycete and isolation of the active principle. J Antibiot (Tokyo). 1975;28(10):721-6.
- 189. Chiu MI, Katz H, and Berlin V. RAPT1, a mammalian homolog of yeast Tor, interacts with the FKBP12/rapamycin complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1994;91(26):12574-8.
- Brown EJ, Albers MW, Shin TB, Ichikawa K, Keith CT, Lane WS, and Schreiber SL. A mammalian protein targeted by G1-arresting rapamycin-receptor complex. *Nature*. 1994;369(6483):756-8.
- Wullschleger S, Loewith R, and Hall MN. TOR signaling in growth and metabolism.*Cell.* 2006;124(3):471-84.
- Ma XM, and Blenis J. Molecular mechanisms of mTOR-mediated translational control. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2009;10(5):307-18.
- Zoncu R, Efeyan A, and Sabatini DM. mTOR: from growth signal integration to cancer, diabetes and ageing. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2011;12(1):21-35.
- 194. Sarbassov DD, Ali SM, Sengupta S, Sheen JH, Hsu PP, Bagley AF, Markhard AL, and Sabatini DM. Prolonged rapamycin treatment inhibits mTORC2 assembly and Akt/PKB. *Mol Cell*. 2006;22(2):159-68.

- 195. Hackstein H, Taner T, Zahorchak AF, Morelli AE, Logar AJ, Gessner A, and Thomson AW. Rapamycin inhibits IL-4--induced dendritic cell maturation in vitro and dendritic cell mobilization and function in vivo. *Blood.* 2003;101(11):4457-63.
- 196. Monti P, Mercalli A, Leone BE, Valerio DC, Allavena P, and Piemonti L. Rapamycin impairs antigen uptake of human dendritic cells. *Transplantation*. 2003;75(1):137-45.
- 197. Lai JH, and Tan TH. CD28 signaling causes a sustained down-regulation of I kappa B alpha which can be prevented by the immunosuppressant rapamycin. *J Biol Chem*. 1994;269(48):30077-80.
- Waickman AT, and Powell JD. mTOR, metabolism, and the regulation of T-cell differentiation and function. *Immunol Rev.* 2012;249(1):43-58.
- 199. Delgoffe GM, Pollizzi KN, Waickman AT, Heikamp E, Meyers DJ, Horton MR, Xiao B, Worley PF, and Powell JD. The kinase mTOR regulates the differentiation of helper T cells through the selective activation of signaling by mTORC1 and mTORC2. *Nat Immunol.* 2011;12(4):295-303.
- 200. Delgoffe GM, Kole TP, Zheng Y, Zarek PE, Matthews KL, Xiao B, Worley PF, Kozma SC, and Powell JD. The mTOR kinase differentially regulates effector and regulatory T cell lineage commitment. *Immunity*. 2009;30(6):832-44.
- Battaglia M, Stabilini A, and Roncarolo MG. Rapamycin selectively expands
 CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ regulatory T cells. *Blood.* 2005;105(12):4743-8.
- 202. Gao W, Lu Y, El Essawy B, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK, and Strom TB. Contrasting effects of cyclosporine and rapamycin in de novo generation of alloantigen-specific regulatory T cells. *Am J Transplant*. 2007;7(7):1722-32.
- 203. Singh K, Kozyr N, Stempora L, Kirk AD, Larsen CP, Blazar BR, and Kean LS. Regulatory T cells exhibit decreased proliferation but enhanced suppression after pulsing with sirolimus. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(6):1441-57.
- 204. !!! INVALID CITATION !!! {Sehgal, 1995 #4026;Saunders, 2001 #3693}.

- 205. Saunders RN, Metcalfe MS, and Nicholson ML. Rapamycin in transplantation: a review of the evidence. *Kidney Int.* 2001;59(1):3-16.
- 206. Ozaki KS, Camara NO, Galante NZ, Camargo LF, and Pacheco-Silva A. Decreased Cytomegalovirus infection after antilymphocyte therapy in sirolimus-treated renal transplant patients. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2005;5(1):103-6.
- 207. Demopoulos L, Polinsky M, Steele G, Mines D, Blum M, Caulfield M, Adamkovic A, Liu Q, Harler MB, Hahn C, et al. Reduced risk of cytomegalovirus infection in solid organ transplant recipients treated with sirolimus: a pooled analysis of clinical trials. *Transplant Proc.* 2008;40(5):1407-10.
- 208. Haririan A, Morawski K, West MS, El-Amm JM, Doshi MD, Cincotta E, Alangaden GJ, Chandrasekar P, and Gruber SA. Sirolimus exposure during the early post-transplant period reduces the risk of CMV infection relative to tacrolimus in renal allograft recipients. *Clin Transplant.* 2007;21(4):466-71.
- 209. Poglitsch M, Weichhart T, Hecking M, Werzowa J, Katholnig K, Antlanger M, Krmpotic A, Jonjic S, Horl WH, Zlabinger GJ, et al. CMV late phase-induced mTOR activation is essential for efficient virus replication in polarized human macrophages. *Am J Transplant.* 2012;12(6):1458-68.
- Adamson AL, Le BT, and Siedenburg BD. Inhibition of mTORC1 inhibits lytic replication of Epstein-Barr virus in a cell-type specific manner. *Virol J.* 2014;11(110.
- 211. Roy J, Paquette JS, Fortin JF, and Tremblay MJ. The immunosuppressant rapamycin represses human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2002;46(11):3447-55.
- 212. Nichols LA, Adang LA, and Kedes DH. Rapamycin blocks production of KSHV/HHV8: insights into the anti-tumor activity of an immunosuppressant drug. *PLoS One*.
 2011;6(1):e14535.

- 213. Araki K, Turner AP, Shaffer VO, Gangappa S, Keller SA, Bachmann MF, Larsen CP, and Ahmed R. mTOR regulates memory CD8 T-cell differentiation. *Nature*.
 2009;460(7251):108-12.
- 214. Turner AP, Shaffer VO, Araki K, Martens C, Turner PL, Gangappa S, Ford ML, Ahmed R, Kirk AD, and Larsen CP. Sirolimus enhances the magnitude and quality of viral-specific CD8+ T-cell responses to vaccinia virus vaccination in rhesus macaques. *Am J Transplant.* 2011;11(3):613-8.
- 215. Li Q, Rao RR, Araki K, Pollizzi K, Odunsi K, Powell JD, and Shrikant PA. A central role for mTOR kinase in homeostatic proliferation induced CD8+ T cell memory and tumor immunity. *Immunity*. 2011;34(4):541-53.
- 216. Wang Y, Wang XY, Subjeck JR, Shrikant PA, and Kim HL. Temsirolimus, an mTOR inhibitor, enhances anti-tumour effects of heat shock protein cancer vaccines. *Br J Cancer*. 2011;104(4):643-52.
- 217. Ferrer IR, Wagener ME, Robertson JM, Turner AP, Araki K, Ahmed R, Kirk AD, Larsen CP, and Ford ML. Cutting edge: Rapamycin augments pathogen-specific but not graft-reactive CD8+ T cell responses. *J Immunol.* 2010;185(4):2004-8.
- Kaech SM, and Cui W. Transcriptional control of effector and memory CD8+ T cell differentiation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2012;12(11):749-61.
- 219. Kalia V, Sarkar S, Subramaniam S, Haining WN, Smith KA, and Ahmed R. Prolonged interleukin-2Ralpha expression on virus-specific CD8+ T cells favors terminal-effector differentiation in vivo. *Immunity*. 2010;32(1):91-103.
- 220. Araki K, Ellebedy AH, and Ahmed R. TOR in the immune system. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 2011;23(6):707-15.
- 221. Araki K, Youngblood B, and Ahmed R. The role of mTOR in memory CD8 T-cell differentiation. *Immunol Rev.* 2010;235(1):234-43.

- 222. Intlekofer AM, Takemoto N, Kao C, Banerjee A, Schambach F, Northrop JK, Shen H, Wherry EJ, and Reiner SL. Requirement for T-bet in the aberrant differentiation of unhelped memory CD8+ T cells. *J Exp Med.* 2007;204(9):2015-21.
- 223. Banerjee A, Gordon SM, Intlekofer AM, Paley MA, Mooney EC, Lindsten T, Wherry EJ, and Reiner SL. Cutting edge: The transcription factor eomesodermin enables CD8+ T cells to compete for the memory cell niche. *J Immunol.* 2010;185(9):4988-92.
- 224. Intlekofer AM, Takemoto N, Wherry EJ, Longworth SA, Northrup JT, Palanivel VR, Mullen AC, Gasink CR, Kaech SM, Miller JD, et al. Effector and memory CD8+ T cell fate coupled by T-bet and eomesodermin. *Nat Immunol.* 2005;6(12):1236-44.
- 225. Rao RR, Li Q, Odunsi K, and Shrikant PA. The mTOR kinase determines effector versus memory CD8+ T cell fate by regulating the expression of transcription factors T-bet and Eomesodermin. *Immunity*. 2010;32(1):67-78.
- 226. Tang ML, Steeber DA, Zhang XQ, and Tedder TF. Intrinsic differences in L-selectin expression levels affect T and B lymphocyte subset-specific recirculation pathways. J Immunol. 1998;160(10):5113-21.
- 227. Sinclair LV, Finlay D, Feijoo C, Cornish GH, Gray A, Ager A, Okkenhaug K,
 Hagenbeek TJ, Spits H, and Cantrell DA. Phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase and nutrient-sensing mTOR pathways control T lymphocyte trafficking. *Nat Immunol.* 2008;9(5):513-21.
- 228. Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, and Thompson CB. Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science*. 2009;324(5930):1029-33.
- Pearce EL, and Pearce EJ. Metabolic pathways in immune cell activation and quiescence. *Immunity.* 2013;38(4):633-43.
- 230. Pearce EL, Walsh MC, Cejas PJ, Harms GM, Shen H, Wang LS, Jones RG, and Choi Y. Enhancing CD8 T-cell memory by modulating fatty acid metabolism. *Nature*.
 2009;460(7251):103-7.

- 231. van der Windt GJ, Everts B, Chang CH, Curtis JD, Freitas TC, Amiel E, Pearce EJ, and Pearce EL. Mitochondrial respiratory capacity is a critical regulator of CD8+ T cell memory development. *Immunity*. 2012;36(1):68-78.
- 232. Nicholls DG. Spare respiratory capacity, oxidative stress and excitotoxicity. *Biochem Soc Trans.* 2009;37(Pt 6):1385-8.
- 233. Sipula IJ, Brown NF, and Perdomo G. Rapamycin-mediated inhibition of mammalian target of rapamycin in skeletal muscle cells reduces glucose utilization and increases fatty acid oxidation. *Metabolism.* 2006;55(12):1637-44.
- Brown NF, Stefanovic-Racic M, Sipula IJ, and Perdomo G. The mammalian target of rapamycin regulates lipid metabolism in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. *Metabolism*. 2007;56(11):1500-7.
- Peng T, Golub TR, and Sabatini DM. The immunosuppressant rapamycin mimics a starvation-like signal distinct from amino acid and glucose deprivation. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2002;22(15):5575-84.

Chapter 2

An Anti-CD154 Domain Antibody Prolongs Graft Survival and Induces FoxP3⁺ iTreg in the Absence and Presence of CTLA-4 Ig

Figure 2.1. Anti-CD154 domain antibodies are functionally equivalent to Fc-intact anti-CD154
mAbs
Figure 2.2. Activation and cytokine production of alloreactive T cells are diminished in the
presence of anti-CD154 dAbs
Figure 2.3. Anti-CD154 dAbs inhibit donor-reactive T cell expansion in response to a minor
antigen 75
Figure 2.4. Anti-CD154 dAbs reduce numbers of functional antigen-specific cells and prevent
differentiation into multiple cytokine producers
Figure 2.5. Administration of Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAbs results in antigen-specific iTreg
conversion
Figure 2.6. Fc-Silent Anti-CD154 dAbs results in iTreg generation even in the presence of
CTLA4-Ig
Figure S2.1. Fc-modified anti-CD154 dAb is deficient in Fc receptor binding

Abstract

The use of monoclonal antibodies targeting the CD154 molecule remains one of the most effective means of promoting graft tolerance in animal models, but thromboembolic complications during early clinical trials have precluded their use in humans. Furthermore, the role of Fc-mediated deletion of CD154-expressing cells in the observed efficacy of these reagents remains controversial. Therefore, determining the requirements for anti-CD154-induced tolerance will instruct the development of safer but equally efficacious treatments. To investigate the mechanisms of action of anti-CD154 therapy, two alternative means of targeting the CD40-CD154 pathway were used: a non-agonistic anti-CD40 antibody, and an Fc-silent anti-CD154 domain antibody. We compared these therapies to an Fc-intact anti-CD154 antibody in both a fully allogeneic model and a surrogate minor antigen model in which the fate of alloreactive cells could be tracked. Results indicated that anti-CD40 mAbs as well as Fc-silent anti-CD154 domain antibodies were equivalent to Fc-intact anti-CD154 mAbs in their ability to inhibit alloreactive T cell expansion, attenuate cytokine production of antigen-specific T cells, and promote the conversion of Foxp3⁺ iTreg. Importantly, iTreg conversion observed with Fc-silent anti-CD154 domain antibodies was preserved in the presence of CTLA4-Ig, suggesting this therapy is a promising candidate for translation to clinical use.

Introduction

Blockade of CD40-CD154 interactions during T cell priming has shown to be a highly effective means of inducing long-term survival of allografts and transplantation tolerance in both murine and non-human primate models (1, 2). However, the clinical potential of this therapy has yet to be realized due to the thromboembolic complications observed during clinical trials of an anti-CD154 monoclonal antibody (3). Thus, determination of the requirements needed to achieve this salutary effect would guide development of novel therapeutics targeting this pathway with improved safety profiles and potential for translation for clinical use.

The mechanisms by which anti-CD154 antibodies induce profound immunomodulation of donor-reactive T cell responses in animal models, resulting in long-term graft survival and in some cases tolerance, is still controversial. A previous report suggested that the tolerogenic effects of anti-CD154 antibodies were Fc- and complement-dependent (4). However, Daley and colleagues demonstrated that an aglycosylated form of anti-CD154, which exhibits reduced ability to bind Fc receptors and activate complement, was able to prolong graft survival as effectively as the glycosylated form (5). In addition, antibodies that target the CD40 molecule have also been shown to be efficacious in preventing alloreactivity in both mouse and non-human primates (6, 7). Therefore, our study aimed to directly compare the effects of an Fc-intact anti-CD154 antibody to both a non-agonistic anti-CD40 antibody as well as a clinically translatable Fc-silent anti-CD154 domain antibody (dAb). This novel reagent was generated by fusing a human anti-mouse CD154 V κ domain antibody to a mutated mouse IgG1 Fc (D265A), to abrogate FcgR interactions (8-10).

Accumulating evidence suggests that the presence of $CD4^+$ $CD25^+$ regulatory T cells (Treg) may be critical for the induction of graft tolerance (11, 12). Previous work by our group has shown that perturbation of the CD40-CD154 pathway with an Fc-intact anti-CD154 mAb antibody led to the generation of antigen-specific induced Treg (iTreg) (13). However, whether this conversion requires the deletion of alloreactive effector T cells or simply blockade of the

CD40-CD154 interaction remained unknown. Furthermore, previous studies demonstrated that CTLA4-Ig and Fc-intact anti-CD154 synergize to promote graft survival (2, 14), despite the known negative effect of CTLA4-Ig on Treg (15, 16). Therefore, we sought to determine if iTreg generation was preserved when CTLA4-Ig was given in combination with a potentially clinically translatable anti-CD154 dAb.

To address these issues, we employed both a fully allogeneic model of skin transplantation as well as a transgenic system of minor antigen disparity in which the non-self antigen ovalbumin (OVA) is constitutively expressed on donor-derived cells. We demonstrate that, relative to an Fc-intact anti-CD154 antibody, both anti-CD40 as well as Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAbs were able to comparably prolong graft survival, attenuate alloreactive cytokine production and promote robust iTreg conversion. Importantly, the iTreg conversion observed following anti-CD154 dAb treatment was preserved in the presence of CTLA4-Ig treatment, highlighting the potential synergy of these therapies. Taken together, these results suggest that blockade of the CD40-CD154 pathway, rather than Fc-mediated deletion of alloreactive cells, mechanistically underlies the attenuation of donor-reactive CD8⁺ T cell responses, induction of Foxp3⁺ iTreg, and prolongation in graft survival observed following CD154 domain antibodies may be translatable for use in clinical transplantation.

Materials and Methods

B6-Ly5.2/Cr (H2-K^b, CD45.1), C57BL/6 (H2-K^b, CD45.2), and BALB/c (H-2K^d) mice were obtained from NCI (Frederick, MD). OT-I and OT-II transgenic mice, purchased from Taconic Farms (Germantown, NY), were bred to Thy1.1⁺ background at Emory University. mOVA mice (17) were a gift from Dr. Marc Jenkins (University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN) and were maintained in accordance with Emory University IACUC guidelines (Atlanta, GA). All animals were housed in pathogen-free animal facilities at Emory University.

Donor Specific Transfusion and Adoptive Transfers

For DST administration, 10^7 BALB/c bone marrow cells or mOVA splenocytes were given prior to transplantation. For adoptive transfers, spleen and mesenteric LNs of OT-I and OT-II mice were processed and 1.5×10^6 of each CD45.2⁺ or Thy1.1⁺ OT-I and OT-II were injected intravenously.

Skin Transplantation and Antibody Treatment

Full thickness tail, ear, or trunk skins were transplanted onto dorsal thorax of recipient mice and secured with adhesive bandages. Where indicated, mice were treated with 250µg CTLA4-Ig (Bristol Myers Squibb), 250µg hamster monoclonal anti-mouse CD154 (MR-1, BioExpress, West Lebanon, NJ), rat anti-mouse CD40 (6) (7E1-G2b, Bristol Myers Squibb) or human anti-mouse CD154 Vk domain antibody fused to a mutated mouse IgG1 Fc (D265A) to abrogate FcgR interactions (Figure S1) (8-10) (Bristol Myers Squibb), intraperitoneally on days 0, 2, 4, and 6 post-transplantation.

Surface Stains and Flow Cytometry

Spleens or draining axillary and brachial LN were stained for CD4, CD8, Thy1.1, and CD44 (Biolegend). Samples were analyzed using an LSRII FACS machine (BD Biosciences). Data was analyzed using FlowJo software (Treestar, San Carlos, CA).

Intracellular Cytokine Staining

Where indicated, responder splenocytes were stimulated with BALB/c splenocytes or 10nM $OVA_{257-264}$ (Genscript, Inc.) in the presence of 10 µg/mL Brefeldin A for 4-5 hours. Intracellular staining kit was used to detect TNF, IFN- γ (Biolegend), and IL-2 (BD Biosciences) according to manufacturer's instructions.

Treg Staining

Splenocytes and draining lymph nodes were processed and stained with antibodies to CD4, CD8, Thy1.1 and CD25 (Biolegend). Intracellular staining with anti-Foxp3 was performed using intranuclear staining kit (eBiosciences), according to manufacturer's instructions.

Surface Plasmon Resonance

Surface Plasmon resonance (SPR) studies were performed on a Biacore T100 instrument (Biacore, GE Healthcare) at 25C, and data analysis was performed using BiacoreT100 evaluation software V2.0.2. Sensor surfaces were prepared by immobilizing 20 ug/ml Fab fragment from a murine anti-6XHis antibody (Bristol Myers Squibb) in 10 mM sodium acetate pH 4.5, on flow cells 1 and 2 of a CM5 sensor chip to a density of 3200 RU. 7 ug/ml of murine Fc receptors mCD64 (R&D Systems #2074-FC), mCD32b (R&D #1460-CD), mCD16 (R&D #1960-FC) and mCD16-2 (R&D #1974-CD) were captured on flow cell 2 using a contact time of 30 s at 10 ul/min, resulting in capture levels of ~550-900 RU. The binding of Fc-modified anti-CD154 dAb was evaluated in comparison to a positive control 97 kDa protein containing a wild type murine IgG2

Fc domain (protein-mIgG2A). Each protein was tested at 1 uM concentration using an association time of 120 s and a dissociation time of 180 s at 30 ul/min, and the surfaces were regenerated between cycles using 2 pulses of 10 mM glycine pH 2.5 for 15 s at 30 ul/min.

Statistical Analysis

Survival data were plotted on Kaplan-Meier curves and log-rank tests were performed. For analysis of T cell accumulation, one-way ANOVA tests were performed, followed by Tukey post-test. Analyses were done using GraphPad Prism software (GraphPad Software Inc).
Results

Anti-CD154 domain antibodies are functionally equivalent to Fc-intact anti-CD154 mAbs

We sought to investigate the requirements for CD40-CD154 immunotherapy-mediated survival by comparing the effects of an anti-CD40 mAb (7E1-G2b) vs. an Fc-modified anti-CD154 dAb that is unable to mediate any effector function (Figure S1) (10) vs. the traditional Fc-intact anti-CD154 mAb. We applied these therapies in a stringent BALB/ $c \rightarrow$ B6 model of murine skin transplantation. Control animals treated with CTLA4-Ig alone rapidly rejected their grafts with an MST of 15.5 d. In contrast, the addition of each reagent targeting the CD40-CD154 pathway significantly prolonged graft survival, with anti-CD154, anti-CD40 and anti-CD154 dAb extending MST to 33, 37 and 31 days, respectively (Fig 1A, B). Therefore, blockade of CD40-CD154 interactions with novel anti-CD154 dAbs for only the first 6 days post-transplantation is sufficient to prolong graft survival to a similar extent as Fc-intact anti-CD154 treatment.

Activation and cytokine production of alloreactive T cells are diminished in the presence of anti-CD154 dAbs

We next sought to obtain a more granular assessment of the impact of each therapeutic strategy on the alloreactive $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cell response following transplantation. B6 mice received BALB/c skin grafts and were treated with anti-CD154, anti-CD40 or Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAbs. At day 14 post-transplant, splenocytes were harvested and analyzed for expression of activation markers. Untreated mice developed a robust allogeneic response, as evidenced by the higher proportion of CD44-expressing CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells (26.3±0.8% and 34.7±2.2%), whereas mice treated with anti-CD154, anti-CD40 and Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAbs all showed significant reductions in these populations (Figure 2A, B). A large percentage of CD8⁺ T cells from untreated animals were able to make both interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) following ex vivo restimulation with BALB/c cells, whereas the cytokine production in animals treated with anti-CD154, anti-CD40 or Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAbs was significantly blunted (Figure 2C, D).

Anti-CD154 dAbs inhibit donor-reactive T cell expansion in response to a minor antigen

Using this fully allogeneic model, we were unable to determine if alloreactive cells were no longer present in these animals, or if they were present but simply unable to produce cytokines. In order to more fully dissect the mechanism by which these therapies act, we employed a system in which naïve OVA-specific congenically labeled $CD45.2^+$ OT-I and Thy1.1⁺ OT-II T cells were transferred to naïve mice that then received OVA-expressing skin grafts (Figure 3A). This model allows us to track the effect of CD40-CD154 blockade on the fate of antigen-specific cells following a skin graft (13, 18). We chose to focus on the expansion of donor-reactive $CD8^+$ T cells, as CD8⁺ cells have been shown to be the primary mediators of costimulation blockaderesistant rejection (19). As expected, untreated mice showed robust expansion of CD45.2⁺ CD8⁺ antigen-specific T cells in both the draining lymph nodes and spleen at day 11 post-transplant. Donor specific transfusion (DST) treatment alone only moderately attenuated this expansion. However, perturbation of the CD40 pathway resulted in a significant reduction in both the percentage and absolute numbers of donor-reactive CD8⁺ T cells in anti-CD154, anti-CD40, and Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAb-treated animals, and all treatments inhibited donor-reactive CD8⁺ T cell expansion to equivalent levels. Similar findings were also observed in the donor-reactive effector CD4⁺ Foxp3⁻T cell compartment in these animals (Figure 3B, C). These antigen-specific cells express a high level of CD44, indicating that they have undergone activation following encounter with antigen. Longitudinal studies have shown that the majority of these cells eventually undergo apoptosis (13), and that those remaining are subject to peripheral tolerance mechanisms including anergy and regulation (20). These results indicate that blocking CD40-CD154 interactions, rather than selective depletion of activated donor-reactive CD154⁺ T cells, is sufficient to prevent antigen-specific T cell expansion following transplantation.

Anti-CD154 dAbs reduce numbers of functional graft-specific CD8⁺ T cells and prevent differentiation into multi-cytokine producers

In order to determine whether donor-reactive CD8⁺ T cell functionality was similarly impacted by the three modalities of CD40 pathway antagonism, we examined donor-reactive CD8⁺ T cell compartments from treated animals following ex vivo stimulation with cognate antigen. Results showed that greater than 50% of donor-reactive CD8⁺ T cells in untreated animals produced IFN- γ following restimulation, and more than 30% produced both TNF and IFN- γ (Figure 4A, B). DST treatment alone resulted in a modest reduction in the ability of donor-reactive CD8⁺ T cells to produce cytokines, resulting in fewer double-cytokine producing cells. However, DST treatment combined with any of the three modalities of CD40 pathway antagonism further blunted this response. Each of the three modalities of CD40 pathway antagonism resulted in a decrease in the frequency of donor-reactive CD8⁺ T cells (Figure 4C), which have been shown to be highly potent mediators of graft rejection (21). Thus, in addition to reducing overall expansion of alloreactive cells, an Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAb functionally impairs the remaining cells, further diminishing their potential to mediate graft injury.

Administration of Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAbs results in antigen-specific iTreg generation

Previous results from our group and others have shown that treatment with DST and anti-CD154 leads to the peripheral conversion of donor-reactive CD4⁺ T cells into Foxp3⁺ iTreg, which may be important for the establishment of stable graft tolerance (11, 13). Therefore, we interrogated the ability of alternative CD40-CD154 blocking therapies to mediate this effect. We determined the frequency of Thy1.1⁺ CD4⁺ donor-reactive cells that converted from naïve CD4⁺ cells into CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺ Treg. Untreated animals showed a low frequency of donor-reactive Thy1.1⁺

CD4⁺ Foxp3⁺ iTreg in the draining lymph nodes by day 11, and DST treatment alone had no effect on the number of Thy1.1⁺ CD4⁺ Foxp3⁺ iTreg. As we have shown previously, treatment with Fc-intact anti-CD154 resulted in a significant peripheral conversion of donor-reactive Thy1.1⁺ CD4⁺ T cell precursors into Foxp3⁺CD25⁺ iTreg. Notably, similar frequencies of Thy1.1⁺ CD4⁺ Foxp3⁺ iTreg were observed in animals treated with anti-CD40 antibodies and Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAbs (Figure 5A, B). In addition, the ratio of Treg cells to effectors has been shown to be an important parameter in determining the overall suppressive capacity of Treg populations (22). Treatment with all three CD40 pathway antagonists increased the Treg:effector cell ratios for both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells (Figure 5C). Taken together, these results indicate that alternative CD40-CD154 blockade in the presence of antigen can result in donor-reactive Foxp3⁺ iTreg conversion and establishment of dominant regulatory mechanisms, which may be critical for the establishment of transplant tolerance.

Anti-CD154 dAbs results in iTreg generation even in the presence of CTLA4-Ig

Given the potential for clinical translation of Fc-silent anti-CD154 therapy and long-standing interest in combination therapy with CD28 costimulation blockade, we sought to determine the effect of CD28 blockade on CD154 antagonism-induced iTreg generation. This question was especially pertinent due to the known negative impact of CTLA4-Ig costimulation blockade on the frequency of Treg (15, 16). We found that the frequencies of endogenous CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺ nTreg were decreased when CTLA4-Ig was administered either alone or in combination with anti-CD154 dAbs (Figure 6A, B). Importantly, however, while CTLA4-Ig treatment alone showed no effect on iTreg conversion, anti-CD154 dAb-induced donor-reactive Thy1.1⁺ Foxp3⁺ iTreg conversion was preserved in the presence of CTLA4-Ig (Figure 6A, B). This preserved induction of antigen-specific Foxp3⁺ iTreg in the presence of CTLA4-Ig was similar to that observed when animals were treated with Fc-intact CD154 in the presence of CTLA4-Ig (data not shown).

We further investigated the relative expression levels of the transcription factor Helios within donor-reactive Thy1.1⁺ Foxp3⁺ iTreg generated following CD154 antagonism with anti-CD154 dAb. Early reports suggested that Helios was a marker of thymic-derived natural Treg (nTreg) (23), but subsequent studies have provided evidence to the contrary (24). Here, we observed high levels of Helios expression on both endogenous nTreg (Figure 6C, left panel) and donor-reactive Thy1.1⁺ Foxp3⁺ iTreg compartments (Figure 6C, right panels), supporting recent work suggesting that Helios is a marker of recent antigen encounter rather than a marker of nTregs (25). Helios expression was not affected by the addition of CTLA-4-Ig in the presence of anti-CD154 dAbs (Figure 6C).

Discussion

In this study, we demonstrated that blockade of CD40-CD154 interactions, as opposed to FcR-dependent deletion of activated CD154-expressing alloreactive effectors, is sufficient to prevent the expansion of alloreactive CD8⁺ T cells and promote the conversion of antigen-specific iTreg. This study therefore provides proof-of-concept that an Fc-silent anti-CD154 domain antibody may provide a clinically translatable treatment with comparable efficacy to an Fc-intact therapy. In addition, the results presented here are consistent with previous data showing that aglycosylated anti-CD154 antibodies recapitulated the effects of Fc-intact anti-CD154 reagents. However, generation of these reagents required a complicated "sewing PCR" technique, and large scale production of these reagents for clinical use may prove challenging. (5).

While our data suggest that it is blockade of CD40-CD154 interactions that is responsible for the attenuation of alloreactive T cell responses, the precise cellular interactions most critically impacted by CD40-CD154 blockade remain to be elucidated. While the most likely interaction inhibited by anti-CD154 antibody treatment is that between CD154 expressed on activated CD4⁺ T cells and CD40 expressed on dendritic cells or other APC, emerging data suggests that CD40-CD154 interactions between other cell types may be affected as well. Bhadra and colleagues have shown that CD40 expression on CD8⁺ T cells is potentially important in preventing their exhaustion (26). In addition, work from our group has indicated that CD40 expression on CD8⁺ T cells can prevent iTreg induction (27). A recent report also revealed that CD154 can be expressed on dendritic cells and is important for CD8⁺ T cell responses to certain viral infections (28). However, it is unknown if these interactions are relevant during alloreactive responses, and further studies will help clarify the individual cellular and molecular interactions inhibited by this antibody therapy.

Our data also revealed an Fc-independent ability of CD154 antagonism to result in the conversion of antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells into Foxp3⁺ iTreg. The phenomenon of antigen-specific iTreg generation following CD154 antagonism has been noted in previous studies (13,

29), but the mechanisms underlying this effect remain to be fully elucidated. Our results demonstrate for the first time that Fc-independent blockade of the CD40-CD154 pathway is sufficient to generate high frequencies of antigen-specific $CD4^+$ iTreg in the context of an alloreactive response. Further research is needed to compare the relative suppressive and migratory capacities of Foxp3⁺ Treg generated under these conditions.

Because we observed that one of the major effects of CD154 antagonism is to induce a population of Foxp3⁺ iTreg, we investigated the effect of CD28 blockade using CTLA4-Ig on these cells. We found that CD28 blockade had no effect on the induction of antigen-specific iTreg, which was somewhat surprising given the well-appreciated role of CD28 in the generation and maintenance of Foxp3⁺ nTreg, and the fact that CTLA4-Ig administration profoundly diminishes nTreg populations (15, 16). These data are potentially clinically important in light of the recent FDA approval of belatacept, a second-generation CTLA4-Ig fusion protein (30). While this drug provides a significant benefit over standard calcineurin-inhibitor based regimens due to its reduced cardiovascular and nephrotoxicity profile, patients treated with belatacept experienced higher rates of acute rejection (31). As such, there may be an opportunity to reduce the frequency of early rejection events in belatacept-treated patients by coupling it with other low toxicity T cell-directed immunotherapies. Indeed, numerous published reports over the last two decades have demonstrated in both mouse and non-human primate trials that anti-CD154 antibodies can synergize with CTLA4-Ig in attenuating alloreactivity and promoting graft survival (2, 14), Our data demonstrating antigen-specific CD4⁺ Foxp3⁺ iTreg generation in animals treated with both Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAbs and CTLA4-Ig provide further evidence that combinatorial use of these costimulation blockers may be beneficial in attenuating the alloreactive T cell response, and highlight the potential for these therapies to be used together to prolong graft survival following clinical transplantation.

Figure 2.1 Anti-CD154 domain antibodies are functionally equivalent to Fc-intact anti-CD154 mAbs.



Figure 2.1 Anti-CD154 domain antibodies are functionally equivalent to Fc-intact anti-CD154 mAbs. (A) On day 0, B6 mice were transplanted with BALB/c skin grafts and were treated with 10^7 BALB/c DST and/or 250 µg of CTLA4-Ig, MR-1, 7E1-G2b or CD154 dAbs where indicated. (B) Mice treated with CTLA4-Ig alone rejected skin grafts with an MST of 15.5 d. Addition of MR-1 prolonged MST to 33 days, whereas addition of 7E1-G2b or CD154 dAbs led to an MST of 37 and 31 days, respectively. Data are cumulative of three independent experiments with a total of fourteen to fifteen mice per group. *** p < 0.001 compared to CTLA4-Ig alone. Comparisons between MR-1, 7E1-G2b and CD154 dAbs were not statistically significant.

Figure 2.2. Activation and cytokine production of alloreactive T cells are diminished in the presence of anti-CD154 dAbs.



Figure 2.2. Activation and cytokine production of alloreactive T cells are diminished in the presence of anti-CD154 dAbs. (A) Representative histograms of CD44 expression on splenic CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells isolated from grafted mice at day 14. (B) Frequencies of CD44^{hi} cells among CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell populations. Treatment with MR-1, 7E1-G2b or CD154 dAbs results in the reduction of CD44 expression on both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells. (C) Representative flow plots of intracellular cytokine staining of recipient splenocytes, gated on CD8⁺ T cells. 10⁶ recipient splenocytes were incubated with 2x10⁶ BALB/c stimulator splenocytes for 5 hours and then fixed and permeabilized before being stained for FACS analysis. (D) Frequencies and absolute numbers of cytokine-producing CD8⁺ T cells. Treatment with MR-1, 7E1-G2b or CD154 dAbs results in the reduction of percentage of multicytokine producing CD8⁺ T cells. Data are cumulative of two separate experiments with a total of 8 to 10 mice per group. ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.

Figure 2.3. Anti-CD154 dAbs inhibit donor-reactive T cell expansion in response to a minor antigen.



С





DST* TELSOP DST * MR

Sone Her Contraction

DS1×CD15A



Figure 2.3. Anti-CD154 dAbs inhibit donor-reactive T cell expansion in response to a minor antigen. (A) Mice were adoptively transferred with 1.5×10^6 CD45.2⁺ CD8⁺ OT-I and 1.5×10^6 Thy1.1⁺ CD4⁺ OT-II T cells 2 days before transplantation. On day 0, mice were transplanted with mOVA SG and were treated with 10^7 mOVA DST and/or 250 µg of MR-1, 7E1-G2b or CD154 dAbs where indicated. Mice were sacrificed at day 11. (B-D) Representative flow plots of CD8⁺ T cells (B) and the frequencies and absolute numbers of antigen-specific CD8⁺ and effector CD4⁺ T cells at day 11 (C). DST treatment alone moderately diminished the frequency of antigenspecific CD8⁺ T cells, but the addition of MR-1, 7E1-G2b or the CD154 dAbs resulted in a significant reduction in the frequencies of these cells. Data are representative of four independent experiments with a total of fourteen to sixteen mice per group. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.

Figure 2.4. Anti-CD154 dAbs reduce numbers of functional antigen-specific cells and prevent differentiation into multiple cytokine producers.



Figure 2.4. Anti-CD154 dAbs reduce numbers of functional antigen-specific cells and prevent differentiation into multiple cytokine producers. (A) Representative flow plots of intracellular cytokine staining of splenic antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells harvested at day 11 and stimulated for 4 hours in vitro with SIINFEKL peptide. (B) Percentages and absolute numbers of IFN- γ producing antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells. Compared to DST alone, treatment with MR-1, 7E1-G2b or CD154 dAbs significantly reduced the frequency and absolute numbers of IFN- γ producing antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells in the spleen. (C) Frequencies of double cytokine producing antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells within each treatment group. Treatment with MR-1, 7E1-G2b or CD154 dAbs resulted in the reduction of percentage of multicytokine producing antigenspecific CD8⁺ T cells. Data are representative of three independent experiments with a total of eleven to twelve mice per group. *** p < 0.001.

Figure 2.5. Administration of Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAbs results in antigen-specific iTreg conversion.



Figure 2.5. Administration of Fc-silent anti-CD154 dAbs results in antigen-specific iTreg conversion. (A) Representative flow plots of $CD25^+$ Foxp3⁺ iTreg among antigen-specific Thy1.1⁺ CD4⁺ T cells in draining lymph nodes at day 11. (B) Summary data of percentages of $CD25^+$ Foxp3⁺ cells within the antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell compartment. Treatment with MR-1, 7E1-G2b or CD154 dAbs resulted in a significant increase in the percentage of antigen-specific iTregs. (C) Treg:Effector cell ratio for antigen-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in each treatment group. Treatment with MR-1, 7E1-G2b or CD154 dAbs results in a significant increases in the ratio of Tregs to both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ antigen-specific effector cells. Data are cumulative of two separate experiments with a total of eight to nine mice per group. *** p < 0.001.

Figure 2.6. Fc-Silent Anti-CD154 dAbs results in iTreg generation even in the presence of CTLA4-Ig.



81

Figure 2.6. Fc-Silent Anti-CD154 dAbs results in iTreg generation even in the presence of CTLA4-Ig. (A) Representative flow plots of total CD4⁺ T cells (top panels) and antigen-specific CD4⁺ (Thy1.1⁺) T cells (bottom panels) in draining lymph nodes at day 11, with gates on CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺ cells. (B) Percentages of CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺ cells within the total CD4⁺ T cell compartment and the antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell compartment. (C) Representative flow plots of Helios expression on total CD4⁺ T cells (left panel), as well as on total endogenous CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺ Treg (upper right panels) and antigen-specific Thy1.1⁺ iTreg (lower right panels). Data are cumulative of four separate experiments with a total of ten to fourteen mice per group. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.



Supplemental Figure 2.1. Fc-modified anti-CD154 dAb is deficient in Fc receptor binding.

Supplemental Figure 2.1. Fc-modified anti-CD154 dAb is deficient in Fc receptor binding. (A and B) Binding of antibodies to immobilized Fc receptors was measured by surface plasmon resonance. Antibodies were injected through flow cells containing the indicated immobilized murine Fc receptors. A 97 kDa positive control protein fused to a wild type mIgG2A Fc domain demonstrates efficient binding to his-tagged mCD64, mCD32b, mCD16, and mCD16-2, captured on an anti-his Fab surface (A), whereas no Fc receptor binding is observed for the Fc-modified anti-CD154 dAb (B).

References

- Kirk AD, Burkly LC, Batty DS, Baumgartner RE, Berning JD, Buchanan K, Fechner JH, Jr., Germond RL, Kampen RL, Patterson NB, et al. Treatment with humanized monoclonal antibody against CD154 prevents acute renal allograft rejection in nonhuman primates. *Nat Med.* 1999;5(6):686-93.
- Larsen CP, Elwood ET, Alexander DZ, Ritchie SC, Hendrix R, Tucker-Burden C, Cho HR, Aruffo A, Hollenbaugh D, Linsley PS, et al. Long-term acceptance of skin and cardiac allografts after blocking CD40 and CD28 pathways. *Nature*. 1996;381(6581):434-8.
- Kawai T, Andrews D, Colvin RB, Sachs DH, and Cosimi AB. Thromboembolic complications after treatment with monoclonal antibody against CD40 ligand. *Nat Med.* 2000;6(2):114.
- Monk NJ, Hargreaves RE, Marsh JE, Farrar CA, Sacks SH, Millrain M, Simpson E, Dyson J, and Jurcevic S. Fc-dependent depletion of activated T cells occurs through CD40L-specific antibody rather than costimulation blockade. *Nat Med.* 2003;9(10):1275-80.
- Daley SR, Cobbold SP, and Waldmann H. Fc-disabled anti-mouse CD40L antibodies retain efficacy in promoting transplantation tolerance. *Am J Transplant*. 2008;8(11):2265-71.
- Gilson CR, Milas Z, Gangappa S, Hollenbaugh D, Pearson TC, Ford ML, and Larsen CP. Anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody synergizes with CTLA4-Ig in promoting long-term graft survival in murine models of transplantation. *J Immunol.* 2009;183(3):1625-35.
- Haanstra KG, Ringers J, Sick EA, Ramdien-Murli S, Kuhn EM, Boon L, and Jonker M. Prevention of kidney allograft rejection using anti-CD40 and anti-CD86 in primates. *Transplantation*. 2003;75(5):637-43.

- Clynes RA, Towers TL, Presta LG, and Ravetch JV. Inhibitory Fc receptors modulate in vivo cytotoxicity against tumor targets. *Nat Med.* 2000;6(4):443-6.
- 9. Nimmerjahn F, Bruhns P, Horiuchi K, and Ravetch JV. FcgammaRIV: a novel FcR with distinct IgG subclass specificity. *Immunity*. 2005;23(1):41-51.
- Baudino L, Shinohara Y, Nimmerjahn F, Furukawa J, Nakata M, Martinez-Soria E, Petry F, Ravetch JV, Nishimura S, and Izui S. Crucial role of aspartic acid at position 265 in the CH2 domain for murine IgG2a and IgG2b Fc-associated effector functions. J Immunol. 2008;181(9):6664-9.
- Taylor PA, Noelle RJ, and Blazar BR. CD4(+)CD25(+) immune regulatory cells are required for induction of tolerance to alloantigen via costimulatory blockade. *J Exp Med.* 2001;193(11):1311-8.
- Quezada SA, Bennett K, Blazar BR, Rudensky AY, Sakaguchi S, and Noelle RJ. Analysis of the underlying cellular mechanisms of anti-CD154-induced graft tolerance: the interplay of clonal anergy and immune regulation. *J Immunol.* 2005;175(2):771-9.
- Ferrer IR, Wagener ME, Song M, Kirk AD, Larsen CP, and Ford ML. Antigen-specific induced Foxp3+ regulatory T cells are generated following CD40/CD154 blockade. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2011;108(51):20701-6.
- Kirk AD, Harlan DM, Armstrong NN, Davis TA, Dong Y, Gray GS, Hong X, Thomas D, Fechner JH, Jr., and Knechtle SJ. CTLA4-Ig and anti-CD40 ligand prevent renal allograft rejection in primates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1997;94(16):8789-94.
- Tang Q, Henriksen KJ, Boden EK, Tooley AJ, Ye J, Subudhi SK, Zheng XX, Strom TB, and Bluestone JA. Cutting edge: CD28 controls peripheral homeostasis of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol.* 2003;171(7):3348-52.
- Riella LV, Liu T, Yang J, Chock S, Shimizu T, Mfarrej B, Batal I, Xiao X, Sayegh MH, and Chandraker A. Deleterious effect of CTLA4-Ig on a Treg-dependent transplant model. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(4):846-55.

- Ehst BD, Ingulli E, and Jenkins MK. Development of a novel transgenic mouse for the study of interactions between CD4 and CD8 T cells during graft rejection. Am J Transplant. 2003;3(11):1355-62.
- Ford ML, Koehn BH, Wagener ME, Jiang W, Gangappa S, Pearson TC, and Larsen CP. Antigen-specific precursor frequency impacts T cell proliferation, differentiation, and requirement for costimulation. *J Exp Med.* 2007;204(2):299-309.
- Trambley J, Bingaman AW, Lin A, Elwood ET, Waitze SY, Ha J, Durham MM, Corbascio M, Cowan SR, Pearson TC, et al. Asialo GM1(+) CD8(+) T cells play a critical role in costimulation blockade-resistant allograft rejection. *J Clin Invest.* 1999;104(12):1715-22.
- Wang T, Chen L, Ahmed E, Ma L, Yin D, Zhou P, Shen J, Xu H, Wang CR, Alegre ML, et al. Prevention of allograft tolerance by bacterial infection with Listeria monocytogenes. *J Immunol.* 2008;180(9):5991-9.
- 21. Seder RA, Darrah PA, and Roederer M. T-cell quality in memory and protection: implications for vaccine design. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2008;8(4):247-58.
- 22. Wood KJ, Bushell A, and Hester J. Regulatory immune cells in transplantation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2012;12(6):417-30.
- 23. Thornton AM, Korty PE, Tran DQ, Wohlfert EA, Murray PE, Belkaid Y, and Shevach EM. Expression of Helios, an Ikaros transcription factor family member, differentiates thymic-derived from peripherally induced Foxp3+ T regulatory cells. *J Immunol.* 2010;184(7):3433-41.
- 24. Verhagen J, and Wraith DC. Comment on "Expression of Helios, an Ikaros transcription factor family member, differentiates thymic-derived from peripherally induced Foxp3+ T regulatory cells". *J Immunol.* 2010;185(12):7129; author reply 30.
- Gottschalk RA, Corse E, and Allison JP. Expression of Helios in peripherally induced Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol.* 2012;188(3):976-80.

- Bhadra R, Gigley JP, and Khan IA. Cutting edge: CD40-CD40 ligand pathway plays a critical CD8-intrinsic and -extrinsic role during rescue of exhausted CD8 T cells. J Immunol. 2011;187(9):4421-5.
- Liu D, Ferrer IR, Konomos M, and Ford ML. Inhibition of CD8+ T cell-derived CD40 signals is necessary but not sufficient for Foxp3+ induced regulatory T cell generation in vivo. *J Immunol.* 2013;191(4):1957-64.
- 28. Johnson S, Zhan Y, Sutherland RM, Mount AM, Bedoui S, Brady JL, Carrington EM, Brown LE, Belz GT, Heath WR, et al. Selected Toll-like receptor ligands and viruses promote helper-independent cytotoxic T cell priming by upregulating CD40L on dendritic cells. *Immunity*. 2009;30(2):218-27.
- Ochando JC, Homma C, Yang Y, Hidalgo A, Garin A, Tacke F, Angeli V, Li Y, Boros P, Ding Y, et al. Alloantigen-presenting plasmacytoid dendritic cells mediate tolerance to vascularized grafts. *Nat Immunol.* 2006;7(6):652-62.
- Vincenti F, Larsen C, Durrbach A, Wekerle T, Nashan B, Blancho G, Lang P, Grinyo J,
 Halloran PF, Solez K, et al. Costimulation blockade with belatacept in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(8):770-81.
- 31. Vincenti F, Charpentier B, Vanrenterghem Y, Rostaing L, Bresnahan B, Darji P, Massari P, Mondragon-Ramirez GA, Agarwal M, Di Russo G, et al. A phase III study of belatacept-based immunosuppression regimens versus cyclosporine in renal transplant recipients (BENEFIT study). *Am J Transplant*. 2010;10(3):535-46.

Chapter 3

The Inhibitory FcγRIIB Functionally Inhibits Donor-Reactive Memory CD8⁺ T Cell Responses Following Transplantation

Tigure 3.1. FcyRIIB deficient mice demonstrate accelerated graft rejection in the presence of
costimulation blockade
Figure 3.2. FcyRIIB deficiency does not alter baseline memory T cell compartments 105
<i>Tigure 3.3. Polyclonal allograft-specific</i> $CD8^+$ <i>T</i> cells upregulate <i>FcyRIIB</i> following
transplantation
Figure 3.4. Therapeutic blockade of FcyRIIB leads to enhanced memory recall responses to a
secondary graft rechallenge
Figure 3.5. FcyRIIB expression on memory $CD8^+$ T cells inversely correlates with resistance to
combined costimulation and integrin blockade111

Abstract

Fc receptors are a critical component of the adaptive immune system, binding to the constant portion of immunoglobulin molecules and mediating important effector mechanisms. T cells have long been thought to not express these receptors, but recent data suggests that memory T cells may express the inhibitor Fc receptor FcyRIIB. We observed the upregulation of FcyRIIB on both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells following a graft in both fully allogeneic and minor mismatch models of transplantation. Interestingly, most highly functional alloreactive cells capable of making TNF and IFN γ in response to ex vivo restimulation also coexpressed Fc γ RIIB, suggesting that this molecule may have evolved to regulate CD8⁺ T cell expansion and immunopathology. In addition, we observed that systemic blockade of FcyRIIB during an allograft rechallenge response enhanced memory CD8⁺ T cell recall expansion. We also observed that memory CD8⁺ T cells generated by different pathogen infections expressed varying amounts of FcyRIIB, and that this expression correlated with the resistance of these cell populations to combined costimulation and integrin blockade during a memory response. Taken together, these results indicate that FcyRIIB may be a novel coinhibitory pathway that regulates alloreactive T cell responses, and further work will determine whether or not FcyRIIB is functioning to intrinsically inhibit T cell responses in the context of primary and memory responses to allograft.

Introduction

The adaptive immune system has evolved as a critical component of protection against pathogen infection. However, due to the random nature of T and B cell receptor generation, several mechanisms exist to prevent unwanted immune responses directed against self-antigens. As detailed previously, central and peripheral tolerance to self is maintained in part by the socalled "two signal" model for T cell activation in which both TCR ligation and costimulatory molecule engagement are required to achieve full activation (1). However, costimulation is not simply a binary switch to activate or inhibit T cell activation; rather, the phenotype of a T cell response is determined by the overall balance of both signals received through both costimulatory molecules, such as CD28 and CD40, as well as coinhibitory molecules, such as CTLA4 and PD-1 (1).

T cells can mediate both acute and chronic allograft rejection, and the discovery of calcineurin inhibitors, a class of drugs that inhibit signaling downstream of the T cell receptor, has led to marked reduction in acute rejection and subsequent improvements in short term outcomes for solid organ recipients (2). However, the many off-target side effects, as well as the non-specific nature of this therapy, can result in significant morbidity and mortality in transplant recipients (3). Immunotherapeutic reagents targeting the CD28 costimulatory pathway have shown great promise as a less toxic means of preventing T cell responses (4-6), but costimulation blockade is less effective at inhibiting memory T cells, as these cells have a much lower activation threshold and require fewer costimulatory signals (7). Over a lifetime of exposure to various pathogens, humans develop large memory T cell populations, and studies have shown that these memory cells can often crossreact with alloantigens during transplantation (8, 9). Landmark work by Adams and colleagues showed that while combined blockade of the CD28 and CD40 costimulatory pathways could induce skin graft tolerance in naïve mice, these therapeutic regimens were ineffective in recipients that had previously been exposed to pathogen infection, and that pathogen-induced memory T cells were responsible for mediating this graft

rejection (10). A more recent study found that adding integrin blockade to a costimulation blockade regimen was able to effectively control crossreactive memory T cell-mediated rejection (11), but integrin antagonists are often not tolerated well by patients (12, 13). Thus, the identification of molecules and pathways that regulate memory T cells responses remains an important goal for immunotherapy in clinical transplantation.

Fc receptors are a heterogeneous group of transmembrane immunoglobulin family molecules that bind to antibody molecules and represent the effector arm of the humoral immune system. These receptors mediate a wide range of processes, including antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity, endocytosis of antigen-antibody immune complexes, cytokine and chemokine production, and B cell development and homeostasis (14). Much like T cell costimulatory and coinhibitory molecules, the balance of activating and inhibitory Fc receptor signaling determines the outcome of antibody engagement of these receptors. FcyRIIB is the only inhibitory Fc receptor and is conserved in both mice and humans. This receptor can inhibit intracellular signaling pathways, and this is dependent on the ITIM motif located in the cytoplasmic region. Following phosphorylation of this ITIM by the Src-family kinase LYN, the inhibitory phosphatase SHIP is recruited, which is responsible for downmodulating signaling pathways, including those mediated by the B cell receptor or activating Fc receptors (15, 16). FcyRIIB is expressed by many immune cell types, including B cells, dendritic cells, macrophages and granulocytes (15). While early immunology literature speculated that T cells may express some form of Fc receptor (17-19), the general consensus for the past few decades has been that T cells do not express this class of receptor (14).

Previous studies in our lab indicated that FcγRIIB^{-/-} mice reject primary skin grafts faster than their wild type counterparts in the presence of CTLA4-Ig (20). Here, we sought to define the mechanisms underlying this accelerated rejection. While there are numerous reports indicating that FcγRIIB deficient mice make abnormal humoral immune responses and demonstrate altered antigen presentation (21-23), our data reveal that CTLA4-Ig effectively inhibited graft-specific antibody formation in both WT and $Fc\gamma RIIB^{-/-}$ animals. Instead, we found that $Fc\gamma RIIB$ was upregulated on memory T cells in these animals following transplantation, corroborating recently published data showing that antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells responding to both bacterial and viral infection expressed this molecule on the cell surface, and this expression was maintained at a high level in memory T cells (24, 25). Our data suggest a functional role for $Fc\gamma RIIB$ on CD8⁺ T cells during transplantation, and implicate $Fc\gamma RIIB$ as a novel coinhibitory pathway that regulates alloreactive T cell responses.

Materials and Methods

B6-Ly5.2/Cr (H2-K^b, CD45.1), C57BL/6 (H2-K^b, CD45.2), and BALB/c (H-2K^d) mice were obtained from NCI (Frederick, MD). FcγRIIB^{-/-} mice were obtained from Jackson Laboratories (Bay Harbor, ME). OT-I and OT-II transgenic mice, purchased from Jackson Laboratories, were bred to Thy1.1⁺ background at Emory University. mOVA mice (26) were a gift from Dr. Marc Jenkins (University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN) and were maintained in accordance with Emory University IACUC guidelines (Atlanta, GA). All animals were housed in pathogen-free animal facilities at Emory University.

Anti-OVA ELISA

Alloantibody formation to OVA was determined using soluble OVA antigen (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Wells of Immulon 4HBX plates (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA) were coated with 50ug/mL OVA antigen overnight, and then incubated with serial dilutions of serum. Anti-OVA IgG or IgM was detected using biotin-conjugated Anti-IgG or Anti-IgM (Biolegend, San Diego, CA), Avidin-HRP (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA), and TMB Substrate Kit (Thermo Scientific). Reactions were stopped using 2N H₂SO₄, and plates were read at 450nm using a SpectraMax 340PC plate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA).

Adoptive Transfers, Infections, and Skin Transplantation

For adoptive transfers prior to infection, spleens of OT-I mice processed and 10⁴ Thy1.1⁺ OT-I were injected intravenously. Forty-eight hours later, mice were infected with 10⁴ Listeria-monocytogenes (LM)-OVA, 2x10³ pfu murine gammaherpesvirus 68 (gHV)-OVA, or 10⁵ pfu murine polyoma virus (PyV)-OVA. LM and gHV were administed intraperitoneally, PyV was given via footpad injection. For adoptive transfers prior to grafting, spleens of OT-I and OT-II mice were processed and 10⁶ each of Thy1.1⁺ OT-I and OT-II were injected intravenously. Forty-

eight hours later, full thickness tail, ear, or trunk skins were transplanted onto dorsal thorax of recipient mice and secured with adhesive bandages.

Antibody Treatment

Where indicated, mice were treated with 250µg CTLA4-Ig (Bristol Myers Squibb), 250µg hamster monoclonal anti-mouse CD154 (MR-1, BioXCell, West Lebanon, NJ), 250ug rat anti-mouse CD49d (VLA-4, BioXCell) or 400ug anti-mouse CD16/32 (2.4G2, BioXCell), intraperitoneally on days 0, 2, 4, and 6 post-transplantation.

Surface Stains and Flow Cytometry

Peripheral blood, spleen or draining axillary and brachial LN were stained for CD4, CD8, Thy1.1, Fc γ RIIB, CD62L and CD44 (Biolegend; Invitrogen; BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ). For intracellular staining, responder splenocytes were stimulated with a 2:1 ratio of BALB/c splenocytes in the presence of 10 µg/mL Brefeldin A for 5 hours. Intracellular staining kit was used to detect TNF and IFN- γ (Biolegend), according to manufacturer's instructions. Samples were analyzed using an LSRII FACS machine (BD Biosciences). Data was analyzed using FlowJo software (Treestar, San Carlos, CA).

Statistical Analysis

Survival data were plotted on Kaplan-Meier curves and log-rank tests were performed. For two comparisons, one-way students T test was performed. For three or more comparisons, one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-test was performed. Analyses were done using GraphPad Prism software (GraphPad Software Inc).

Results

FcyRIIB deficient mice demonstrate accelerated graft rejection in the presence of costimulation blockade

FcyRIIB is known to play an important role in several aspects of adaptive immune responses, and we first sought to determine the impact of this receptor in alloreactive responses to transplantation using a minor mismatch OVA model of skin transplantation (Figure 1A). Due to the rapid rejection of skin grafts in this model in untreated animals, we also treated both WT and FcyRIIB^{-/-} mice with CTLA4-Ig, in order to reveal any differences in rejection kinetics. While untreated WT mice rejected their organs rapidly, with a median survival time (MST) of 18 days, CTLA4-Ig treatment significantly extended MST to 31.5 days and led to long-term graft survival in approximately 40% of WT recipients (Figure 1B). However, treated FcyRIIB^{-/-} mice all rapidly rejected their grafts, with an MST of 20.5 days, and no animals in this group displayed long-term survival (Figure 1B). Given the important role that FcyRIIB plays in regulating humoral responses, we assessed the formation of graft-specific antibodies in these mice at day 14 posttransplantation. While WT mice generated a robust anti-OVA IgG response, CTLA4-Ig was able to effectively inhibit alloantibody responses in both WT and FcyRIIB^{-/-} mice (Figure 1C). Importantly, none of the recipients had detectable IgM titers at day 14 (data not shown), indicating an overall lack of antibody production in treated animals, rather than defective classswitching. Thus, we concluded that the accelerated rejection seen in FcyRIIB^{-/-} animals was not the result of augmented humoral immunity.

FcyRIIB^{-/-} mice have normal baseline memory T cell compartments

Given the accelerated rejection we observed in $Fc\gamma RIIB^{-/-}$ mice, and the fact that memory cells are an important mediator of costimulation blockade-resistant rejection (10, 11), we first assessed the baseline memory phenotype of these mice compared to WT controls. Memory-like populations of CD44-expressing CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are often seen in mice maintained in non-germ free colonies, and approximately 8-10% of both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells expressed high levels of CD44 in our WT controls (Figure 2A, B). Importantly, T cells in FcγRIIB^{-/-} mice showed similar levels of CD44 expression, and the percentages and absolute numbers of naïve (CD44^{lo}), central memory-like (CD44^{hi} CD62L^{hi}) and effector memory-like (CD44^{hi} CD62L^{lo}) T cells. Thus, we concluded that baseline differences in memory-like cells were likely not responsible for the rejection phenotype observed. Interestingly, while naïve and FcγRIIB^{-/-} T cells did not express the inhibitory Fc receptor FcγRIIB, we were able to detect expression of this receptor on effector-memory-like CD44^{hi} CD62L^{lo} populations in WT mice (Figure 2C). This surprising result suggested that this receptor may play a cell-intrinsic role in the regulation of T cell alloreactivity, and we sought to further investigate this hypothesis.

Polyclonal allograft-specific CD8⁺ T cells upregulate FcyRIIB following transplantation

We next investigated the expression of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ on $CD8^+$ T cell populations in the context of transplantation. Compared to naïve B6 mice, mice receiving a fully allogeneic BALB/c skin graft upregulated $Fc\gamma RIIB$ on $CD8^+$ T cell populations (Figure 3A-C). Splenocytes from graft recipients were restimulated ex vivo with BALB/c antigen to induce cytokine production, in order to phenotypically characterize the $Fc\gamma RIIB$ -expressing T cell population. Interestingly, while very few non-cytokine producing cells express $Fc\gamma RIIB$, approximately 60-70% of alloreactive cells capable of making proinflammatory cytokines IFN γ and TNF co-expressed the inhibitory Fc receptor (Figure 3D, E). Taken together, this suggests that $Fc\gamma RIIB$ may be a novel coinhibitory pathway capable of regulating T cell proliferation and expansion, similar to other coinhibitory molecules such as CTLA4 and PD-1 that are upregulated following T cell activation (1).

Therapeutic blockade of FcyRIIB leads to enhanced memory recall responses to a secondary graft rechallenge

We hypothesized that FcyRIIB may be able to inhibit the primary or recall expansion of CD8⁺ T

cells in the setting of transplantation. In order to be able to specifically track alloreactive cells responding to a graft, rather than relying on cytokine production to identify these populations, we next performed experiments using the transgenic OVA system. Congenically labeled OT-I and OT-II T cells, genetically engineered CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells specific for the chicken ovalbumin protein, were adoptively transferred to WT mice, which then received an OVA-expressing skin graft (mOVA) (Figure 4A). While naïve OT-I and OT-II cells did not express FcyRIIB, both of these graft-specific T cell populations upregulated this receptor over time following transplantation, in all compartments in which these cells could be detected (Figure 4B, C). Since expression increases over time and peaks on memory T cell populations, we next investigated the role of this receptor at memory time points. Mice received OT-I and OT-II cells and a primary mOVA graft and allowed to reject these grafts in the absence of treatment (Figure 4D). These animals were then regrafted at day 30 and either left untreated or treated with the FcyRIIBblocking 2.4G2 monoclonal antibody, and memory T cell responses were detected 5 days later in the draining lymph node. 2.4G2 was able to completely block FcyRIIB on CD8⁺ T cells (Figure 4G, H), and this treatment led to a greater expansion of alloreactive $CD8^+$ T cells at this timepoint (Figure 4E, 4F). These data suggest that FcyRIIB may play an important role in modulating secondary recall responses to an allograft.

FcγRIIB expression on memory CD8⁺ T cells inversely correlates with resistance to combined costimulation and integrin blockade

Memory T cells are a major mediator of costimulation blockade-resistant rejection, and recent work from our group showed that prior infection with different pathogens can lead to varying efficacy of combined costimulation and integrin blockade during a graft rechallenge (27). We further extended these studies to interrogate the expression of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ on memory CD8⁺ T cell populations and the role it may play in altering therapeutic efficacy of costimulation blockade. In order to normalize the cell population responding to these infections, we again used the OVA

transgenic system. CD8⁺ OT-I T cells were adoptively transferred to B6 mice, and these mice were then infected with one of three pathogens engineered to express the OVA protein - Listeria monocytogenes (LM-OVA), an acute bacterial infection; murine gammaherpesvirus 68 (gHV-OVA), a latent viral infection; and Polyoma virus (PyV-OVA), a persistent viral infection. Mice were bled at a memory timepoint, and we confirmed that the percentage and anatomical distribution of memory OT-I T cells was equal in all three groups (Figure 5B, data not shown). However, these pathogens induced different levels of expression of FcyRIIB on antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells (Figure 5C). When challenged with an mOVA skin graft and treated with a combination of CTLA4-Ig, anti-CD154 and anti-VLA4, animals previously infected with LM-OVA demonstrated long-term graft survival, with an MST of over 100 days. However, animals infected with gHV-OVA rejected their grafts much more quickly in the presence of combination therapy, with an MST of 20 days, and the antibody regimen was completely ineffective at prolonging graft survival in PyV-OVA infected animals (Figure 5D). Interestingly, the level of expression of FcyRIIB correlated with the MST of graft survival (Figure 5E), and importantly, these antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells were the mediators of graft rejection in this model, as depletion of these cells using an anti-Thy1.1 antibody prior to graft challenge allowed for almost 100% long-term graft survival following combination treatment (data not shown). Therefore, these data suggest that FcyRIIB represents a potential therapeutic target to control memory T cell populations and dramatically improve the efficacy of costimulation blockade during transplantation.
Discussion

In this study, we have shown that allospecific T cells responding to transplantation express the inhibitory Fc receptor $Fc\gamma RIIB$, and that therapeutic blockade of this receptor can enhance recall responses to transplantation. While many reports in the immunology literature have suggested that T cells do not express Fc receptors (14), a recent study identified the upregulation of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ on memory T cells (25), and our work has corroborated these studies by demonstrating the expression of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ on both allospecific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. Blockade of this receptor during memory recall enhanced CD8⁺ T cell recall to a graft challenge, and interestingly, we have shown that expression of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ on memory T cell populations correlates with their susceptibility to combined costimulation and integrin blockade, a finding that has important implications for clinical transplantation.

Inhibitory signaling by $Fc\gamma RIIB$ is critical in B cells to regulate antibody responses and prevent autoimmunity, and numerous studies have attempted to dissect the complicated $Fc\gamma RIIB$ inhibitory signaling mechanisms in these cells. $Fc\gamma RIIB$ ligation can modulate different signaling pathways depending on whether or not the B cell receptor is engaged at the same time. When the BCR and $Fc\gamma RIIB$ are ligated simultaneously, the ITIM domain located within the cytoplasmic region of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ recruits the inositol polyphosphate 5'-phosphotase SHIP, which is able to hydrolyze intermediate messenger molecules such as PIP₃ and thus prevent calcium flux (16, 28, 29). However, when $Fc\gamma RIIB$ is crosslinked in the absence of B cell signaling, a distinct, ITIMindependent, pro-apoptotic signaling pathway is initiated by phosphorylation of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ by the tyrosine protein kinase ABL (30). In addition, there are multiple isoforms of $Fc\gamma RIIB$. The $Fc\gamma RIIB-1$ isoform expressed by B cells is responsible for inhibitory signaling pathways mentioned above, whereas ligation of the $Fc\gamma RIIB-2$ isoform, which is expressed on DCs, macrophages, and other myeloid cell types, results in endocytosis of antibody-bound material (14). Our studies have not yet addressed whether or not $Fc\gamma RIIB$ is acting in a cell-intrinsic manner to inhibit CD8⁺ T cell expansion, but we hypothesize that the mechanism of action of Fc γ RIIB in T cells may be similar to the SHIP-mediated hydrolysis of PIP3, as there is significant overlap between the signaling pathways downstream of the T cell and B cell receptor (31, 32). Detailed molecular analysis of the isoform expressed by T cells as well as signaling studies similar to those performed in B cells will be required to confirm this hypothesis.

The effect of immunoglobulin in the serum on alloreactive T cells responses and memory formation also remains to be addressed. The previous report that identified $Fc\gamma RIIB$ expression on CD8⁺ T cells in a model of viral infection suggested that antigen-specific antibody is required for $Fc\gamma RIIB$ -mediated inhibition of memory recall responses (25). The authors hypothesized that expression of this inhibitory receptor evolved to prevent CD8⁺ T cell exhaustion when humoral memory to the infecting pathogen already exists. This idea also relates to the signaling pathways induced by this receptor in T cells, and whether or not simultaneous ligation of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ and the TCR is required for this receptor to inhibit T cell responses. For example, in individuals with preexisting humoral and T cell memory to alloantigen received a transplant expressing those antigens, the donor-specific antibodies may in fact dampen the cellular alloreactivity by colligation of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ on graft-reactive T cells. Whether or not target cells must be coated in allospecific antibodies in order to inhibit T cell alloimmunity, or if a certain level of immunoglobulin present in the serum is sufficient to prevent these responses, remains to be determined.

The expression of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ on memory $CD8^+$ T cells and the correlation with susceptibility to costimulation and integrin blockade raise the exciting possibility that this pathway may offer a potential target for therapeutic intervention during transplantation. Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg) has been used for decades in the treatment of various diseases, including immunothrombocytopenia (ITP) and other autoimmune disorders (33). While initial studies hypothesized that ligation of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ directly by immunoglobulin may have been responsible for the anti-inflammatory effect (34), later reports indicated the therapeutic efficacy of IVIg was independent of the signaling molecules associated with $Fc\gamma RIIB$ (35). Detailed studies of the mechanism of action of IVIg have shown that the certain carbohydrate moieties present in the polyclonal Ig infusion bind to type II Fc receptors, including SIGN-R1 in mice and its human ortholog DC-SIGN (36), and induce the production of IL-33 and, subsequently, IL-4 y (37). The elaboration of these cytokines then induces the upregulation of FcγRIIB on macrophage populations, which is also required for IVIg efficacy. However, the effect of this therapy on the expression of FcγRIIB on T cells and the contribution of this population to the efficacy of IVIg therapy has yet to be determined. Interestingly, one study performed in steroid-resistant rejecting transplant patients showed that IVIg treatment was able to reverse rejection at a comparable rate to OKT3, an anti-CD3 depleting antibody (38), demonstrating the potential of this therapy to be used in a clinical transplant setting.

In addition to this established treatment modality, recent work has also identified alternative binding partners for $Fc\gamma RIIB$, including the acute phase reactants SAP and CRP (39, 40). While these are pleiotropic molecules with a number of immunologic effects, and the feasibility of their use as in vivo treatment are unknown, it does raise a possibility that small molecules inhibitors other than monoclonal antibodies may be able to be designed to specifically target $Fc\gamma RIIB$. Likewise, other investigators have utilized novel genetic engineering to design bispecific antibodies, known as dual-affinity retargeting molecule (DART) (41). These DART molecules were able to specifically target $Fc\gamma RIIB$ on B cells, and could easily be engineered to target T cells expressing this molecule in order to inhibit their secondary expansion.

While many recent studies have focused on the abrogation of Fc interactions with therapeutic antibodies in order to avoid unwanted complications, these results suggest that perhaps the interaction of Fc-containing reagents with $Fc\gamma RIIB$ may in fact inhibit cellular alloimmunity and provide some benefit to patients. Further work will examine the different roles that this receptor plays in both cell mediated and humoral immunity, with the goal of designing safe and effective therapies for transplant recipients.



Figure 3.1. FcyRIIB deficient mice demonstrate accelerated graft rejection in the presence

of costimulation blockade.

Figure 3.1. FcγRIIB deficient mice demonstrate accelerated graft rejection in the presence of costimulation blockade. (A) On Day 0, B6 or FcγRIIB^{-/-} mice were grafted with mOVA skin, and treated i.p. with either saline or 250ug of CTLA4-Ig on day 0, 2, 4, and 6. Mice were bled at Day 14 to collect serum. (B) Graft survival among untreated WT mice and CTLA4-Ig treated WT and FcγRIIB^{-/-} mice. (C) Anti-OVA IgG ELISA performed on serum from Day 14 posttransplantation. Naïve ungrafted B6 mice served as a negative control.



Figure 3.2. FcyRIIB deficiency does not alter baseline memory T cell compartments.

Figure 3.2. FcγRIIB deficiency does not alter baseline memory T cell compartments. (A) Representative flow plots of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ splenocytes of WT and FcγRIIB^{-/-} mice, subdivided into naïve (CD62L^{hi} CD44^{lo}), central memory (CD62L^{hi} CD44^{hi}) and effector memory (CD62L^{lo} CD44^{hi}) compartments. (B) Frequencies of splenic CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell subpopulations. (C) Representative histograms of FcγRIIB expression, gated on CD8⁺ T cell memory compartments.



Figure 3.3. Polyclonal allograft-specific CD8⁺ T cells upregulate FcyRIIB following transplantation.

Figure 3.3. Polyclonal allograft-specific CD8⁺ T cells upregulate FcγRIIB following transplantation. (A) B6 mice were grafted with fully allogeneic BALB/c skin and sacrificed at Day 10 post-transplant. (B) Representative histograms of FcγRIIB on splenic CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in naïve and grafted mice. (C) Frequencies of FcγRIIB⁺ CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in naïve and grafted mice. (D) Splenocytes from graft recipients were incubated with a 2:1 ratio of BALB/c "stimulator" cells (splenocytes), and stained for production of IFNγ and TNF. (E) Frequencies of FcγRIIB+ cells among IFNγ positive and negative CD8+ T cell populations.



Figure 3.4. Therapeutic blockade of FcyRIIB leads to enhanced memory recall responses to a secondary graft rechallenge.

Figure 3.4. Therapeutic blockade of FcyRIIB leads to enhanced memory recall responses to a secondary graft rechallenge. (A) B6 received 10^6 OT-I and 10^6 OT-II T cells, and two days later received an mOVA skin graft. Groups of mice were sacrificed at Day 8, 11, and 14. (B) Representative histograms of FcyRIIB expression on Thy1.1⁺ OT-I (CD8) and OT-II (CD4) T cell populations at Day 14 post-transplant in the draining lymph nodes and spleen. (C) Frequencies of FcyRIIB⁺ cells among Thy1.1⁺ OT-I (CD8) and OT-II (CD4) T cell populations in the bone marrow, spleen, lymph node and peripheral blood. (D) B6 received 10^6 OT-I and 10^6 OT-II T cells, and two days later received an mOVA skin graft. Following graft rejection, mice received a second graft at Day 30, and treated with either saline or 400ug 2.4G2 i.p. at Day 0, 1, and 3 post-transplant. (E and F) Representative histograms and frequencies of FcyRIIB⁺ Thy1.1⁺ OT-I T cells in the draining lymph node at Day 5 post-regraft. (G and H) Representative flow plots, frequencies and absolute numbers of Thy1.1⁺ OT-I T cells in the draining lymph node at Day 5 post-regraft.

Figure 3.5. FcγRIIB expression on memory CD8⁺ T cells inversely correlates with resistance to combined costimulation and integrin blockade.



Figure 3.5. FcyRIIB expression on memory CD8⁺ T cells inversely correlates with resistance to combined costimulation and integrin blockade. (A) B6 mice received 10^4 OT-I T cells and one day later were infected with either LM-OVA, gHV-OVA or PyV-OVA. (B) Frequencies of Thy1.1+ OT-I T cells in the peripheral blood at Day 25 post-infection. (C) Frequencies of FcyRIIB expression on Thy1.1+ OT-I T cells in the peripheral blood at Day 25 post-infection. (D) At Day 30, mice were grafted with mOVA skin, and treated with either saline, CoB (anti-CD154 and CTLA4-Ig), anti-VLA4, or all three drugs in combination at days 0, 2, 4, and 6 posttransplant, and graft survival was measured. (E) Correlation of mean survival time with mean FcyRIIB expression at Day 25 post-infection.

References

- Chen L, and Flies DB. Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and co-inhibition. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(4):227-42.
- A comparison of tacrolimus (FK 506) and cyclosporine for immunosuppression in liver transplantation. The U.S. Multicenter FK506 Liver Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1994;331(17):1110-5.
- 3. Issa N, Kukla A, and Ibrahim HN. Calcineurin inhibitor nephrotoxicity: a review and perspective of the evidence. *Am J Nephrol.* 2013;37(6):602-12.
- Vincenti F, Larsen CP, Alberu J, Bresnahan B, Garcia VD, Kothari J, Lang P, Urrea EM, Massari P, Mondragon-Ramirez G, et al. Three-year outcomes from BENEFIT, a randomized, active-controlled, parallel-group study in adult kidney transplant recipients. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(1):210-7.
- Poirier N, Azimzadeh AM, Zhang T, Dilek N, Mary C, Nguyen B, Tillou X, Wu G, Reneaudin K, Hervouet J, et al. Inducing CTLA-4-dependent immune regulation by selective CD28 blockade promotes regulatory T cells in organ transplantation. *Sci Transl Med.* 2010;2(17):17ra0.
- Liu D, Krummey SM, Badell IR, Wagener M, Schneeweis LA, Stetsko DK, Suchard SJ, Nadler SG, and Ford ML. 2B4 (CD244) induced by selective CD28 blockade functionally regulates allograft-specific CD8+ T cell responses. *J Exp Med*. 2014;211(2):297-311.
- Kaech SM, Wherry EJ, and Ahmed R. Effector and memory T-cell differentiation: implications for vaccine development. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2002;2(4):251-62.
- Amir AL, D'Orsogna LJ, Roelen DL, van Loenen MM, Hagedoorn RS, de Boer R, van der Hoorn MA, Kester MG, Doxiadis, II, Falkenburg JH, et al. Allo-HLA reactivity of virus-specific memory T cells is common. *Blood*. 2010;115(15):3146-57.

- Burrows SR, Khanna R, Burrows JM, and Moss DJ. An alloresponse in humans is dominated by cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) cross-reactive with a single Epstein-Barr virus CTL epitope: implications for graft-versus-host disease. J Exp Med. 1994;179(4):1155-61.
- Adams AB, Williams MA, Jones TR, Shirasugi N, Durham MM, Kaech SM, Wherry EJ, Onami T, Lanier JG, Kokko KE, et al. Heterologous immunity provides a potent barrier to transplantation tolerance. *J Clin Invest.* 2003;111(12):1887-95.
- Kitchens WH, Haridas D, Wagener ME, Song M, Kirk AD, Larsen CP, and Ford ML. Integrin antagonists prevent costimulatory blockade-resistant transplant rejection by CD8(+) memory T cells. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(1):69-80.
- Bloomgren G, Richman S, Hotermans C, Subramanyam M, Goelz S, Natarajan A, Lee S, Plavina T, Scanlon JV, Sandrock A, et al. Risk of natalizumab-associated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. *N Engl J Med.* 2012;366(20):1870-80.
- 13. Major EO. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in patients on immunomodulatory therapies. *Annu Rev Med.* 2010;61(35-47.
- Nimmerjahn F, and Ravetch JV. Fcgamma receptors as regulators of immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2008;8(1):34-47.
- 15. Smith KG, and Clatworthy MR. FcgammaRIIB in autoimmunity and infection: evolutionary and therapeutic implications. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2010;10(5):328-43.
- Ono M, Bolland S, Tempst P, and Ravetch JV. Role of the inositol phosphatase SHIP in negative regulation of the immune system by the receptor Fc(gamma)RIIB. *Nature*. 1996;383(6597):263-6.
- Yoshida TO, and Andersson B. Evidence for a receptor recognizing antigen complexed immunoglobulin on the surface of activated mouse thymus lymphocytes. Scand J Immunol. 1972;1(4):401-8.

- Anderson CL, and Grey HM. Receptors for aggregated IgG on mouse lymphocytes: their presence on thymocytes, thymus-derived, and bone marrow-derived lymphocytes. *J Exp Med.* 1974;139(5):1175-88.
- Stout RD, and Herzenberg LA. The Fc receptor on thymus-derived lymphocytes. I.
 Detection of a subpopulation of murine T lymphocytes bearing the Fc receptor. J Exp Med. 1975;142(3):611-21.
- Gilson CR, Milas Z, Gangappa S, Hollenbaugh D, Pearson TC, Ford ML, and Larsen CP. Anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody synergizes with CTLA4-Ig in promoting long-term graft survival in murine models of transplantation. *J Immunol.* 2009;183(3):1625-35.
- Desai DD, Harbers SO, Flores M, Colonna L, Downie MP, Bergtold A, Jung S, and Clynes R. Fc gamma receptor IIB on dendritic cells enforces peripheral tolerance by inhibiting effector T cell responses. *J Immunol.* 2007;178(10):6217-26.
- 22. Kalergis AM, and Ravetch JV. Inducing tumor immunity through the selective engagement of activating Fcgamma receptors on dendritic cells. *J Exp Med.* 2002;195(12):1653-9.
- 23. Takai T, Ono M, Hikida M, Ohmori H, and Ravetch JV. Augmented humoral and anaphylactic responses in Fc gamma RII-deficient mice. *Nature*. 1996;379(6563):346-9.
- 24. Wirth TC, Xue HH, Rai D, Sabel JT, Bair T, Harty JT, and Badovinac VP. Repetitive antigen stimulation induces stepwise transcriptome diversification but preserves a core signature of memory CD8(+) T cell differentiation. *Immunity*. 2010;33(1):128-40.
- Starbeck-Miller GR, Badovinac VP, Barber DL, and Harty JT. Cutting edge: Expression of FcgammaRIIB tempers memory CD8 T cell function in vivo. *J Immunol*. 2014;192(1):35-9.
- 26. Ehst BD, Ingulli E, and Jenkins MK. Development of a novel transgenic mouse for the study of interactions between CD4 and CD8 T cells during graft rejection. Am J Transplant. 2003;3(11):1355-62.

- Badell IR, Kitchens WH, Wagener ME, Lukacher AE, Larsen CP, and Ford ML.
 Pathogen Stimulation History Impacts Donor-Specific CD8 T Cell Susceptibility to Costimulation/Integrin Blockade-Based Therapy. *Am J Transplant.* 2015.
- Ono M, Okada H, Bolland S, Yanagi S, Kurosaki T, and Ravetch JV. Deletion of SHIP or SHP-1 reveals two distinct pathways for inhibitory signaling. *Cell*. 1997;90(2):293-301.
- Pearse RN, Kawabe T, Bolland S, Guinamard R, Kurosaki T, and Ravetch JV. SHIP recruitment attenuates Fc gamma RIIB-induced B cell apoptosis. *Immunity*. 1999;10(6):753-60.
- Tzeng SJ, Bolland S, Inabe K, Kurosaki T, and Pierce SK. The B cell inhibitory Fc receptor triggers apoptosis by a novel c-Abl family kinase-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(42):35247-54.
- Cronin SJ, and Penninger JM. From T-cell activation signals to signaling control of anticancer immunity. *Immunol Rev.* 2007;220(151-68.
- 32. Dal Porto JM, Gauld SB, Merrell KT, Mills D, Pugh-Bernard AE, and Cambier J. B cell antigen receptor signaling 101. *Mol Immunol.* 2004;41(6-7):599-613.
- 33. Hartung HP, Mouthon L, Ahmed R, Jordan S, Laupland KB, and Jolles S. Clinical applications of intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIg)--beyond immunodeficiencies and neurology. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 2009;158 Suppl 1(23-33.
- Samuelsson A, Towers TL, and Ravetch JV. Anti-inflammatory activity of IVIG mediated through the inhibitory Fc receptor. *Science*. 2001;291(5503):484-6.
- 35. Crow AR, Song S, Freedman J, Helgason CD, Humphries RK, Siminovitch KA, and Lazarus AH. IVIg-mediated amelioration of murine ITP via FcgammaRIIB is independent of SHIP1, SHP-1, and Btk activity. *Blood.* 2003;102(2):558-60.
- Anthony RM, Wermeling F, Karlsson MC, and Ravetch JV. Identification of a receptor required for the anti-inflammatory activity of IVIG. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2008;105(50):19571-8.

- 37. Anthony RM, Kobayashi T, Wermeling F, and Ravetch JV. Intravenous gammaglobulin suppresses inflammation through a novel T(H)2 pathway. *Nature*. 2011;475(7354):110-3.
- 38. Casadei DH, del CRM, Opelz G, Golberg JC, Argento JA, Greco G, Guardia OE, Haas E, and Raimondi EH. A randomized and prospective study comparing treatment with high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin with monoclonal antibodies for rescue of kidney grafts with steroid-resistant rejection. *Transplantation*. 2001;71(1):53-8.
- Bharadwaj D, Mold C, Markham E, and Du Clos TW. Serum amyloid P component binds to Fc gamma receptors and opsonizes particles for phagocytosis. *J Immunol*. 2001;166(11):6735-41.
- 40. Lu J, Marnell LL, Marjon KD, Mold C, Du Clos TW, and Sun PD. Structural recognition and functional activation of FcgammaR by innate pentraxins. *Nature*. 2008;456(7224):989-92.
- 41. Veri MC, Burke S, Huang L, Li H, Gorlatov S, Tuaillon N, Rainey GJ, Ciccarone V, Zhang T, Shah K, et al. Therapeutic control of B cell activation via recruitment of Fcgamma receptor IIb (CD32B) inhibitory function with a novel bispecific antibody scaffold. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2010;62(7):1933-43.

Chapter 4

Rapamycin Ameliorates the CTLA4-Ig-Mediated Defect in CD8⁺ T Cell Immunity During Gammaherpesvirus Infection

Figure 4.1. Rapamycin enhances the $CD8^+$ T cell response to gammaherpesvirus infection 133
Figure 4.2. CTLA4-Ig inhibits the primary $CD8^+$ T cell response to a gammaherpesvirus infection
Figure 4.3. The addition of rapamycin to a CTLA4-Ig regimen restores $CD8^+$ T cell expansion
and cytokine function
Figure 4.4. Rapamycin treatment rescues the CTLA4-Ig-mediated defects in memory generation
and multicytokine production
Figure 4.5. Rapamycin does not augment the $CD8^+$ T cell response to allograft in the presence or
absence of CTLA4-Ig141
Figure 4.6. CTLA4-Ig leads to an increased viral burden that is ameliorated by the addition of
rapamycin
Figure S4.1. The beneficial effects of rapamycin are durable even after the cessation of treatment
Figure S4.2. CD28 blockade does not lead to an upregulation of coinhibitory markers on virus-
specific CD8 ⁺ T cells

Abstract

Latent viral infections are a major concern among immunosuppressed transplant patients. During clinical trials with belatacept, a CTLA4-Ig fusion protein, patients showed an increased risk of Epstein-Barr Virus-associated post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder, thought to be due to a deficient primary CD8⁺ T cell response to the virus. Using a murine model of latent viral infection, we observed that rapamycin treatment alone led to a significant increase in virusspecific $CD8^+$ T cells, as well as increased functionality of these cells, including the ability to make multiple cytokines, while CTLA4-Ig treatment alone significantly dampened the response and inhibited the generation of polyfunctional antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells. However, the addition of rapamycin to the CTLA4-Ig regimen was able to quantitatively and qualitatively restore the antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cell response to the virus. This improvement was physiologically relevant, in that CTLA4-Ig treated animals exhibited a greater viral burden following infection that was reduced to levels observed in untreated immunocompetent animals by the addition of rapamycin. These results reveal that modulation of T cell differentiation though inhibition of mTOR signaling can restore virus-specific immune competence even in the absence of CD28 costimulation, and have implications for improving protective immunity in transplant recipients.

Introduction

Latent viral infections and subsequent complications are a major source of morbidity and mortality among immunosuppressed transplant patients (1). Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV), a doublestranded DNA virus that infects approximately 90% of adults in the developed world (2), is normally effectively controlled by adaptive T cell responses. However, in the immunosuppressed period following transplantation, patients are at increased risk of developing EBV-associated post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD), a common malignancy characterized by transformed B lymphocytes, the host cell type for latent EBV infection (3).

Belatacept, a second-generation CTLA4-Ig derivative, has recently been shown in clinical trials to be an effective immunomodulatory agent for use following renal transplantation (4). This therapy has the added benefit of a much-improved toxicity profile compared to the current standard of care, calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs) (5). However, one drawback of this therapy noted in early trials was an increased incidence of EBV-associated PTLD, which led the FDA to issue a warning that prevents belatacept from being administered to EBV-seronegative organ recipients (6). Unfortunately, many pediatric patients that would benefit most from the reduced toxicity and subsequent long-term functional advantages of belatacept are EBV-seronegative. Therefore, treatment strategies that could improve primary EBV responses in the presence of belatacept may reduce the risk of these complications and allow belatacept to be used in this high-risk pediatric cohort.

Rapamycin is an anti-fungal macrolide that has been used clinically for decades to attenuate alloreactive T cell proliferation following transplantation (7). According to the 2011 UNOS SRTR report, mTOR inhibitors are used in 0.5-8.7% of regimens at the time of transplantation, and 5.8-10.4% of regimens at one year post-transplant, depending on the type of organ transplanted (8). Side effects of rapamycin include hyperlipidemia, wound healing issues, stomatitis, and anemia, but these complications may be offset by improvements in renal function and lower rates of malignancy compared to CNIs (9). Surprisingly, despite its well known

immunosuppressive properties, administration of rapamycin (sirolimus or everolimus) following transplantation has also been shown to lower the risk of infectious complications, particularly those associated with cytomegalovirus (CMV) (10-13). One study compared low-dose sirolimus treatment with either standard or low-dose CNIs, and found that while patients receiving sirolimus had a higher frequency of some adverse events, their risk of developing a CMV infection was approximately 50% lower than the patients receiving CNIs (10). These promising results were not only specific to CMV, as one case study noted that chronic HCV viremia spontaneously resolved in two liver recipients following conversion to sirolimus (14), and another report suggested that regimens containing sirolimus alone or in combination with prednisone could provide protection against the development of BK-virus nephropathy (15).

While these studies suggested a clinical benefit of sirolimus, little mechanistic data existed to explain the improvement of viral outcomes in these patients. Several groups had hypothesized that rapamycin could directly abrogate viral replication, given the central role of mTOR signaling in transcription. In one study, rapamycin was shown to inhibit viral particle formation during Kaposi-Sarcoma Herpes Virus infection, a gammaherpes virus related to EBV (16). Conversely, in vitro studies of the CMV life cycle in human cells showed that the infectioninduced activation of PI3-Kinase and the subsequent upregulation of transcriptional machinery required for viral replication was unperturbed by rapamycin treatment (17). Therefore, the virostatic effects of rapamycin may depend on the particular life cycle of a given virus. However, these studies did not investigate the impact of the immune response to the virus, and recent reports using animal models suggested that mTOR inhibition with low-dose rapamycin treatment could actually enhance CD8⁺ T cell responses, and in particular long-term memory generation, following pathogen infection (18). Furthermore, our group demonstrated that the immunological context in which rapamycin is given determines its effect, and that rapamycin can augment pathogen-reactive, but not graft-reactive, CD8⁺ T cell responses (19). These findings suggest that rapamycin could be used in the setting of transplantation to improve protective immune responses

without simultaneously augmenting harmful alloreactive responses. Given the complications seen following EBV infection in belatacept-treated patients, rapamycin may be a potential option to use along with belatacept to enhance pathogen-specific T cell responses in these vulnerable patients.

We have established a murine model of latent gammaherpesvirus infection in which CTLA4-Ig treatment leads to a defective CD8⁺ T cell response, resulting in increased viral burden. Murine gammaherpesvirus 68 (MHV68) is a rodent gammaherpesvirus that shares a large degree of both functional and genetic homology with EBV (20). We sought to determine if the addition of rapamycin could ameliorate MHV68-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses in the presence of CD28 blockade, and thus restore viral control in these animals. Using MHC Class I tetramers to track the CD8⁺ T cell response in the peripheral blood and ex vivo viral peptide stimulation to measure CD8⁺ T cell functionality, we observed that rapamycin is able to augment the primary response to MHV68. While CTLA4-Ig treatment inhibited both the expansion of MHV68-specific CD8⁺ T cells and their ability to produce cytokines, the addition of rapamycin to a CTLA4-Ig regimen was able to restore the CD8⁺ T cell response to levels seen in untreated animals, and, importantly, this also translated to an ability to improve overall viral burden. These results indicate that rapamycin may be a candidate for synergistic therapy during treatment with belatacept in order to improve anti-viral responses and outcomes in transplant patients.

Materials and Methods

Mice and Viral Infections

B6-Ly5.2/Cr (H2-K^b) mice were obtained from the National Cancer Institute (Frederick, MD). Virus stocks were prepared as previously described (21). Mice were infected with 2x10³ MHV68-OVA intraperitoneally. All animals were housed in BSL2 animal facilities at Emory University and maintained in accordance with Emory University Institutional Animal Case and Use Committee guidelines (Atlanta, GA).

Surface Stains and Flow Cytometry

Peripheral blood and spleens were processed and stained for CD8 and CD127 (Biolegend, San Diego, CA), as well as fluorochrome conjugated p56 (H-2K^b, AGPHNDMEI) and p79 tetramers (H-2K^d, TSINFVKI) (NIH Tetramer Core, Atlanta, GA). Samples were analyzed using a multicolor LSRII FACS machine (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA). Data was analyzed using FlowJo software (Treestar, San Carlos, CA).

Peptide Stimulation and Intracellular Cytokine Staining

For p56 and p79 peptide stimulation, responder splenocytes were stimulated with 10 μ M p56 (ORF6, AGPHNDMEI), or 10 μ M p79 (ORF61, TSINFVKI) peptides (Genscript, Inc., Piscataway, NJ) in the presence of 10 μ g/mL Brefeldin A (Golgi Plug, BD Biosciences) for 4 hours. Intracellular staining kit (BD Biosciences) was used to detect TNF and IFN- γ (Biolegend), and IL-2 (BD Biosciences) according to manufacturer's instructions.

Skin Transplantation and Allostimulation Assay

Full thickness tail, ear, or trunk skins were transplanted onto dorsal thorax of recipient CD45.1⁺ B6 mice and secured with adhesive bandages. Where indicated, mice were treated i.p. with saline, 1.5µg rapamycin (every day) or 250µg CTLA4-Ig (Bristol Myers Squibb, every other day) for 20 days. Animals were then sacrificed, and recipient splenocytes were stimulated with fresh CD45.2⁺ BALB/c splenocytes in the presence of 10 μ g/mL Brefeldin A for 5 hours followed by intracellular staining for cytokine production.

LD-PCR

Limiting dilution PCR to determine the frequency of viral genomes was performed as previously described (21, 22). Briefly, splenocytes were counted, serial diluted, and proteinase K digested prior to a two-step nested PCR reaction for the MHV68 gene ORF50. Replicate wells were scored for genome positive PCR amplification. Frequency was then determined by applying Poisson distribution.

Statistical Analysis

For single comparisons, students unpaired t test was performed. For multiple comparisons, oneway ANOVA tests were performed, followed by Tukey post-test on significant results. All analyses were done using GraphPad Prism software (GraphPad Software Inc, San Diego, CA).

Results

Rapamycin enhances the primary CD8⁺ T cell response to a gammaherpesvirus infection

Given the benefits observed following rapamycin treatment in other models of infection (18, 19), we first sought to investigate the effect of rapamycin treatment alone on the CD8⁺ T cell response to MHV68 infection. To track the polyclonal response to this infection in the periphery, we serially bled mice during the course of primary infection and used MHC Class I tetramers to identify CD8⁺ T cells specific for the immunodominant lytic phase epitopes of MHV68, p56 and p79 (23) (Figure 1A). While differences in untreated and rapamycin-treated animals were not significant prior to the peak of the response, we observed that by day 20 in the peripheral blood there were significantly greater numbers of MHV68-specific CD8⁺ T cells in rapamycin-treated animals (Figure 1B-D). Interrogation of the MHV68-specific response in the spleen at day 20 revealed that rapamycin treatment led to both greater percentages and absolute numbers of CD8⁺ T cells specific for the virus (Figure 1E, F). The increased number of tetramer positive cells were also functional, as rapamycin treated animals had greater percentages and numbers of CD8⁺ T cells able to produce the anti-viral cytokine IFN- γ following ex vivo restimulation with p56 and p79 peptide (Figure 1G, H). It is worth noting that while rapamycin increases the frequency and number of IFN- γ positive cells, a comparison of the number of tetramer positive cells with the number of cytokine secreting cells revealed that rapamycin does not increase the proportion of tetramer positive cells able to produce IFN- γ , but rather increased the overall size of this antigenspecific population (data not shown). These results are in line with previous studies in TCR transgenic populations where the number, but not frequency, of antigen-specific IFN- γ producers was increased following treatment with rapamycin (19). Furthermore, the beneficial effect of rapamycin on antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses was durable, as these animals maintained higher frequencies of tetramer-positive cells in the peripheral blood as late as 70 days postinfection, even when rapamycin was only administered for the first 20 days (Figure S1). Taken

together, these results reveal that mTOR inhibition with rapamycin is able to enhance the number of CD8⁺ T cells responding to a gammaherpesvirus infection.

CTLA4-Ig inhibits the primary CD8⁺ T cell response to a gammaherpesvirus infection

Due to the EBV-specific signature seen during clinical trials of belatacept, we sought to determine if blockade of the B7-CD28 pathway in our murine model had a detrimental effect on the primary CD8⁺ T cell response to gammaherpesvirus infection. Following the same infection protocol, we observed that blockade of CD28 costimulatory signals via treatment with CTLA4-Ig dramatically dampened the peripheral response to MHV68 over the first three weeks of infection (Figure 2B, C). CTLA4-Ig treatment also resulted in much lower percentages and numbers of MHV68-specific CD8⁺ T cells in the spleen (Figure 2D, E) and significantly impaired the ability of CD8⁺ T cells to make IFN- γ in response to MHV68 peptides (Figure 2F, G). These results indicate that lack of CD28-mediated costimulation leads to a defective primary response to an MHV68 infection, which may in part explain the increased incidence of EBV-associated complications following clinical costimulation blockade.

The addition of rapamycin to a CTLA4-Ig regimen restores CD8⁺ T cell expansion and cytokine function

Given the improvements seen in MHV68-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses when treating with rapamycin, we next sought to determine if rapamycin was able to augment this response in the presence of CTLA4-Ig. Animals were infected and treated with both rapamycin and CTLA4-Ig during the primary infection. While the magnitude of the antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cell response in CTLA4-Ig plus rapa treated animals was initially similar to animals that received CTLA4-Ig alone, the frequency of p56- and p79-specific CD8⁺ T cells in dual-treated animals reached the frequency observed in untreated animals by day 20 post-infection (Figure 3A, B), and the increased number of cells was maintained in dual-treated animals at 70 days post-infection

(Figure S1). Similarly, the addition of rapamycin to the CTLA4-Ig treatment regimen was able to restore both percentages and absolute numbers of MHV68-specific CD8⁺ T cells in the spleen to levels similar to those observed in untreated animals (Figure 3C, D). Most importantly, adding rapamycin to CTLA4-Ig treatment rescued the ability of CD8⁺ T cells to make IFN- γ in response to ex vivo restimulation with viral peptides (Figure 3E, F). These results demonstrate that the salutary effect of mTOR inhibition on MHV68-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses is independent of the B7-CD28 pathway, and thus is retained in the presence of CTLA4-Ig treatment.

CTLA4-Ig-induced defects in memory generation and multicytokine production are ameliorated by rapamycin

Previous reports indicated that rapamycin improves the generation of high-quality memory CD8⁺ T cells (18), and expression of the IL-7R alpha chain, or CD127, during the effector phase of primary infection is associated with cells that go on to survive as long-lived memory CD8⁺ T cells (24, 25). While blockade of CD28 costimulatory signals via CTLA4-Ig treatment did not significantly alter the expression of CD127 on MHV68-specific effector cells, mTOR inhibition via rapamycin, either alone or in combination with CTLA4-Ig, led to a significant increase in expression of CD127 on MHV68-specific CD8⁺ T cells (Figure 4A, B). These data suggest that one mechanism by which mTOR inhibition augments CD8⁺ T cell responses in the absence of CD28-mediated costimulation is through enhanced generation of high-quality memory CD8⁺ T cells.

Next we further investigated the nature of CTLA4-Ig-mediated defects in $CD8^+$ T cell cytokine production. Production of proinflammatory cytokines is one of the most important mechanisms by which $CD8^+$ T cells mediate their effector function, and studies have suggested that cells able to make multiple cytokines may be more potent effectors and better able to control viral infection (26-28). While rapamycin alone slightly improved the percentage of polyfunctional $CD8^+$ T cells able to produce a combination of IFN- γ , TNF and IL-2, treating mice with CTLA4-Ig led to a significant reduction in cells able to produce two or three cytokines (Figure 4C, D). However, the addition of rapamycin was able to enhance multicytokine production in MHV68-specific CD8⁺ T cells at both acute (day 20) and memory (day 75) timepoints, which may contribute to improved viral control in dual-treated animals (Figure 4C, D; Figure S1). Furthermore, we confirmed that the immune enhancing properties of mTOR inhibition were confined to the context of a pathogen infection, as rapamycin treatment did not exhibit an immunostimulatory effect in the absence or presence of CTLA4-Ig in response to a fully allogeneic skin graft (Figure 5).

CD28 costimulation blockade results in increased viral burden that is diminished by the addition of mTOR inhibition

Finally, we sought to determine the physiological effect that treatment and the resulting CD8⁺ T cell response had on viral burden experienced by infected animals. We monitored the levels of MHV68-infected cells by performing a limiting-dilution PCR assay on splenocytes at day 20 post-infection. While rapamycin treatment alone did not significantly alter viral burden, inhibition of CD28 costimulatory signals via CTLA4-Ig led to an approximately 3-fold increase in the percentage of MHV68-infected cells in the spleen (Figure 6A, B, D). However, the addition of rapamycin to the CTLA4-Ig treatment regimen resulted in significantly improved control of MHV68 infection, such that the frequencies of infected cells in spleens of animals treated with CTLA4-Ig and rapamycin were similar to those observed in untreated animals (Figure 6C, D). Taken together, our results indicate that the restoration of MHV68-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses by the addition of rapamycin leads to a physiologically significant improvement in protective immunity compared to animals that receive CTLA4-Ig alone.

Discussion

In this study, we demonstrate that low-dose treatment with rapamycin functions to enhance the primary CD8⁺ T cell response to a latent viral infection. Previous studies of the immunostimulatory effect of rapamycin utilized LCMV Armstrong (18) and *Listeria monocytogenes* (19), acute infections that are cleared within 5-8 days post-infection (29, 30). Because antigen persistence is a key component of programming CD8⁺ T cell differentiation (31, 32), we sought to determine if the benefit of rapamycin is observed during gammaherpesvirus infection, in which antigen persists for longer periods of time. Most virologic studies report that the lytic phase of this virus lasts for approximately 14-16 days, and some lytic phase antigens may be expressed periodically following reactivation events during latency (20). Our study now suggests that mTOR inhibition through treatment with rapamycin can enhance CD8⁺ T cell responses in the setting of prolonged antigen exposure.

Furthermore, while CD28 blockade with CTLA4-Ig leads to a defective CD8⁺ T cell response and higher viral burden, concurrent mTOR inhibition is able to restore functionality to the response, suggesting that this may be an adjunct therapy to consider in transplant patients suffering from EBV-associated complications following belatacept treatment. The importance of costimulation in CD8⁺ T cell programmed differentiation is well documented. Antigenic stimulation in the absence of costimulation, specifically CD28-mediated signals, results in T cell anergy and apoptosis (33, 34), due in part to ineffective IL-2 production and a failure to upregulate the pro-survival molecule Bcl-xl (35, 36). In addition, the effect of mTOR signaling on T cell differentiation and memory generation has also been well investigated. Specifically, mTOR inhibition with low-dose rapamycin has been shown to enhance the quality and quantity of memory CD8⁺ T cells generated in response to viral infection (18), and one of the mechanisms by which this is achieved is the attenuation of T cell contraction following the peak of the anti-viral response (37). Thus, by partially blocking mTOR signaling, T cells undergo less terminal effector cell differentiation, staying in a more memory-like, long-lived state. By demonstrating that

rapamycin can enhance CD8⁺ T cell responses even in the presence of CTLA4-Ig, we have gained greater insight into the molecular mechanisms underlying these processes, in that the enhancement of memory generation through mTOR inhibition is independent of CD28 signaling.

We observed that mTOR inhibition through rapamycin results in increased expression of CD127 (IL-7R alpha chain) on virus-specific CD8⁺ T cells both in the absence and presence of CTLA4-Ig. Naïve $CD8^+$ T cells express high amounts of CD127, and this expression is downregulated following strong antigen and cytokine stimulation (38). However, a subset of effector cells retains expression of CD127 during the response, and these cells go on to form long-lived memory populations (25, 39). Previous work has also shown that a greater proportion of antigen-specific effector cells retained expression of CD127 during treatment with rapamycin following LCMV infection (18). Interestingly, we did not observe altered expression of T cell coinhibitory molecules PD-1, LAG-3, TIM-3, or 2B4 following mTOR inhibition either in the presence or absence of CTLA4-Ig (Figure S2), suggesting that rescuing cells from T cell exhaustion is not the mechanism by which rapamycin leads to enhanced virus-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses in this model. Thus, based on our observations that rapamycin functions to increase expression of CD127 on virus-specific CD8⁺ T cells both in the absence and presence of CTLA4-Ig (Figure 4), we conclude that a likely mechanism underlying the observed increase in mHVspecific memory T cells is increased differentiation of CD127^{hi} long-lived memory precursors in the setting of mTOR inhibition. This interpretation is also consistent with the observed kinetics of the response, insofar as rapamycin did not result in an increase in virus-specific T cells at the peak of the response, but instead functioned to augment the frequency of virus-specific T cells during the contraction phase of the response and out into memory (Figure 1 and S1). The signaling networks and gene expression changes following mTOR inhibition that lead to the increased expression of CD127 are an area of intense investigation, Furthermore, while cells in animals treated with CTLA4-Ig alone downregulated CD127 to the same degree as those left untreated, those treated with rapamycin and CTLA4-Ig exhibited an increased frequency of CD127-expressing antigen-specific $CD8^+$ T cells. These novel findings indicate that CD28 costimulation does not play a role in CD127 downregulation following T cell activation, allowing the beneficial effect of mTOR inhibition to be maintained during CD28 blockade.

This study also establishes an important murine model in which CD28 blockade leads to an ineffective primary immune response and loss of control of gammaherpesvirus infection, which may provide valuable insight into EBV-associated complications in belatacept-treated patients. Despite the fact that EBV-related PTLD affects 1-20% of transplant recipients (40), the effect of the primary immune response against the virus on the etiology of this disorder is still not completely clear. The major risk factors for developing PTLD include a high EBV viral load and the age of the recipient, with pediatric recipients being the most at risk. The typical treatment strategy for PTLD is to reduce the overall level of immunosuppression, which has resulted in variable levels of success in controlling lymphoproliferation, and also leaves patients vulnerable to acute rejection episodes (41). One report showed that patients with a high EBV viral load were more likely to demonstrate an "exhausted" EBV-specific CD8⁺ T cell profile (PD-1⁺ CD127⁻), which also suggests that the quality of the immune response to the virus is important for controlling the virus. In addition, advanced studies of human CD8⁺ T cell subsets specific for influenza, CMV, or EBV showed distinct patterns of cytokine and surface marker expression depending on the virus by which they were elicited (42). Therefore, some specific defect induced by CD28 blockade may result in the EBV-specific infectious signature seen in belatacept-treated patients. Our model may represent a useful tool for investigating defects in CD8⁺ T cell responses that lead to the loss of viral control in the setting of CD28 blockade-based immunosuppression.

Similar to work in the acutely cleared LCMV Armstrong model (18), we found that the impact of concurrent mTOR inhibition in augmenting the CD8⁺ T cell response to MHV68 was observed following the peak of the response, during the T cell contraction phase. Thus, it is possible that mTOR inhibition functions during the contraction phase of the response to limit CD8⁺ T cell programmed cell death; alternatively, mTOR inhibition could be functioning early

during the response to induce a distinct differentiation program that results in reduced contraction during the later phases of the response. This was addressed by Araki et al (18), which demonstrated that rapamycin improved memory CD8⁺ T cell generation when given only during the expansion phase (days 1 to 8), but not when only administered following the peak of the response (days 8 to 30). Therefore, while the immunostimulatory effect of rapamycin materializes during the contraction phase, it would seem that mTOR inhibition during the initial programming of these cells is responsible for their improved long-term survival. This may have implications for the timing of therapeutic interventions with rapamycin, in that it may be more effective in modulating the programming of primary responses to pathogens rather than preventing antigenspecific CD8⁺ T cell attrition. In addition, while it appears that the CD8⁺ T cell response in CTLA4-Ig treated animals does not contract substantially following the peak of infection at day 16, we hypothesize that this is due to the impaired functionality of the MHV68-specific cells and their inability to control the virus, rather than increased survival of CD8⁺ T cells in animals treated with dual therapy, suggested by the increased expression of CD127 in these populations.

In conclusion, while treatment with belatacept is associated with a distinct renal functional benefit compared to CNIs, the risk of developing EBV-associated PTLD has led to a contraindication being issued for EBV-seronegative recipients (6, 43). Our study has demonstrated that the salutary effects of rapamycin on the response to a gammaherpesvirus infection are maintained even in the presence of CTLA4-Ig, and that combining costimulation blockade with mTOR inhibition may be a feasible clinical immunosuppression strategy. Further studies are warranted to dissect the exact time frames in which the benefit of rapamycin treatment can be maximized, as well as the effect of these treatments on existing EBV-specific memory responses in seropositive recipients.



Figure 4.1. Rapamycin enhances the CD8⁺ T cell response to gammaherpesvirus infection.

Figure 4.1. Rapamycin enhances the CD8⁺ T cell response to gammaherpesvirus infection. (A) On Day 0, B6 mice were infected with $2x10^3$ pfu of mHV68 i.p., and treated i.p. with either saline or 1.5ug of rapamycin daily. (B-D) Mice were bled at serial time points, and the expansion of total p56- and p79-tetramer positive CD8⁺ T cells was monitored in the peripheral blood. Combined tetramer positive cells are shown in D. (E and F) Percentages and absolute numbers of mHV-tetramer positive CD8⁺ T cells in spleens of infected mice at day 20 post-infection. (G) Splenocytes were harvested at Day 20 and stimulated ex vivo with p56 and p79 peptide, and then stained for cytokine production. (H) Percentages and absolute numbers of IFN- γ -producing CD8⁺ T cells. Data shown are from one experiment with 4-5 mice per group; results are representative of 5 independent experiments with a total of 20-25 mice per group. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.

1

р79

. Total

0.0

p56



Figure 4.2. CTLA4-Ig inhibits the primary CD8⁺ T cell response to a gammaherpesvirus
Figure 4.2. CTLA4-Ig inhibits the primary CD8⁺ T cell response to a gammaherpesvirus infection. (A) On Day 0, B6 mice were infected with $2x10^3$ pfu of mHV68 i.p., and treated i.p. with either saline or 250ug of CTLA4-Ig every other day. (B and C) Mice were bled at serial time points, and the expansion of total mHV-tetramer positive CD8⁺ T cells was monitored in the peripheral blood. (D and E) Percentages and absolute numbers of mHV-tetramer positive CD8⁺ T cells in spleens of infected mice at Day 20 post-infection. (F) Splenocytes were harvested at Day 20 and stimulated ex vivo with p56 and p79 peptide, and then stained for cytokine production. (G) Percentages and absolute numbers of IFN- γ -producing CD8⁺ T cells. Data shown are from one experiment with 4-5 mice per group; results are representative of 5 independent experiments with a total of 20-25 mice per group. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.

Figure 4.3. The addition of rapamycin to a CTLA4-Ig regimen restores CD8⁺ T cell expansion and cytokine function.



Figure 4.3. The addition of rapamycin to a CTLA4-Ig regimen restores CD8⁺ T cell expansion and cytokine function. (A and B) On Day 0, B6 mice were infected with $2x10^3$ pfu of mHV68 i.p, and treated i.p. with either saline, 1.5ug of rapamycin daily, or 250ug of CTLA4-Ig every other day. Mice were bled at serial time points, and the expansion of total mHV-tetramer positive CD8⁺ T cells was monitored in the peripheral blood. (C and D) Percentages and absolute numbers of mHV-tetramer positive CD8⁺ T cells in spleens of infected mice at Day 20 post-infection. (E) Splenocytes were harvested at Day 20 and stimulated ex vivo with p56 and p79 peptide, and then stained for cytokine production. (F) Percentages and absolute numbers of IFN- γ -producing CD8+ T cells. Data shown are from one experiment with 4-5 mice per group; results are representative of 5 independent experiments with a total of 20-25 mice per group. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.

Figure 4.4. Rapamycin treatment rescues the CTLA4-Ig-mediated defects in memory generation and multicytokine production.



IFNY, TNF, IL-2

IFNy and TNF

IFNy, TNF, IL-2 IFNy and TNF Figure 4.4. Rapamycin treatment rescues the CTLA4-Ig-mediated defects in memory generation and multicytokine production. (A) Expression of CD127 on CD8⁺ T cells in the peripheral blood at Day 20 post-infection. Gray – tetramer negative CD8⁺ T cells, Black line – tetramer positive CD8⁺ T cells. (B) Percentages and absolute numbers of CD127^{hi} tetramer positive CD8⁺ T cells in the peripheral blood at Day 20. (C) Splenocytes were harvest at Day 20 and stimulated ex vivo with p56 and p79 peptide, and then stained for cytokine production. (D) Percentages and absolute numbers of multicytokine-producing CD8⁺ T cells. Data shown are from one experiment with 4-5 mice per group; results are representative of 5 independent experiments with a total of 20-25 mice per group. * p < 0.05, *** p < 0.001.

Figure 4.5. Rapamycin does not augment the CD8⁺ T cell response to allograft in the presence or absence of CTLA4-Ig.



Figure 4.5. Rapamycin does not augment the CD8⁺ T cell response to allograft in the presence or absence of CTLA4-Ig. (A) On Day 0, CD45.1⁺ B6 mice were grafted with fully allogeneic BALB/c skin, and treated i.p. with either saline, 1.5ug of rapamycin daily, 250ug of CTLA4-Ig every other day, or both drugs in combination. Splenocytes were harvested at Day 20 and stimulated ex vivo with fresh CD45.2⁺ BALB/c stimulator cells, and then stained intracellularly for cytokine production. (B) Skin graft survival of transplanted animals. CTLA4-Ig treated animals show modest improvement in graft survival, and rapamycin treatment does not accelerate graft rejection. (C) Representative flow plots of unstimulated and allostimulated splenocytes, gated on CD45.1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells. (D) Percentages and absolute numbers of IFN- γ and TNF "double producing" CD8⁺ T cells. Data shown are from one experiment with 5 mice per group.



Figure 4.6. CTLA4-Ig leads to an increased viral burden that is ameliorated by the addition of rapamycin.

Figure 4.6. CTLA4-Ig leads to an increased viral burden that is ameliorated by the addition of rapamycin. (A-C) LD-PCR detection of genome positive cells. Infected splenocytes were isolated at Day 20 and plated in serial dilutions. Nested PCR with single-copy sensitivity was performed and the percent genome positive wells were plotted. Twelve PCRs were performed for each dilution and six dilutions were performed for each sample. (D) Frequencies of genome positive cells were multiplied by total number of splenocytes to determine approximate number of infected cells per spleen. Data shown are from two independent experiments with a total of 9-10 mice per group. *** p < 0.001.



Supplemental Figure 4.1. The beneficial effects of rapamycin are durable even after the cessation of treatment.

Supplemental Figure 4.1. The beneficial effects of rapamycin are durable even after the cessation of treatment. (A) On Day 0, B6 mice were infected with $2x10^3$ pfu of mHV68 i.p., and treated i.p. with either saline, 1.5ug of rapamycin daily, 250ug of CTLA4-Ig every other day, or both drugs in combination. (B) Mice were bled at serial time points, and the expansion of total mHV-tetramer positive CD8⁺ T cells was monitored in the peripheral blood. (C) Splenocytes were harvested at Day 75 and stimulated ex vivo with p56 and p79 peptide, and then stained for cytokine production. (D) Percentages of IFN- γ -producing CD8⁺ T cells, and percentages of IFN- γ and TNF "double producing" CD8⁺ T cells. Data shown are from one experiment with 3-5 mice per group; results are representative of 2 independent experiments with a total of 6-10 mice per group. * p < 0.05, *** p < 0.001.





Supplemental Figure 4.2. CD28 blockade does not lead to an upregulation of coinhibitory markers on virus-specific CD8⁺ T cells. (A) On Day 0, B6 mice were infected with 2x10³ pfu of mHV68 i.p., and treated i.p. with either saline, 1.5ug of rapamycin daily, 250ug of CTLA4-Ig every other day, or both drugs in combination. (B) Mice were sacrificed at Day 20 and splenocytes were stained for tetramer binding and surface expression of coinhibitory markers. Flow plots are gated on tetramer positive cells, and gray lines indicate isotype control staining, with colored lines showing the mHV-specific population. (C) Percentages of tetramer positive cells staining positive for PD-1, Tim-3, Lag-3 and 2B4.

References

- Patel R, and Paya CV. Infections in solid-organ transplant recipients. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 1997;10(1):86-124.
- 2. Cohen JI. Epstein-Barr virus infection. *N Engl J Med.* 2000;343(7):481-92.
- Hanto DW. Classification of Epstein-Barr virus-associated posttransplant lymphoproliferative diseases: implications for understanding their pathogenesis and developing rational treatment strategies. *Annu Rev Med.* 1995;46(381-94.
- Dharnidharka VR. Costimulation blockade with belatacept in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(19):2085-6; author reply -6.
- Pestana JO, Grinyo JM, Vanrenterghem Y, Becker T, Campistol JM, Florman S, Garcia VD, Kamar N, Lang P, Manfro RC, et al. Three-year outcomes from BENEFIT-EXT: a phase III study of belatacept versus cyclosporine in recipients of extended criteria donor kidneys. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(3):630-9.
- Grinyo J, Charpentier B, Pestana JM, Vanrenterghem Y, Vincenti F, Reyes-Acevedo R, Apanovitch AM, Gujrathi S, Agarwal M, Thomas D, et al. An integrated safety profile analysis of belatacept in kidney transplant recipients. *Transplantation*. 2010;90(12):1521-7.
- Saunders RN, Metcalfe MS, and Nicholson ML. Rapamycin in transplantation: a review of the evidence. *Kidney Int.* 2001;59(1):3-16.
- Matas AJ, Smith JM, Skeans MA, Lamb KE, Gustafson SK, Samana CJ, Stewart DE, Snyder JJ, Israni AK, and Kasiske BL. Optn/Srtr 2011 Annual Data Report: Kidney. *Am J Transplant*. 2013;13(11-46.
- 9. Kaplan B, Qazi Y, and Wellen JR. Strategies for the management of adverse events associated with mTOR inhibitors. *Transplant Rev (Orlando)*. 2014;28(3):126-33.

- Ekberg H, Tedesco-Silva H, Demirbas A, Vitko S, Nashan B, Gurkan A, Margreiter R, Hugo C, Grinyo JM, Frei U, et al. Reduced exposure to calcineurin inhibitors in renal transplantation. *N Engl J Med.* 2007;357(25):2562-75.
- Ozaki KS, Camara NO, Galante NZ, Camargo LF, and Pacheco-Silva A. Decreased Cytomegalovirus infection after antilymphocyte therapy in sirolimus-treated renal transplant patients. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2005;5(1):103-6.
- 12. Haririan A, Morawski K, West MS, El-Amm JM, Doshi MD, Cincotta E, Alangaden GJ, Chandrasekar P, and Gruber SA. Sirolimus exposure during the early post-transplant period reduces the risk of CMV infection relative to tacrolimus in renal allograft recipients. *Clin Transplant*. 2007;21(4):466-71.
- Demopoulos L, Polinsky M, Steele G, Mines D, Blum M, Caulfield M, Adamkovic A, Liu Q, Harler MB, Hahn C, et al. Reduced risk of cytomegalovirus infection in solid organ transplant recipients treated with sirolimus: a pooled analysis of clinical trials. *Transplant Proc.* 2008;40(5):1407-10.
- Samonakis DN, Cholongitas E, Triantos CK, Griffiths P, Dhillon AP, Thalheimer U, Patch DW, and Burroughs AK. Sustained, spontaneous disappearance of serum HCV-RNA under immunosuppression after liver transplantation for HCV cirrhosis. *J Hepatol.* 2005;43(6):1091-3.
- 15. Benavides CA, Pollard VB, Mauiyyedi S, Podder H, Knight R, and Kahan BD. BK virusassociated nephropathy in sirolimus-treated renal transplant patients: incidence, course, and clinical outcomes. *Transplantation*. 2007;84(1):83-8.
- Nichols LA, Adang LA, and Kedes DH. Rapamycin blocks production of KSHV/HHV8: insights into the anti-tumor activity of an immunosuppressant drug. *PLoS One*. 2011;6(1):e14535.

- Johnson RA, Wang X, Ma XL, Huong SM, and Huang ES. Human cytomegalovirus upregulates the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-K) pathway: inhibition of PI3-K activity inhibits viral replication and virus-induced signaling. *J Virol.* 2001;75(13):6022-32.
- Araki K, Turner AP, Shaffer VO, Gangappa S, Keller SA, Bachmann MF, Larsen CP, and Ahmed R. mTOR regulates memory CD8 T-cell differentiation. *Nature*. 2009;460(7251):108-12.
- Ferrer IR, Wagener ME, Robertson JM, Turner AP, Araki K, Ahmed R, Kirk AD, Larsen CP, and Ford ML. Cutting edge: Rapamycin augments pathogen-specific but not graftreactive CD8+ T cell responses. *J Immunol.* 2010;185(4):2004-8.
- 20. Barton E, Mandal P, and Speck SH. Pathogenesis and host control of gammaherpesviruses: lessons from the mouse. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 2011;29(351-97.
- Weck KE, Barkon ML, Yoo LI, Speck SH, and Virgin HI. Mature B cells are required for acute splenic infection, but not for establishment of latency, by murine gammaherpesvirus 68. *J Virol.* 1996;70(10):6775-80.
- Weck KE, Kim SS, Virgin HI, and Speck SH. B cells regulate murine gammaherpesvirus
 68 latency. *J Virol.* 1999;73(6):4651-61.
- Gredmark-Russ S, Cheung EJ, Isaacson MK, Ploegh HL, and Grotenbreg GM. The CD8 T-cell response against murine gammaherpesvirus 68 is directed toward a broad repertoire of epitopes from both early and late antigens. *J Virol.* 2008;82(24):12205-12.
- 24. Joshi NS, Cui W, Chandele A, Lee HK, Urso DR, Hagman J, Gapin L, and Kaech SM. Inflammation directs memory precursor and short-lived effector CD8(+) T cell fates via the graded expression of T-bet transcription factor. *Immunity*. 2007;27(2):281-95.
- 25. Kaech SM, Tan JT, Wherry EJ, Konieczny BT, Surh CD, and Ahmed R. Selective expression of the interleukin 7 receptor identifies effector CD8 T cells that give rise to long-lived memory cells. *Nat Immunol.* 2003;4(12):1191-8.

- 26. Betts MR, Nason MC, West SM, De Rosa SC, Migueles SA, Abraham J, Lederman MM, Benito JM, Goepfert PA, Connors M, et al. HIV nonprogressors preferentially maintain highly functional HIV-specific CD8+ T cells. *Blood.* 2006;107(12):4781-9.
- 27. Seder RA, Darrah PA, and Roederer M. T-cell quality in memory and protection: implications for vaccine design. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2008;8(4):247-58.
- 28. Darrah PA, Patel DT, De Luca PM, Lindsay RW, Davey DF, Flynn BJ, Hoff ST, Andersen P, Reed SG, Morris SL, et al. Multifunctional TH1 cells define a correlate of vaccine-mediated protection against Leishmania major. *Nat Med.* 2007;13(7):843-50.
- 29. Wherry EJ, Blattman JN, Murali-Krishna K, van der Most R, and Ahmed R. Viral persistence alters CD8 T-cell immunodominance and tissue distribution and results in distinct stages of functional impairment. *J Virol.* 2003;77(8):4911-27.
- Pamer EG. Immune responses to Listeria monocytogenes. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(10):812-23.
- Lanzavecchia A, and Sallusto F. Understanding the generation and function of memory T cell subsets. *Curr Opin Immunol.* 2005;17(3):326-32.
- 32. Floyd TL, Koehn BH, Kitchens WH, Robertson JM, Cheeseman JA, Stempora L, Larsen CP, and Ford ML. Limiting the amount and duration of antigen exposure during priming increases memory T cell requirement for costimulation during recall. *J Immunol.* 2011;186(4):2033-41.
- Noel PJ, Boise LH, Green JM, and Thompson CB. CD28 costimulation prevents cell death during primary T cell activation. *J Immunol.* 1996;157(2):636-42.
- 34. Gimmi CD, Freeman GJ, Gribben JG, Gray G, and Nadler LM. Human T-cell clonal anergy is induced by antigen presentation in the absence of B7 costimulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1993;90(14):6586-90.

- Lucas PJ, Negishi I, Nakayama K, Fields LE, and Loh DY. Naive CD28-deficient T cells can initiate but not sustain an in vitro antigen-specific immune response. *J Immunol*. 1995;154(11):5757-68.
- 36. Sperling AI, Auger JA, Ehst BD, Rulifson IC, Thompson CB, and Bluestone JA. CD28/B7 interactions deliver a unique signal to naive T cells that regulates cell survival but not early proliferation. *J Immunol.* 1996;157(9):3909-17.
- Araki K, Youngblood B, and Ahmed R. The role of mTOR in memory CD8 T-cell differentiation. *Immunol Rev.* 2010;235(1):234-43.
- Mazzucchelli R, and Durum SK. Interleukin-7 receptor expression: intelligent design. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7(2):144-54.
- 39. Huster KM, Busch V, Schiemann M, Linkemann K, Kerksiek KM, Wagner H, and Busch DH. Selective expression of IL-7 receptor on memory T cells identifies early CD40L-dependent generation of distinct CD8+ memory T cell subsets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2004;101(15):5610-5.
- 40. Green M, and Michaels MG. Epstein-Barr virus infection and posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder. *Am J Transplant*. 2013;13 Suppl 3(41-54; quiz
- 41. Green M. Management of Epstein-Barr virus-induced post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease in recipients of solid organ transplantation. *Am J Transplant*. 2001;1(2):103-8.
- 42. Newell EW, Sigal N, Bendall SC, Nolan GP, and Davis MM. Cytometry by time-offlight shows combinatorial cytokine expression and virus-specific cell niches within a continuum of CD8+ T cell phenotypes. *Immunity*. 2012;36(1):142-52.
- Vincenti F, Charpentier B, Vanrenterghem Y, Rostaing L, Bresnahan B, Darji P, Massari P, Mondragon-Ramirez GA, Agarwal M, Di Russo G, et al. A phase III study of belatacept-based immunosuppression regimens versus cyclosporine in renal transplant recipients (BENEFIT study). *Am J Transplant*. 2010;10(3):535-46.

<u>Chapter 5</u>

Discussion

Figure 5.2.	The	Timing	of	Rapamycin	Treatment	Dictates	its	Effect	on	Pathogen-	and	Graft-
Spe	cific .	Memory	CD	08^+ T Cell R	esponses		•••••					170

<u>Balancing immunomodulatory therapy to specifically target graft-reactive responses and</u> preserve protective immunity

Patient outcomes have improved dramatically since the early days of transplantation, due to the introduction of various immunosuppressive agents and the refinement of treatment regimens to optimize graft acceptance and limit inflammation. Our studies aimed to better understand the mechanisms by which adaptive immune responses to an allograft could be specifically targeted with low toxicity therapy, such as monoclonal antibodies targeting T cell costimulation, thus promoting graft tolerance while sparing protective immunity against pathogens. In addition, we also sought to identify common scenarios in which specific pathogens present serious challenges to immunosuppressed individuals, and investigate therapeutic interventions to improve infectious outcomes without a concomitant increase in alloreactivity. This balancing act represents the great dilemma facing physicians in managing patients post-transplant, and through careful mechanistic work, we hope to have shed light on two important pathways targeted by immunotherapeutic agents following transplantation.

CD40-CD154 costimulation blockade: specifically targeting allograft responses

Fc receptors and anti-CD154 therapy

Since the mid-1990s, the CD40-CD154 pathway has been recognized to play a critical role in the generation of alloreactive T and B cell responses, due to its involvement in a number of highly immunogenic processes (Figure 1). Due to the potential involvement of $Fc\gamma$ RIIA expressed on human platelets in the etiology of thromboembolisms experienced by patients receiving anti-CD154 therapy in clinical trials (Figure 1E), we compared Fc-silent anti-CD154 domain antibody and showed that they were as effective as Fc-intact antibodies at prolonging graft survival (1). Indeed, since our study was published, several other groups have reported that Fc-modified antibodies directed at CD154 show no sign of inducing thromboembolism and are

efficacious in models of transplantation and autoimmunity. A similar version of the CD154 domain antibody fused to a modified Fc region has shown remarkable potency in prolonging kidney survival in rhesus macaques (A. Adams, personal communication). In addition, a pegylated Fab fragment against CD154, CDP7657, did not activate human platelets in vitro and showed a similarly low rate of pulmonary thromboembolism comparable to saline-treated controls in rhesus monkeys, as opposed to higher rates seen in animals treated with Fc-intact anti-CD154 (2), and a follow up phase I trial in humans showed no signs of treatment-related thromboembolism (3).

While these studies provided evidence that clinical translation of Fc-silent anti-CD154 therapeutics is feasible, these results are at odds with previously published data that showed a lack of efficacy of anti-CD154 when used in animals deficient for the Fc receptor common γ chain (4). The authors of this study used this finding to support their hypothesis that Fc-mediated depletion of CD154-expressing cells was necessary for therapeutic efficacy of anti-CD154. However, given our results that Fc-silent therapy was equally efficacious, we sought to explore alternative hypotheses for the findings in Fc γ chain deficient animals. Interestingly, unpublished observations from our lab have suggested that Fcerg1^{-/-} mice make a more robust CD8⁺ T cell response following a fully allogeneic BALB/c skin graft, demonstrating enhanced proinflammatory cytokine production and accelerated graft rejection. This phenomenon occurs even in the presence of immunosuppression, suggesting that some intrinsic property of the T cell response in these animals, rather than a lack of Fc-mediated depletion, is responsible for the failure of anti-CD154 therapy observed in the Monk study (4). In addition, other investigators have found that following infection with the chronic virus LCMV-clone 13, virus-specific CD8⁺ T cells expand more in Fcerg1^{-/-} mice than in WT mice (G. Punkosdy, R. Ahmed, personal communication). Taken together, these results implicate these animals have enhanced T cell responses to multiple stimuli, and do not support the conclusion that the failure of tolerance in

Fcerg1^{-/-} mice treated with anti-CD154 was due to a specific requirement for Fc-mediated depletion of alloreactive cells.

One potential explanation for the aberrant immune responses seen in these animals is the possibility that the Fc receptor γ chain could negatively regulate CD8⁺ T cell responses. This molecule has been shown to be able to compete with TCR zeta chain for binding to the alpha and beta subunits of the TCR (5-7). These novel TCR complexes are functionally active and able to induce cytotoxic activity, but not IL-2 production; therefore, the association of the Fc γ chain with the TCR may be able to lower the threshold for T cell activation. An alternative explanation may be differences in their intrinsic genetic background. These knockout mice were generated in the 129 embryonic stem cells, and then backcrossed to the C57BL/6 strain (8). However, there are genetic remnants in close proximity to the *Fcerg1* gene that are still of 129 origin and may affect the expression of closely related molecules. Therefore, while knockout mice are a valuable tool to investigate the role of certain genes and gene products in immune responses, epigenetic effects resulting from gene interactions from the original background strain may cloud the interpretation of any findings. Currently, these Fc γ chain knockouts are being generated on a B6 background, in order to circumvent these issues (G. Punkosdy, personal communication). Therefore, careful examination of the genetic makeup of targeted knockouts, as well as additional studies performed in strain-matched knockouts, must be done in order to definitively implicate certain pathways in immune processes. In addition, novel technologies, including CRISPR-Cas9 methods, may be an alternative to generate better gene knockout models. This method uses an RNA template to introduce double-stranded breaks in DNA at selected locations in the genome, which are then repaired by error-prone polymerases, leading to functional inactivation of the target gene (9). This would provide a faster and more reliable method of targeting genes in vivo compared to the currently used homologous recombination methods in embryonic stem cells, and could avoid the potential gene interaction issues described above.

The Role of Fc Receptors in Therapeutic Antibody Efficacy

Monoclonal antibody therapy, particularly targeting T cell costimulatory molecules, has shown great promise in the modulation of alloreactive T cell responses. However, potentially harmful interactions of Fc receptors with therapeutic antibodies, including cytokine storm and thromboembolism (10-12), have prompted the development of next-generation costimulation blockade, which uses Fc-devoid reagents to avoid these complications (13, 14). However, while some Fc interactions can lead to harmful adverse events, other Fc-mediated effects may in fact be beneficial in terms of limiting alloreactive responses. While we have confirmed that Fc interactions were not required for the efficacy of anti-CD154 therapy in our models, it remains a possibility that in certain scenarios, Fc-mediated depletion or Fc-aided receptor crosslinking may actually enhance the efficacy of some therapies. For example, in a model of tumor immunotherapy, anti-CTLA4 antibody efficacy relied on the depletion of intra-graft regulatory T cells by $Fc\gamma RIV$ -expressing macrophages (15). While this mechanism is certainly of use in cancer immunotherapy, where the aim is to target and kill certain cell types, the interaction of antibodies with the inhibitory Fc receptor, FcyRIIB, is of much greater interest to us as transplant immunologists. Our studies presented in Chapter 3 have shown that T cells express this inhibitory receptor, and that it may be able to functionally inhibit memory $CD8^+$ T cell responses. Interestingly, expression of FcyRIIB on antigen-specific memory CD8⁺ T cell populations correlated with increasing resistance to costimulation and integrin blockade therapy. In this scenario, all three antibodies contained active Fc regions, albeit of a different species (rat, human, and hamster). While we do not know the affinity of these antibodies for murine Fc receptors, it is possible that some interaction of these isotypes may contribute to the inhibition of graft-specific recall responses. Therefore, treatment with Fc-intact antibodies, or those modified to enhance affinity for FcyRIIB, may in fact provide added immunomodulation in certain transplant settings.

Finally, while the contribution of the interaction of monoclonal antibodies with Fc receptors to the control of alloimmunity remains somewhat unclear, treatment with polyclonal

antibody preparations, also known as intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg), is a well-accepted therapy that has been used for years as an immunomodulatory strategy, and recent work has helped clarify its mechanism of action. Since IVIg therapy is ineffective in FcyRIIB-deficient animals (16), it was initially hypothesized that the immunoglobulin may have been interacting directly with this inhibitory receptor. In contrast, later studies showed that the interaction of sialylated Fc regions with a type II Fc receptor, known as DC-SIGN in humans and SIGN-R1 in mice, is responsible for mediating the anti-inflammatory effects of IVIg treatment by inducing the production of Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-33 (17-19). However, these studies still show a definitive role for FcyRIIB, as the upregulation of this receptor on macrophages is required for the anti-inflammatory effect (19). The role of B cells in the anti-inflammatory effects of IVIg is less clear, and some reports have suggested that these cells may in fact be dispensable for the salutary effects of treatment. In one model of murine autoimmune disease, the deletion of SHIP, SHP-1 or Btk, all molecules known to be involved in the downstream signaling pathways of FcyRIIB in B cells, had no effect on the IVIg-induced amelioration of disease (20). However, more recent work has suggested that CD23, a type II Fc receptor expressed by B cells, may be preferentially ligated by sialylated Fc portions, which are known to be the active agent present in IVIg preparations responsible for the beneficial effects of treatment (21). Human studies have indicated that patients with chronic inflammatory demyelination polyneuropathy had lower expression of FcyRIIB on B cells, but that clinically effective IVIg treatment led to an increase of this receptor on these cell populations (22). This may be partially responsible for the beneficial effects of IVIg by raising the threshold for B cell activation, but additional work remains to be done to elucidate the different pathways responsible.

The effect of Th2 cytokines on T cell-expressed FcγRIIB has yet to be determined, but could potentially play a role in the mechanism of action of IVIg. In terms of the feasibility of using this approach to treat transplant patients, a clinical trial in 2001 showed that IVIg treatment was as effective as the anti-CD3 antibody OKT3 in treating steroid-resistant rejection (23). Since

physicians are already very familiar with this treatment, and it is well tolerated by patients, this may be an effective tool in preventing transplant rejection and limiting treatment-related morbidity associated with steroids and calcineurin inhibitors. However, one drawback of IVIg therapy is the cost of harvesting immunoglobulin from human donors. A more cost-effective solution may be to identify the active receptors responsible for the beneficial effects of this therapy, possible including T cell-expressed FcγRIIB, and generate recombinant molecules able to bind these targets. A more specific alternative to targeting FcγRIIB on T cells may be the use of dual affinity retargeting molecules (DARTs), which are dual-specificity antibodies able to bind simultaneously to two distinct targets (24). Further work is necessary to determine the mechanism of action of IVIg in preventing alloreactive responses, as well as the contribution of T cell-expressed FcγRIIB to treatment efficacy in this model.

Anti-CD40 or Anti-CD154: Which molecule to target?

While most strategies to block CD40-CD154 interactions have targeted the induciblyexpressed CD154 ligand, many groups, including our own, have also attempted to instead target the CD40 molecule expressed on APC. While CD154 is an attractive target, due to the fact that it does not have any intrinsic signaling capability (25), and thus the risk of crosslinking and activating a costimulatory pathway is lower, results in several anti-CD40 preclinical models have been encouraging, and clinical trials are currently underway to test the efficacy of this strategy in humans.

One of the first anti-CD40 clones tested in non-human primate models of transplantation was Chi220, a chimeric mouse anti-human CD40 antibody. In a preliminary study, transient therapy with Chi220 alone was able to prolong renal allograft survival, and prevented the production of donor-specific antibodies when given in combination with CTLA4-Ig (26). However, prolonged Chi220 exposure impaired primary anti-viral responses to CMV infection, and this treatment also led to the peripheral depletion of CD20⁺ B cells (26). Therefore, it was unclear if the blockade of CD40-CD154 interactions or simply the general depletion of APC was more important for the mechanism of action of Chi220, or if both actions contributed to the overall efficacy. Later studies of Chi220 showed that this antibody was partially agonistic, and that a short course of Chi220 combined with belatacept significantly prolonged islet allograft survival without impacting pre-existing anti-viral immunity (27). Chi220 was also effective in promoting the engraftment of neonatal porcine islets in non-human primates, despite the high barrier posed by the potent xenogeneic response in recipient animals (28).

A number of other anti-CD40 antibodies have been developed since the introduction of Chi220. 3A8 is another partially agonistic antibody, but does not deplete B cells in vivo. Despite its inability to block the binding of soluble CD154 to CD40 and the fact that it induces CD80 and CD86 expression on APC in vitro, treatment with 3A8 was able to significantly prolong islet allograft survival and prevent alloantibody formation in rhesus macaques (29, 30). 2C10, a fully human antibody to CD40, binds to a distinct epitope of the CD40 molecule from 3A8 and Chi220, does not activate or deplete B cells, and prolonged allogeneic islet survival in a non-human primate model (31). However, the anti-CD40 therapeutic that is furthest along in the clinical translation pipeline is 4D11, also known as ASKP1240. Initially described in both renal and islet transplantation models in cynomolgus monkeys, 4D11 showed minimal efficacy when given as induction therapy, and also caused significant depletion of peripheral B cells. However, maintenance treatment led to long-term kidney allograft survival, as well as islet allograft survival as a monotherapy, and also prevented donor-specific antibody formation (32-34). These results led to the initiation of clinical trials, and phase I studies in humans indicated that this therapy was well-tolerated and effective at achieving CD40 receptor occupancy at doses similar to those used in non-human primates, suggesting that this is a promising avenue for use in human autoimmune disease and transplantation (35).

However, while abrogation of CD40-CD154 interactions have been shown to be remarkably effective an inhibit alloimmune responses, several studies have investigated the potential of CD154 to interact to molecules distinct from its classical interaction with CD40. One group in particular has demonstrated the ability of CD154 to bind Mac-1 (CD11b) on monocytes and macrophages (36, 37). These investigates showed that the expression of CD154 on activated endothelium allowed for the recruitment and migration of Mac-1-expressing leukocytes into atherosclerotic lesions (Figure 1F), which could be inhibited by the systemic injection of a peptide that blocked the specific binding motif used by CD154 to interact with Mac-1 (36). These results highlight the myriad roles that CD154 plays in both immune and inflammatory conditions and the potential consequences of global inhibition, as well as demonstrate the potential for the development of strategies that prevent specific CD154 interactions while preserving others. Therefore, careful consideration of the myriad interactions of CD154 and CD40, not only with each other but also any alternative binding partners, is critical for the development of safe and effective therapeutics for clinical use.

Prominent role of T cell-derived CD40 signals during alloimmunity

Another CD40-CD154 interaction that may play a role in modulating graft-reactive responses is the interaction of CD154 on activated $CD4^+$ T cells and CD40 expressed by activated $CD8^+$ T cells (Figure 1C). While some studies have suggested that this arm of CD40 signaling is dispensable for mounting effective cytotoxic responses, the contribution of this form of "T cell help" to the generation and maintenance of $CD8^+$ T cell populations remained somewhat controversial, and the potential requirement for these interactions in responses to transplant were unknown.

While resting CD8⁺ T cells do not express CD40, a percentage of CD8⁺ T cells upregulate this molecule following activation (38, 39). An initial report from Bourgeois et al showed that in an adoptive transfer model in which CD8⁺ T cells were responding to the male histocompatibility antigen H-Y, CD40 was not required on CD8⁺ T cells for initial response but was necessary to generate populations capable of secondary recall responses (40). Conversely, other studies indicated that CD40 expressed by CD8⁺ T cells is not required for optimal cytotoxic responses or memory formation in response to either a bacterial or viral infection (41, 42). However, a critical difference in these studies is the nature of the immune challenge presented. CD40 on CD8⁺ T cells appeared to be required for an effective response to the tissue antigen H-Y, whereas in infectious models, microbial components may induce potent inflammatory responses that bypass the requirement for CD40-CD154 signaling.

Our lab recently investigated the role of this interaction in the generation of graft-reactive CD8⁺ T cell responses by again taking advantage of the transgenic ovalbumin system (39). By using defined populations of alloantigen-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, this system allowed for the specific genetic ablation of CD40 on a number of different cell subsets in isolation, including alloreactive CD8⁺ T cells, donor-derived antigen-presenting cells, or recipient-derived APC. CD40 deficiency on only CD8⁺ T cells was sufficient to prolong graft rejection and significantly reduce the expansion and cytokine production of this population. However, the origin of the CD154 signals that help generate these CD8⁺ responses is still unclear, as they may be provided by CD4⁺ or APC populations. Nonetheless, we confirmed that CD8⁺ T cell-intrinsic CD40 signals are not required in an infectious model, as CD40^{-/-} OT-1 T cells responded as well as WT OT-Is to a bacterial challenge (39). Therefore, it would appear that the requirement for CD40 signaling on CD8⁺ T cells depends on the inflammatory microenvironment during T cell priming. While the source of CD154 signals cannot be determined from these studies, the ovalbumin model may provide a template for future studies to tease apart the exact interactions required for these effects.

These studies highlight the unique nature of the CD40 system and why we believe that it is such an attractive pathway to target in the setting of transplantation. Specifically, the fact that CD40-CD154 interactions are required for alloreactive responses, but dispensable in some cases for protective immunity, makes therapeutic blockade of this pathway it a perfect candidate for use in the clinical arena. However, these treatments are still in the early stages of clinical development, and for patients currently receiving transplants, there are few true alternatives to calcineurin inhibitor-based therapy. While belatacept has shown remarkable promise as a lesstoxic means of preventing acute rejection, there are several notable drawbacks to this therapy. In addition to the increased rates of acute rejection seen in patients treated with this drug, there are also specific infectious complications associated with belatacept treatment, namely that primary infection with Epstein-Barr Virus increases the risk of developing post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD). Therefore, the second aim of our work was to investigate potential treatments that could mitigate the risk of these complications and allow patients to benefit from the reduced toxicity profile of costimulation blockade.

Promoting protective immune responses post-transplantation with mTOR inhibitors

The divergent effect of rapamycin on graft- and pathogen-specific responses

Rapamycin is an immunosuppressive drug that has been used for decades in transplantation to prevent T cell-mediated alloreactivity, but surprisingly, patients treated with this therapy experienced fewer infectious complications (43-45). While studies have indicated that rapamycin can indeed inhibit viral replication in a number of models (46-48), additional mechanistic work done by Araki and colleagues discovered that treatment with low doses of rapamycin can also paradoxically enhanced cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cell responses to viral infection (49). These findings were also extended when our group demonstrated that rapamycin is able to enhance pathogen specific, but not graft-specific, CD8⁺ responses even when the antigen and responding T cell population were identical (50). However, the precise mechanisms that underlie the dichotomous effect of rapamycin are still somewhat unclear. Initially, it was hypothesized that perhaps the presence of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) during viral or bacterial infection may have influenced the ability of rapamycin to enhance pathogen-specific but not graft-specific responses. However, when grafted mice were simultaneously infected with a non-specific bacterial infection, rapamycin did not enhance the expansion of graft-specific CD8⁺ T cells (50), suggesting that TLR ligation or other pathogen-associated signaling alone was

insufficient to promote rapamycin-induced augmentation of cytotoxic responses. Several alternate mechanisms may be responsible for the differences seen in pathogen and graft specific T cell responses. First, while the most of the infectious models used in these studies, such as the bacteria Listeria monocytogenes, are rapidly cleared by the immune system, graft-associated antigen may persist in immune microenvironments for longer times and at difference levels. Several studies have shown that duration of antigen exposure (51), as well as the amount of antigen (52), can dramatically affect the outcome of a T cell response, and thus this may play some role in the dichotomous effect of rapamycin. In addition, while the type of inflammation and the ligation of TLR have been shown to not be fully responsible for rapamycin-induced enhancement of CD8⁺ T cell responses (50), the duration of inflammation may play a significant role. T cell differentiation and memory formation are intrinsically linked to mTOR signaling (53), and the signal strength, determined by a combination of TCR affinity, costimulation, and proinflammatory cytokines, that is detected by T cell populations dictates the overall outcome of a T cell response (54). In addition to systemic inflammation, potential differences in the type of antigen presenting cell may alter the effect of rapamycin. While an intracellular bacteria such as Listeria monocytogenes prime T cells mainly through professional antigen presenting cells such as macrophages and DCs (55, 56), graft-specific immune responses may be initiated by cells from the graft itself and presenting directly to alloreactive T cells in the recipient (57), and these graft-migrating cells may not be of the same subset or activation status as those participating in priming during an infection. Subtle differences in either the subset of antigen presenting cells, the requirements for $CD4^+$ T cell help, or the timing of presentation may all contribute to the differences seen in the effect of rapamycin on $CD8^+$ T cells. Finally, recent work has begun to uncover a wealth of data surrounding T cell metabolism and the control that it exerts on T cell responses and memory fate. Specifically, we now know that naïve T cells utilize primarily oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) to generate energy, but, upon activation, switch to a more glycolytic phenotype, and that in order to form stable memory, a metabolic switch back to the more efficient OXPHOS

pathway is required (58). In addition, mTOR, the target of rapamycin treatment, is a key regulator of metabolism in T cells, and signaling from this complex controls the uptake and processing of glucose, lipids, and amino acids (53). In vitro studies have recently shown that rapamycin treatment in vitro is able to enhance both OXPHOS and glycolysis in activated T cells, and when transferred to infected mice, rapamycin-treated cells were able to form much larger populations of long-lived memory cells (59). Furthermore, autophagy, a metabolic process by which cells break down cytosolic materials to maintain homeostasis, has recently been shown to be required for CD8⁺ T cell memory formation following an infection (60). The authors of this study suggested that since mTOR signaling is known to directly downregulate autophagy, the rapamycin-induced augmentation of CD8⁺ T cell memory formation following an infection may have been due in part to increased rates of autophagy. Since metabolism is a key determinant of T cell fate, further studies should attempt to determine any potential differences in the baseline metabolic changes during T cell activation following a pathogen infection or a graft, as this may have important implications effect of mTOR inhibition on T cells responding to these types of immunological stimulus.

Heterologous immunity and the clinical use of rapamycin

While pathogen-specific T cell responses provide important protection against infection, they also may be capable of crossreacting to foreign allogeneic antigens, in a process known as heterologous immunity (61). In fact, one study showed that as many as 45% of virus-specific human T cell clones were able to crossreact to panel of human leukocyte antigens (HLA) (62). Therefore, when one considers the clinical use of rapamycin to enhance pathogen-specific immunity in the context of transplantation, the augmentation of pathogen-specific T cell responses that may then crossreact with a graft is a potential concern. Our group performed an experiment where T cell memory was generated by infection with LM-OVA, and then at a memory timepoint, these cells were restimulated with either a graft or a second infection, and animals were treated with rapamycin. Importantly, despite the initial infectious stimulus, only cells that were responding to the secondary infection were augmented by mTOR inhibition (Figure 2). These data suggest that the effect of rapamycin on a particular primary or secondary T cell response depends on the immune environment at the time of recall, rather than the initial stimulus. In addition, our studies in Chapter 4 showed that simultaneous infection with gHV during a fully allogeneic skin graft did not result in rapamycin-induced augmentation of graft reactivity when animals were treated with a combination of rapamycin and CTLA4-Ig. Therefore, these results indicate that the use of rapamycin as an adjuvant therapy to promote pathogen-specific immunity during costimulation blockade treatment can be a safe and effective way to limit infection-associated morbidity in transplant recipients.

Conclusions and Perspectives

While the past few decades have seen dramatic improvement in post-transplant immunosuppressive therapies, several barriers remain that limit the long term health and survival of grafted organs and transplant recipients. Costimulation blockade with monoclonal antibodies is a promising therapeutic modality, but infectious and thromboembolic complications have prevented the widespread adoption of these treatments. In this thesis, we have demonstrated the efficacy of a novel Fc-silent anti-CD154 costimulation blockade therapy, paving the way for clinical development of a safer and equally efficacious treatment. In addition, our data suggesting that rapamycin is able to enhance virus-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses in the context of CD28 costimulation blockade addresses a serious clinical dilemma of EBV-associated lymphoma during belatacept treatment. These findings will hopefully provide a framework for future studies to improve post-transplant immunomodulation, with the goal of providing patients with effective, low-toxicity therapies that improves the quality of life of this population.



Figure 5.1. Complexities of CD40-CD154 Interactions in the Immune System

Figure 5.1. Complexities of CD40-CD154 Interactions in the Immune System

The TNF-family member CD40 and its ligand, CD40L (CD154), are expressed by a wide variety of cell types and the signaling induced by this binding leads to a range of potent immunostimulatory events. (A) Activated CD4⁺ T cells upregulate CD154, which binds to the CD40 expressed by dendritic cells. This leads to DC activation, which includes the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-12. (B) CD4⁺ T cells and B cells undergo linked recognition, wherein T cells recognize their cognate peptide:MHC Class II complex expressed by B cells. T cells then provide costimulatory signals through B cell-expressed CD40, and this "T cell help" is critical for generating effective humoral responses. (C) CD4⁺ T cell-expressed CD154 can also provide direct help to CD8⁺ T cells through CD40, which has been suggested to play a role in the formation of CD8⁺ T cell memory. (D) CD154 is also inducibly expressed on DC following toll-like receptor ligation, and the interaction with CD40 expressed on CD8⁺ T cells can help generate potent pathogen-reactive CD8⁺ T cell responses. (E) A hypothesis for anti-CD154-associated thromboembolic complications centers on the expression of the activating Fc receptor FcyRIIa on human platelets, which can be crosslinked by immune complexes of soluble CD154 and anti-CD154 antibodies, leading to further platelet activation and undesired clotting events. (F) An alternate ligand for CD154 has also been described. CD154 expressed on activated endothelial cells may induce the arrest and migration of monocytes into inflamed tissues through its interaction with Mac-1, also known as CD11b.



Figure 5.2. The Timing of Rapamycin	Treatment	Dictates	its	Effect	on	Pathogen- and
Graft-Specific CD8 ⁺ T Cell Responses						

Rechallenge Type	No Rx	Rapa
LM-OVA (Infection)	+	+++
mOVA (Graft)	+	+

В

Figure 5.2. The Timing of Rapamycin Treatment Dictates its Effect on Pathogen- and Graft-Specific Memory CD8⁺ T Cell Responses

(A) 10^4 OT-I transgenic T cells were adoptively transferred to B6 mice that were then infected with 10^5 cfu Listeria monocytogenes-OVA. At a memory timepoint 30 days post-infection, mice were rechallenged with either another LM-OVA infection or an OVA-expressing skin graft. Both groups were subdivided into mice that were then treated daily with either saline or 1.5ug rapamycin intraperitoneally. (B) At day 7 post-rechallenge, mice were sacrificed and the expansion of OVA-specific cells in the spleen was enumerated. Rapamycin treatment enhanced the recall response to LM-OVA, but not to the mOVA skin graft, despite the fact that both memory populations responding to the secondary rechallenge were generated by pathogen infection on day 0. These results indicate that the stimulus at the time of rapamycin treatment, rather than the initial memory-forming stimulus, dictates the effect of rapamycin on memory CD8⁺ T cell responses.

References

- Pinelli DF, Wagener ME, Liu D, Yamniuk A, Tamura J, Grant S, Larsen CP, Suri A, Nadler SG, and Ford ML. An Anti-CD154 Domain Antibody Prolongs Graft Survival and Induces Foxp3 iTreg in the Absence and Presence of CTLA-4 Ig. *Am J Transplant*. 2013.
- Shock A, Burkly L, Wakefield I, Peters C, Garber E, Ferrant J, Taylor FR, Su L, Hsu YM, Hutto D, et al. CDP7657, an anti-CD40L antibody lacking an Fc domain, inhibits CD40L-dependent immune responses without thrombotic complications: an in vivo study. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2015;17(234.
- Tocoian A, Buchan P, Kirby H, Soranson J, Zamacona M, Walley R, Mitchell N, Esfandiari E, Wagner F, and Oliver R. First-in-human trial of the safety, pharmacokinetics and immunogenicity of a PEGylated anti-CD40L antibody fragment (CDP7657) in healthy individuals and patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*. 2015;24(10):1045-56.
- Monk NJ, Hargreaves RE, Marsh JE, Farrar CA, Sacks SH, Millrain M, Simpson E, Dyson J, and Jurcevic S. Fc-dependent depletion of activated T cells occurs through CD40L-specific antibody rather than costimulation blockade. *Nat Med.* 2003;9(10):1275-80.
- Koyasu S, D'Adamio L, Arulanandam AR, Abraham S, Clayton LK, and Reinherz EL. T cell receptor complexes containing Fc epsilon RI gamma homodimers in lieu of CD3 zeta and CD3 eta components: a novel isoform expressed on large granular lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1992;175(1):203-9.
- Ohno H, Aoe T, Ra C, Yamamoto T, and Saito T. TCR isoform containing the Fc receptor gamma chain exhibits structural and functional differences from isoform containing CD3 zeta. *Int Immunol.* 1993;5(11):1403-11.

- Mizoguchi H, O'Shea JJ, Longo DL, Loeffler CM, McVicar DW, and Ochoa AC.
 Alterations in signal transduction molecules in T lymphocytes from tumor-bearing mice. *Science*. 1992;258(5089):1795-8.
- Takai T, Li M, Sylvestre D, Clynes R, and Ravetch JV. FcR gamma chain deletion results in pleiotrophic effector cell defects. *Cell*. 1994;76(3):519-29.
- Yang H, Wang H, and Jaenisch R. Generating genetically modified mice using CRISPR/Cas-mediated genome engineering. *Nat Protoc.* 2014;9(8):1956-68.
- Robles-Carrillo L, Meyer T, Hatfield M, Desai H, Davila M, Langer F, Amaya M, Garber E, Francis JL, Hsu YM, et al. Anti-CD40L immune complexes potently activate platelets in vitro and cause thrombosis in FCGR2A transgenic mice. *J Immunol.* 2010;185(3):1577-83.
- Law CL, and Grewal IS. Therapeutic interventions targeting CD40L (CD154) and CD40: the opportunities and challenges. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2009;647(8-36.
- Suntharalingam G, Perry MR, Ward S, Brett SJ, Castello-Cortes A, Brunner MD, and Panoskaltsis N. Cytokine storm in a phase 1 trial of the anti-CD28 monoclonal antibody TGN1412. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(10):1018-28.
- Xie JH, Yamniuk AP, Borowski V, Kuhn R, Susulic V, Rex-Rabe S, Yang X, Zhou X, Zhang Y, Gillooly K, et al. Engineering of a novel anti-CD40L domain antibody for treatment of autoimmune diseases. *J Immunol.* 2014;192(9):4083-92.
- 14. Liu D, Krummey SM, Badell IR, Wagener M, Schneeweis LA, Stetsko DK, Suchard SJ, Nadler SG, and Ford ML. 2B4 (CD244) induced by selective CD28 blockade functionally regulates allograft-specific CD8+ T cell responses. *J Exp Med*. 2014;211(2):297-311.
- Simpson TR, Li F, Montalvo-Ortiz W, Sepulveda MA, Bergerhoff K, Arce F, Roddie C, Henry JY, Yagita H, Wolchok JD, et al. Fc-dependent depletion of tumor-infiltrating

regulatory T cells co-defines the efficacy of anti-CTLA-4 therapy against melanoma. *J Exp Med.* 2013;210(9):1695-710.

- Samuelsson A, Towers TL, and Ravetch JV. Anti-inflammatory activity of IVIG mediated through the inhibitory Fc receptor. *Science*. 2001;291(5503):484-6.
- Kaneko Y, Nimmerjahn F, and Ravetch JV. Anti-inflammatory activity of immunoglobulin G resulting from Fc sialylation. *Science*. 2006;313(5787):670-3.
- Anthony RM, Wermeling F, Karlsson MC, and Ravetch JV. Identification of a receptor required for the anti-inflammatory activity of IVIG. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2008;105(50):19571-8.
- 19. Anthony RM, Kobayashi T, Wermeling F, and Ravetch JV. Intravenous gammaglobulin suppresses inflammation through a novel T(H)2 pathway. *Nature*. 2011;475(7354):110-3.
- Crow AR, Song S, Freedman J, Helgason CD, Humphries RK, Siminovitch KA, and Lazarus AH. IVIg-mediated amelioration of murine ITP via FcgammaRIIB is independent of SHIP1, SHP-1, and Btk activity. *Blood.* 2003;102(2):558-60.
- Pincetic A, Bournazos S, DiLillo DJ, Maamary J, Wang TT, Dahan R, Fiebiger BM, and Ravetch JV. Type I and type II Fc receptors regulate innate and adaptive immunity. *Nat Immunol.* 2014;15(8):707-16.
- 22. Tackenberg B, Jelcic I, Baerenwaldt A, Oertel WH, Sommer N, Nimmerjahn F, and Lunemann JD. Impaired inhibitory Fcgamma receptor IIB expression on B cells in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2009;106(12):4788-92.
- 23. Casadei DH, del CRM, Opelz G, Golberg JC, Argento JA, Greco G, Guardia OE, Haas E, and Raimondi EH. A randomized and prospective study comparing treatment with high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin with monoclonal antibodies for rescue of kidney grafts with steroid-resistant rejection. *Transplantation*. 2001;71(1):53-8.

- 24. Moore PA, Zhang W, Rainey GJ, Burke S, Li H, Huang L, Gorlatov S, Veri MC, Aggarwal S, Yang Y, et al. Application of dual affinity retargeting molecules to achieve optimal redirected T-cell killing of B-cell lymphoma. *Blood.* 2011;117(17):4542-51.
- 25. An HJ, Kim YJ, Song DH, Park BS, Kim HM, Lee JD, Paik SG, Lee JO, and Lee H. Crystallographic and mutational analysis of the CD40-CD154 complex and its implications for receptor activation. *J Biol Chem.* 2011;286(13):11226-35.
- Pearson TC, Trambley J, Odom K, Anderson DC, Cowan S, Bray R, Lin A, Hollenbaugh D, Aruffo A, Siadak AW, et al. Anti-CD40 therapy extends renal allograft survival in rhesus macaques. *Transplantation*. 2002;74(7):933-40.
- Adams AB, Shirasugi N, Jones TR, Durham MM, Strobert EA, Cowan S, Rees P,
 Hendrix R, Price K, Kenyon NS, et al. Development of a chimeric anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody that synergizes with LEA29Y to prolong islet allograft survival. *J Immunol.* 2005;174(1):542-50.
- Thompson P, Cardona K, Russell M, Badell IR, Shaffer V, Korbutt G, Rayat GR, Cano J, Song M, Jiang W, et al. CD40-specific costimulation blockade enhances neonatal porcine islet survival in nonhuman primates. *Am J Transplant*. 2011;11(5):947-57.
- Badell IR, Thompson PW, Turner AP, Russell MC, Avila JG, Cano JA, Robertson JM, Leopardi FV, Strobert EA, Iwakoshi NN, et al. Nondepleting anti-CD40-based therapy prolongs allograft survival in nonhuman primates. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(1):126-35.
- Badell IR, Russell MC, Cardona K, Shaffer VO, Turner AP, Avila JG, Cano JA, Leopardi FV, Song M, Strobert EA, et al. CTLA4Ig prevents alloantibody formation following nonhuman primate islet transplantation using the CD40-specific antibody 3A8. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(7):1918-23.
- Lowe M, Badell IR, Thompson P, Martin B, Leopardi F, Strobert E, Price AA,
 Abdulkerim HS, Wang R, Iwakoshi NN, et al. A novel monoclonal antibody to CD40
 prolongs islet allograft survival. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(8):2079-87.

- 32. Watanabe M, Yamashita K, Suzuki T, Kamachi H, Kuraya D, Koshizuka Y, Ogura M, Yoshida T, Aoyagi T, Fukumori D, et al. ASKP1240, a fully human anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody, prolongs pancreatic islet allograft survival in nonhuman primates. *Am J Transplant*. 2013;13(8):1976-88.
- 33. Aoyagi T, Yamashita K, Suzuki T, Uno M, Goto R, Taniguchi M, Shimamura T, Takahashi N, Miura T, Okimura K, et al. A human anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody, 4D11, for kidney transplantation in cynomolgus monkeys: induction and maintenance therapy. *Am J Transplant*. 2009;9(8):1732-41.
- Okimura K, Maeta K, Kobayashi N, Goto M, Kano N, Ishihara T, Ishikawa T, Tsumura H, Ueno A, Miyao Y, et al. Characterization of ASKP1240, a Fully Human Antibody Targeting Human CD40 With Potent Immunosuppressive Effects. *Am J Transplant*. 2014;14(6):1290-9.
- Goldwater R, Keirns J, Blahunka P, First R, Sawamoto T, Zhang W, Kowalski D, Kaibara A, and Holman J. A phase 1, randomized ascending single-dose study of antagonist anti-human CD40 ASKP1240 in healthy subjects. *Am J Transplant*. 2013;13(4):1040-6.
- Zirlik A, Maier C, Gerdes N, MacFarlane L, Soosairajah J, Bavendiek U, Ahrens I, Ernst S, Bassler N, Missiou A, et al. CD40 ligand mediates inflammation independently of CD40 by interaction with Mac-1. *Circulation*. 2007;115(12):1571-80.
- 37. Wolf D, Hohmann JD, Wiedemann A, Bledzka K, Blankenbach H, Marchini T, Gutte K, Zeschky K, Bassler N, Hoppe N, et al. Binding of CD40L to Mac-1's I-domain involves the EQLKKSKTL motif and mediates leukocyte recruitment and atherosclerosis--but does not affect immunity and thrombosis in mice. *Circ Res.* 2011;109(11):1269-79.
- Munroe ME, and Bishop GA. A costimulatory function for T cell CD40. *J Immunol*. 2007;178(2):671-82.

- 39. Liu D, Ferrer IR, Konomos M, and Ford ML. Inhibition of CD8+ T cell-derived CD40 signals is necessary but not sufficient for Foxp3+ induced regulatory T cell generation in vivo. *J Immunol.* 2013;191(4):1957-64.
- 40. Bourgeois C, Rocha B, and Tanchot C. A role for CD40 expression on CD8+ T cells in the generation of CD8+ T cell memory. *Science*. 2002;297(5589):2060-3.
- 41. Sun JC, and Bevan MJ. Cutting edge: long-lived CD8 memory and protective immunity in the absence of CD40 expression on CD8 T cells. *J Immunol*. 2004;172(6):3385-9.
- Lee BO, Hartson L, and Randall TD. CD40-deficient, influenza-specific CD8 memory T cells develop and function normally in a CD40-sufficient environment. *J Exp Med*. 2003;198(11):1759-64.
- Ozaki KS, Camara NO, Galante NZ, Camargo LF, and Pacheco-Silva A. Decreased Cytomegalovirus infection after antilymphocyte therapy in sirolimus-treated renal transplant patients. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2005;5(1):103-6.
- 44. Haririan A, Morawski K, West MS, El-Amm JM, Doshi MD, Cincotta E, Alangaden GJ, Chandrasekar P, and Gruber SA. Sirolimus exposure during the early post-transplant period reduces the risk of CMV infection relative to tacrolimus in renal allograft recipients. *Clin Transplant*. 2007;21(4):466-71.
- 45. Demopoulos L, Polinsky M, Steele G, Mines D, Blum M, Caulfield M, Adamkovic A, Liu Q, Harler MB, Hahn C, et al. Reduced risk of cytomegalovirus infection in solid organ transplant recipients treated with sirolimus: a pooled analysis of clinical trials. *Transplant Proc.* 2008;40(5):1407-10.
- 46. Poglitsch M, Weichhart T, Hecking M, Werzowa J, Katholnig K, Antlanger M, Krmpotic A, Jonjic S, Horl WH, Zlabinger GJ, et al. CMV late phase-induced mTOR activation is essential for efficient virus replication in polarized human macrophages. *Am J Transplant*. 2012;12(6):1458-68.

- 47. Nichols LA, Adang LA, and Kedes DH. Rapamycin blocks production of KSHV/HHV8: insights into the anti-tumor activity of an immunosuppressant drug. *PLoS One*. 2011;6(1):e14535.
- Roy J, Paquette JS, Fortin JF, and Tremblay MJ. The immunosuppressant rapamycin represses human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2002;46(11):3447-55.
- Araki K, Turner AP, Shaffer VO, Gangappa S, Keller SA, Bachmann MF, Larsen CP, and Ahmed R. mTOR regulates memory CD8 T-cell differentiation. *Nature*. 2009;460(7251):108-12.
- 50. Ferrer IR, Wagener ME, Robertson JM, Turner AP, Araki K, Ahmed R, Kirk AD, Larsen CP, and Ford ML. Cutting edge: Rapamycin augments pathogen-specific but not graft-reactive CD8+ T cell responses. *J Immunol.* 2010;185(4):2004-8.
- 51. Blair DA, Turner DL, Bose TO, Pham QM, Bouchard KR, Williams KJ, McAleer JP, Cauley LS, Vella AT, and Lefrancois L. Duration of antigen availability influences the expansion and memory differentiation of T cells. *J Immunol.* 2011;187(5):2310-21.
- 52. Kaech SM, and Ahmed R. Memory CD8+ T cell differentiation: initial antigen encounter triggers a developmental program in naive cells. *Nat Immunol.* 2001;2(5):415-22.
- Waickman AT, and Powell JD. mTOR, metabolism, and the regulation of T-cell differentiation and function. *Immunol Rev.* 2012;249(1):43-58.
- Kaech SM, and Cui W. Transcriptional control of effector and memory CD8+ T cell differentiation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2012;12(11):749-61.
- 55. Lenz LL, Butz EA, and Bevan MJ. Requirements for bone marrow-derived antigenpresenting cells in priming cytotoxic T cell responses to intracellular pathogens. *J Exp Med.* 2000;192(8):1135-42.

- 56. Jung S, Unutmaz D, Wong P, Sano G, De los Santos K, Sparwasser T, Wu S, Vuthoori S, Ko K, Zavala F, et al. In vivo depletion of CD11c+ dendritic cells abrogates priming of CD8+ T cells by exogenous cell-associated antigens. *Immunity*. 2002;17(2):211-20.
- 57. Benichou G, Yamada Y, Yun SH, Lin C, Fray M, and Tocco G. Immune recognition and rejection of allogeneic skin grafts. *Immunotherapy*. 2011;3(6):757-70.
- Pearce EL, and Pearce EJ. Metabolic pathways in immune cell activation and quiescence. *Immunity*. 2013;38(4):633-43.
- 59. He S, Kato K, Jiang J, Wahl DR, Mineishi S, Fisher EM, Murasko DM, Glick GD, and Zhang Y. Characterization of the metabolic phenotype of rapamycin-treated CD8+ T cells with augmented ability to generate long-lasting memory cells. *PLoS One*. 2011;6(5):e20107.
- Xu X, Araki K, Li S, Han JH, Ye L, Tan WG, Konieczny BT, Bruinsma MW, Martinez J, Pearce EL, et al. Autophagy is essential for effector CD8(+) T cell survival and memory formation. *Nat Immunol.* 2014;15(12):1152-61.
- 61. Adams AB, Pearson TC, and Larsen CP. Heterologous immunity: an overlooked barrier to tolerance. *Immunol Rev.* 2003;196(147-60.
- 62. Amir AL, D'Orsogna LJ, Roelen DL, van Loenen MM, Hagedoorn RS, de Boer R, van der Hoorn MA, Kester MG, Doxiadis, II, Falkenburg JH, et al. Allo-HLA reactivity of virus-specific memory T cells is common. *Blood.* 2010;115(15):3146-57.